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The Company

Impellam is a connected
group providing global
workforce and specialist

recru
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Alternative Performance Measures

Words with the symbol A are defined in the
Alternative Perfarmance Measures section of
the Annual Report on page 129.

Our 2,000 people and market-leading
brands work across a broad spectrum
of industries and job categories
throughout North America, UK &
Eurcpe and APAC.

Qur award-winning Global Managed
Services provide a diverse range of
digitally enabled, multidisciplinary
workforce solutions to organisations
around the world. We are upper
guadrant industry leaders in Managed
Service Provision and Services
Procurement, and the seventh’ largest
Managed Service Provider in the
world with over £4bn SUM (Spend
under Management).

tment solutions

Qur STEM businesses are specialists
in recruiting and engaging talent

in the key growth markets of
technology, digital, data, science,
clinical and engineering. We work
with clients across all sectors

and sizes delivering services that
span Managed Services (MSP),
Recruitment Process Outsourcing
(RPQ), Statement of Work (SOW) and
specialist recruitment.

Led by our Virtuosos, our capabilities
are underpinned by proprietary digital
technology and unigue partnerships
with market-leading software
providers, enabling us to transform
and future-proof our services.

We believe in the power of work.
Through the power of work, we build
better businesses and help people
lead more fulfilling lives.

Qur vision

Ta be the world’s most trusted
workforce and specialist
recruitment solutions group,
trusted by our people, our
customers and our investors
in equal measure.

For more information visit
Q www.impellam.com

Our mission

Through the power of work, we
build better businesses and help
people lead more fulfilling fives.

1 By revenue {2021 published numbers),
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Progress and performance

Headlines

Impellam delivered strong financial results in 2022 and our strategic progress has accelerated
as a result of the divestment of traditional businesses in our Regional Specialist Staffing and
Healthcare portfolios setting Impellam up for sustainable growth.

Full-year performance for the total Group led to record highs in revenue of £2.53bn
(2021 £2.26bn) and gross profit of £314.8m (2021: £267.0m). Adjusted operating profit® was
up 41.6% to £41.4m (2021: £29.3m).

Special dividends of £50m were declared in 2022 (110.8 pence par share) with £25m paid in

the year. A further Special dividend of £35m (77.8 pence per share) was declared in March 2023
following the completion of the sale of the Healthcare and Regional Specialist Staffing businesses.
Gaing forward this allows the Group to return to a dividend policy. As previcusly announced,

it is the Company’s intention, sugject to the Group’s trading performance, to recommence the
payment of annual dividends, starting in January 2024 of £25m. This represents a 9% forward
yieid on ciosing share price on 28 March 2023,

All onward financial information, unless otherwise stated, is based on the continuing
operations of the Group.

Group revenus was up 23.2% (20.5%") on the prior year at £1.85bn (2021: £1.58bn) and
gross profit was up 27.3% (19.8%") to £204.9m (2021: £161.0m). Adjusted operating profit®
up 38.3% (27.9%) to £27.8m (2021: £20.1m).

Strategic

o To accelerate progress with our long-term strategy to focus on high-value growth opportunities
across our UK & Europe, North America and APAC regions, in January 2023 we entered into
an agreement to sell Healthcare (Medacs Global Group in the UK, Ireland and APAC) and
Regional Specialist Staffing (Blue Arrow, Chadwick Nett, Career Teachers and Tate in the UK}
This transaction completed on 3 March 2023 for cash consideration of £85m on a debt-free,
cash, normalised working capital basis. This followed the sale in February 2022 of Corestaff in
North America to swipejobs Inc.

s Continuing cperations are our digitally-enabled Managed Services (Guidant Global,
Comensura and Flexy in the UK & Europe, North America and APAC) and our talent-rich
STEM businesses (Lorien, SRG, Carbon60 and Bartech in the UK & Europe and North America).

e We are now a more focused and agile business, well positioned for growth globally across
attractive Managed Services and STEM markets.

» Throughout the year, we continued to make key investments in people, technology and
custemar centricity.

Financial

e Exceptional performance across the Group delivered & 38.3% (27.9%") increase in adjusted
operating profite.

s Strong revenue and gross profit growth across all regions with APAC delivering a record
increase of 31.6% [30.8%") in gross profit, UK & Europe up 26.2% (25.7%7) and North America
up 28.3% (14.6%").

e Net cash {pre IFRS 18) of £30.3m compared to net debt® of £(15.0)m in 2021 (includes net
sale proceeds frem Corestaff of £16.4m and final repayments of Covid-13 related support of
£94m as well as a £25m special dividend paid in December 2022).

Group revenue_£m

£2,628.3m

Group gross profit_Em

£314.8m

Group adjusted
operating profit®_£m

£41.4m

Group operating
profit/(loss)_Em

£34.4m

202t KL

2020 a5

Group net cash/(debt)
{pre IFRS 16)* _Em

£30.3m

2020 - (a)

Basic earnings per share_p

55.9p

ey
2021 2.3
2020 (a5.2)

Continuing Group results

Continuing gross profit
_Em

£204.9m

2021 161.0

Continuing adjusted
operating profit:_£m

£27.8m

2022

Continuing revenue
_Em

£1,947.4m

2020 wa

Continuing operating
profit/(loss)_Em

£21.0m
EN—

0 137

2020 kgl

* (alculated by multiplying the prior year functional currency amount by the current year foreign currency exchange rate.

Far more information
Q) Glossary: page_131
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Impellam at a glance

Our
operating
segments

We organise our portfolio of
workforce and specialist recruitment
solutions businesses both regionalily
and by specialist operating segments.

Continuing operations

Revenue_£m Gross profit_Em

£3941m £81.7m

North 2021 £358.3m 2021: £63.7m
America 2020: £329.7m 2020: £6G.3m
UK £1,506.2m £112.8m
E 2021 £1.205.8m 2021 £89.4m
urope 2020: £1,089.6m 2020: £70.0m

£47.1m £10.4m

2021 £16.2m 2021 £7.9m
2020: £6.4m 2020 £6.4m
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Continued operations:

©

Global Managed Services

impellam Group's award-winning Global
Managed Service brands take care of

the whole staffing process, working

with household names from arcund the
world to provide innovative and specialist
workforce solutions.

Cur portfolio includes the Guidant Global,
Comensura and Flexy brands, who

are recognised, top-quadrant industry
leaders in Managed Service Provision and
Statement of Work, with combined spend
under management of over £4bn.
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Discontinued operations:

STEM

Impellam Group's STEM businesses
have a wealth of specialist experience
providing MSP, RPO, contract,
permanent and SOW workforce
solutions. Qur STEM brands are
Carbon60, SRG and Lorien in the

UK & Europe. Together, they are the
largest STEM group in the UK. In North
America, our STEM brands are Bartech,
Lorign and SRG.

They work collaboratively to provide
workforce and specialist recruitment
sclutions, and to create a community of
the very best of STEM talent, including
IT, digital and data specialists, scientists,
clinicians and engingers. Impellam’s
STEM businesses innavate and solve
some of the world's toughest problems
by believing in the power of work to
create a better future.

RRL

Regional Specialist Staffing
Our Regional Specialist Staffing (RSS)
businasseas in the UK leverage our deep
heritage, sector expertise and extensive
network of specialist candidates, to
provide expert recruitment services
and fulfilled, engaged workers for our
customers.

Our dedicated teams build better
businesses by providing people for
permanent, temporary, contract and
fixed-price work; from the supply of
warehouse workers to secretaries, call
centre operatives, lawyers, drivers,
teachers, chefs, HR and marketing
professionals.

The RSS brands are Blue Arrow, Tate,
Career Teachers and Chadwick Nott.

For more information visit
D www.impellam.com

pA

Healthcare

Medacs Global Group (MGG) is a leading
international healthcare workforce
solutions provider operating under a variety
of brands including Medacs Healthcare,
Global Medics and Litmus Workforce
Solutions. MGG provides healthcare
staffing, managed services, staff bank,
occupational health, insourcing, social care
and home care services.

Within its healthcare brands, MGG delivers
locum, termporary and permanent doctors,
nurses, allied health professicnals and care
workers. It is the largest provider of locum
doctors to the NHS in the UK and to the
HSE in Ireland and is the largest supplier

of specialist healthcare managed services
outside of the US.

With operations across the UK, Ireland,
the Middle East, India, Australia and
New Zealand, MGG enables customers
to deliver outstanding care globally.

Page_03
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Chairman’s statement

Record results in an
exceptional year

The Group has delivered record results in an exceptional year.
Adjusted operating profitst were up significantly across all
segments and in all regions as we responded to talent scarcity
and a buoyant labour market. This was achieved against a
backdrop of political and economic uncertainty, the war in
Ukraine and resulting rising energy costs contributing to a
cost-of-living crisis, particularly in the UK. Our agile respcnse
to the global skills shortage, the ‘great resignation’ and post
pandemic bounce back in the jobs market resulted in new
customer wins and increased levels of customer retention as
we collaborated across our brands.

In April 2022, | informed the Board that | wanted tc explare
opporunities 1o dispose of my shareholding in the Group and
have worked constructively with the Company to ensure the
interests of all shareholders were properly considered. The

sale of Corestaff in North America in February 2022, followed
by the disposal of cur Regional Specialist Staffing (RSS) and
Healthcare brands in Q1 2023 will enable the Group to focus on
the fast-growing Managed Services and Science, Technology
and Engineering markets (STEM) where our specialist expertise
and track record positions us for high growth in these attractive
market sectors. This is a bold step for Impellam, and | know

the Executive team have the experience and drive to ensure

its success and to use it as a springboard to accelerate the
Group’s long-term strategy.

@

Profits are up
significantly across
all segments and in
all regions.”
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There have been no changes 10 the Board during the year,
providing a stable foundation to support the Groug during
this pericd of transformation and | thank the Board for their
contributions through the vear.

| am pleased that we announced two special dividends in
2022, which will return £50m to our shareholders. The Group
announced a further special dividend of £35m following

the disposal of the RSS and Healthcare brands in early 2023,
Going forward this allows the Group to return to a dividend

policy.

It's been a fast-paced year and our people have risen to

the challenges and opportunities, building close waorking
relationships with their colleagues and customers. | would
like to thank each and every one of them for their hard work,
commitment, and ability to respond positively to a

changing envircnment.

Lord Ashcroft KCMG PC
Chairman
27 April 2023
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A Bold
Promise

Our strategic objective

Virtuosity makes the difference and will drive market-beating
value creation.

Our strategic advantage

We believe we retain customers, people and investors for longer
than our competitors because wea're trusted to do what we say
we are going tc do. We work coliaboratively across our diverse
portfolio with a shared vision, mission, style and language that
we call ‘Virtuosity” This enables us to deliver differentiated.
integrated solutions to our customars, and to find good work
for our people.

Qur strategic scope

Customers

We work with custemers who vaiue engaged, fulfilled and
purposeful paople, and who allow us to take our share of
the economic vaiue we create as we help them build a
better business.

Offering

We are a leading global workforce and specialist recrurtment
solutions group enabled by market-leading brands working
across a broad spectrum of industries and job categories.

Geography

Our offering is delivered through diverse brands and services
across North America, UK & Europe and APAC. To further
support our mission, and to find exciting opportunities for our
people, we also invest in, and operate with, specific clients in
other regions.

integration

We have a unique, differentiated and collaborative model.

This integrates both our regional and specialist segments into a
full end-to-end workforee solutions platform for aur customers’
permanent, contingent, managed services, RPO and Statement
of Work (SOW) spend. Qur work is important, and we get

it done.

For more information visit
www.impellam.com

Ef
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| Group Chief Executive Officer’s review

Strong growth and a
bold strategic move

QOverview

2022 was a defining year for Impellam. Not only did we deliver
strong and consistent operational performance and financial
growth but we also responded to our majority shareholder’s
intent to explore options around his shareholding. We entered
inta negotiations that were substantially concluded in December
2022 and saw the Group complete the dispasal of its Regional
Specialist Staffing and Healthcare businesses on 3 March 2023.
This followed the sale of Corestaff, our North America Specialist
Staffing business, to swipgjobs Inc. in February 2022.

This bold strategic move enhances the investment case for
Impellam’s connected and collaborative, digitaily-enabled
pusinesses. Qur continuing operations are now focused on the
key growth markets of multidisciplinary workfarce solutions

in the UK & Europe, North America and Asia Pacific and the
specialist talent verticals of Science, Technology

and Engineering,

The year began with optimism and confidence delivering
gross profit growth across all cur regions when compared to
2021. This growth was achieved despite a backdrop of political
and economic uypheaval caused by the combined factors of
the global pandemic, the war in Ukraine, the impact of Brexit
and the fast-emerging cost-of-living crisis, particularly in the
UK. Despite these headwinds, the labour market remained
tight driven by global skills and talent shortages, the ‘great
resignation’, the early retirement of over 50s, high attrition and
a booming post Covid-19 job market creating a positive
trading environment for all our businesses.

As a result, our continuing operations delivered gross profit
of £204.9m and cperating profit growth of 53.3% (60.3%"}.
Including discontinued operations we generated £69.1m of
operating zashflows and were able to declare dividends of
£50m to sharehalders.

Impact of investment

We capitalised on the increased demand for our services
by continuing to invest in people, technology end customer
centricity.

We developed our service offerings to respond quickly and
decisively to meet our customers’ evolving needs, with our
key investments in 2022 underpinning our core principle that
Virtuosity is our strategic advantage.

People and Virtuosity

Qur customers consistently tell us that they love what we

do, but even more importantly they love how we do it. That's
Virtuosity. Our people are really close to our customers and that
means we take the utmost care of them. We hire, develop and
nurture our people to become Virtuosos, so that in turn they
support our customers to build batter businesses.

During 2022 more than 268 colleagues joined our Group as
customer demand increased. We expanded our teams in key
growth markets with a 20.3% increase in headcount in our UK
and Narth America STEM businesses and a 8.3% increase in
our GMS businesses across the warld, supporting exciting new
custemer wins. Alongside this expansion in headcount, we also
increased our productivity with gross profit per FTE rising from
£100.2k in 2021 to £112.3k in 2022.

We supported cur pecple’s performance and wellbeing,
enabling them to work flexibly between our offices, their

homes and customer sites. We worked hard to get the

balance right between providing collaberation technology

and ensuring they received maximum benefit from in-person
teamwork. Understanding that managers make the difference to
angagement, we also focused on reigniting the beautiful basics
of thoughtful people management. We made it a priority that all
our people enjoyed quality time with their manager to explore
how the things that mattered most to them personally aligned to
the goals and ambitions of our business.

*  Calculated by multiplying the pror year functional currency amount by the current year ‘oreign currency exchange rate.
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We have a diverse and talented global workforce who are
connected and who collaborate more than ever before to make
sure there is never a reascon for a customer to lgave Impellam.
We are keen to make sure that our pecple enjoy a fulfilling
career with us, and as we grow our goal is to create compelling
opportunities across our global business. In 2022, more than 50
celleagues embarked on exciting new careers in a different part
of the Group.

Atimpellam, we listen to gur people. Our Virtuoso Alliance
continued to influence our strategy. Across two cohorts, 22
Virtuosos made a significant contribution to our performance
and development strategy, our refreshed Impellam brand and
proposition, our EVP, our blended working strategy and our
response to shifting candidate market dynamics.

Similarly, our people shout loudly about the things that matter
to them and | am proud of the great strides we took in 2022 in
equity, diversity and inclusion (ED&I). We launched our Unity
council globally and we had highly active Business Resouirce
Groups helping us understand and celebrate our differences
as we came together for particularly memorable events for
international Women's Day, Pride, Mental Fitness Month and
Disability Awareness.

As we say goodbye to almost 1,300 colleagues leaving the
Group for their new home following the divestment of our
Regional Specialist Staffing and Healthcare businesses, | would
like tc thank all Impsllam colleagues for the wonderful part
they have played in making our Company special and delivering
such impressive operaticnal and financial results in 2022,

1 Life Time Value LTV s dehred a5 sverage margin oe- chent x average length of contract
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Customer centricity

Qur Virtueso strategy means that our people are close to their
customers and their voice is heard directly by the Executive
team. We have a non-hierarchical organisation structure with
few layers between our customers and me, ensuring that
decisions are always made with customers front of mind.

Our customers have trusted us to find their contingent and
permanent talent in a candidate short market. Following the
combined effect of the profound disruption in our markets
across the werld outlined in my introduction, there has been
a huge increase in demand across all our vertical market
specialisms and within cur 271 managed service and RPO
customers.

In particular rapid global digitisation led to a buoyant market
for those with tech, digital and analytical skills and we alsc
saw increased demand for engineers, scientists and clinicians,
as organisations began to invest again, all coming together to
create the future through the power of work.

In 2021, we establishad our Customer Office (CQ} with the
intention that there should never be a reason for a customer

to leave Impellam. The CO celebrated its first anniversary in

July 2022 with an impressive 100% account retention and an
increase in the lifetime value' of our CO customers of 5.6%.

Our customer focused Centre of Excellence (CoE) brought

new capabilities to our clients and important efficiencies to our
business. The CoE managed 55 discrete projects to launch,
enhance or expand customer relationships. The CoE Analytics
tearmn developed new intelligence dashboards for use across

the customer portfolio while the Talent Marketing team'’s

highly successful campaigns resulted in up to 2,000 hires per
individual customer. Our VMS team collaborated closely with our
technology channel partners and was subsequently recognised
through cur Guidant Glebal brand as SAP Fieldglass MSP
partner of the year. We automated many key business processes,
eliminating thousands of hours of manual work annually.

Page_07
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Group Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

As a Company, we came together in 2022 to secure and share
2,450 new client wing across cur regions.

We also expanded our work within existing customers through
strong collaboration and service diversification leading to a
significant increase in customer spend, alongside deepening
those relationships leading to a 9.2% rise in customer retention
compared to 2021.

We trained and led our people to price confidently reflecting
our premium paosition in a buoyant market and were delighted
that cur customers continued to value our pecple so highly.

We ended the year by launching our refreshed Impellam
branding. We are building a consistent and cohesive customer
narrative and proposition, confident of our belief in the power
of work and our combined and connected ability to deliver
market-leading workforce and specialist recruitment solutions in
the UK & Europe, APAC and North America.

Technology and digital

QOur investments in digital technology are focused on our
strategic objective to free up our Virtuosos to do their best
waork whilst enabling collaborative teamwork across our
diverse global workforce, wherever they are based. In 2022 we
enhanced our overall digital experience, achieving our target to
be 65% digital by the end of the year.

During the year, we completed the implementation of Bullhorn
CRM and REM in our UK STEM businesses. We now operate
on a common platform across the front and back office,
leading to an enhanced customer and candidate experience,
increased collaberation and improved productivity and
efficiency. Going forward, we will invest in selected additional
digital technology to enhance operational productivity and -
increase the profit-ger-consultant.
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In our Managed Services businesses, our investment in
digitising service delivery has been a key contributor to
increasing our productivity. Qurinvestment in an Integration
Platform as a Service (IPaaS) has enabled us te bring together
the core functionality and benefits of multiple applications,
both proprietary and third party, improving customer and user
experience while removing manual data entry and workflows.

In addition, the deployment of Robotic Process Automation
(RPA) tools has enabled the autormation of a significant number
of repetitive tasks allowing our Virtuosos to focus on higher
value activities while increasing our access to large volumes of
meaningful data. Using sophisticated reporting tools, we can
now benchmark our recruiters against market data showing
clear evidence that our productivity metrics are ahead of the
programmes run by our competitors and in-house teams.

We also made significant investrnents in technology platforms
to drive customer and candidate relationship management and
applicant tracking. Our priority is to drive initiatives that free up
time for our Virtuosos sc they can focus on building trust and
delivering on their promises to clients and candidates.

We continued to invest in customer-facing digital soluticns and
during 2022 we launched our first fully-integrated platform
solution, leveraging our proprietary technologies EVO and Flexy
as well as our newly launched payroll app. We are proud of

this solution and intend to introduce it to more of cur managed
service customers in 2023, and to support new services such
as Direct Sourcing.

The divestment of ocur RSS and Healthcare businesses means
that we will now move away from legacy systems and will
operate entirely in the Cloud using either software-as-a-service
applications, or Microsaft Azure facilities. This transaction
ramoves complexity from the oversll Group technology

estate by removing multiple overlapping legacy applications;
simplifying physical infrastructure and reducing manpower
costs to support diverse systems.



Outlook

Cur strategic realignment following the disposal of our RSS and
Healthcare businesses in March 2023 enables us to focus our
investments and the efforts of our Virtuosos on high growth
and attractive markets where we have greater visibility of future
revenue with improved conversion of gross prefit to adjusted
operating profita.

The dispesal also enables us to streamline operations whilst
increasing collaboration and ramoves significant complexity from
our technology, property estate and our back-office processes.

Trading in 2023 began above our expectations, albeit we have
noted some hesitancy during 1 on permanent hiring, particularly
amangst professional and financial services clients. Pipelines
remain strong but we will continue te remain vigilant, given the
political and economic headwinds of inflationary pressure and
interest rate rises, continuing events in Ukraine and ongoing talent
shortages across all cur regiong,

We are confident that the strategic moves we have made will
continue to enhance the investment case for impellam and will
return significant value to sharsholders.

Julia Robertson
Group Chief Executive Officer
27 April 2023

Strategic Report Corporate Governance  Financial Statements

@

We are confident that
the strategic moves

we have made will
continue to enhance
the investment case for
Impellam.”
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Our integrated, collaborative business model

Qur mission

Through the power of work, we
build better businesses and help
pecople lead mare fulfilling lives.

Our vision

To be the world’s most trusted workforce
and specialist recruitment solutions group,
trusted by our people, our customers and
our investors in equal measure.

Our key differentiators

Cur culture of Virtuosity

We are united by one purpose, one culfture, one
driving force. We call it Virtuosity. It's why we're
defferent. It's our determination to do even more
and to always be ambitious and brave for our
customers and candidates.

Our customers see our Virtuosity every day in

our innovation and creativity. We are ciose to our
customers, and because we care, we forge strong,
meaningful and trusted partnerships.

They see it in our authenticity, in the way we keep
our promises and in how we break down the
barriers to unleash people’s potential. None of

this would be possible without a culture based on
trust. That's why we have an ambitious vision to be
the werld's most trusted workforce and specialist
recruitment solutions group, trusted by our people,
our customers and our investors in equal measure.

We trust our Virtuosoes and give them the freedom
and autonomy to do the right thing, to adapt and
see the possible in the impossible. We make sure
people make the difference.

By keeping our promises, we retain cur clients,
candidates and our people for longer and reap the
benefits of that longevity. We never want to give a
client reascn to leave Impellam.,

The Beautiful Basics

We make sure that ‘the Beautiful Basics’ are

in place and deeply embedded across our
collaborative portfolic. ‘Beautiful Basics’ are caring
for the smaller details, as well as the bigger ones.
Doing the common, uncommeonly well. They are
the difference Impeilam’s people make through
our day-to-day actions to deliver on our promises.

Entrepreneurial Virtuoso
leaders

All aur businesses share a cuiture of Virtuosity
which embeds a collaborative Group-wide
culture, based on trusted behaviours, delivered
by entrepreneurial Virtuoso leaders who can drive
our competitive advantage and deliver on our
promises to all our stakeholders

Page_10

To deliver exceptional service to our
customers through:

Our regions

North
America

UK &
APAC Europe

Our operating segments®

* Including discontinued operations.
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To create value for
our stakeholders

Clients

We are close to our customers, and because we
care, we forge strong, meaningful and trusted
partnerships to find people for good work and
help them build better businesses. We retain
them, continuing to listen and partner with them
to extend the scope and tenure of our services,
and in doing s, open up more opportunities for
organic growth.

Our culture of Virtuosity

=82} Candidates

From the outset, we listen to our candidates and
find them good work that fulfils them and matches
their aptitudes, skills and aspirations. We reward
our candidates fairly, retain them by treating them
well, and by finding them work that interests and
develops them. in turn, this encourages them to
refer more people and good work to us.

Colleagues

We employ people who care about gur mission and
our craft, and we develep them, so they have the
right skills and experience to do their job by being
Wirtuosos in their field. We free up our Virtuosos and
give thern more influence so they in turn develop a
culture of Virtuosity across the Company. Ultimately,
we trust them to stay close to their custormers and
candidates, to make the right decisions, collaborate
and defiver on their promises.

Investors

We take care to create relationships with investors
and we build on the trust we create by delivering
sustainable earnings.

Suppliers

We build strong partnerships of mutual trust with

our suppliers, many of whom are also our clients.
Our long-term relationships with our suppliers enable
us to fill mare jobs for our clients, and by building

an engaged recruitment supply chain, which is
passionate about finding the right candidates with
the right skills, we can reduce the cost of recruitment;
reduce the time to hire; provide timely market insight
and drive innovation.

For more information visit
D www.impellam.com
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Key performance indicators

We monitor our performance against our strategic priorities

by using key performance indicators (KPls). OQur KPls

include a set of financial and nen-financial measures and
are discussed further in the CEO and CFO reviews.

Financial KPls (continuing operations)

Group revenue
_Em

£1,947.4m

2oe1 15805
2020 14257

Measurement explained
Revenue generated from

sales of contract workers,
permanent placement fees and
other income generated from
provision of staffing services.

Rationale
Indicates the volume of business
generated in the year.

Group gross profit
Em

£204.9m

202t L 85)

2020 136.7

Measurement explained
Revenue less cost of sales,
predominately the sum of
contract gross profit and fees
for the placement of permanent
candidates, less any directly

attributable adjustments or rebates.

Rationale

Indicates the profitability of
revenue before cperating costs
year.

Group adjusted
operating profit®_£m

£27.8m

2021 onm
2020 %45

Measurement explained
Underlying profitability of the
Group before interest and taxes
with adjustments for impairments
and amortisations of acquired
intangibles and impairment of
right-of-use leased assets.

Rationale

Demonstrates the profitability
of the Group and how efficient
it is at managing its controllable
cost base.

Group operating
profit_Em

£21.0m

2621 1wy

2020 . (37}

Measurement explained
Profitability of the Group before
tax and finance costs.

Rationale
Demonstrates the profitability
of the Group.

Conversion ratio -
adjusted operating
profit® _%

13.6%

2021 125

2020 153

Measurement explained
Adjusted operating profith
expressed as g percentage
of gross profit

Rationale

Indicates the efficiency of fee
earners in generating gross
profit and the Group's ability
to control central costs,
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Group net cash/(debt)?
{Pre-IFR516)_Em

£30.3m

2o
141 ‘ 2020

Measurement explained
Total Group debt excluding lease
liabilities, less any cash and cash
equivalents, after capitalised
financing costs.

Rationale
Net debt? is a key element of the
Group's capital structure.

Group net cash
generated from
operations_£Em

£69.1m

. 2021 0.2

Measurement explained
The amount of cash generated
from operating activities
(including discontinued
operations) and after tax paid.

Rationale

Demonstrates how efficient the
Group is in converting operating
getivities to cash and therefore
the ablility to manage its capital.

Adjusted EPS
_pence

44.3p

Measurement explained
The amount of adjusted operating
profit® per one share in the Group;
calculated as the adjusted operating
profit® attributable to the Group's
shareholders, divided by the
average number of shares in 1ssue
throughout the year.

Rationale

A strong indication as to the
underlying profitability of a
company for its shareholders.
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International
mix_%

44.9%

Measurement explained
Total gross profit from business
operations outside of the UK
and Europe, expressed as a

percentage of Group gross profit.

Rationale

Geographic diversification
spreads risk and reduces reliance
on any ane economy.

Gross profit
mix_%

47.4%

Measurement explained
Total gross profit generated from
Managed Services businesses
expressed as a percentage of
Group gross profit

Rationale

Gross profit from Managed
Services provides visibility of
income and generates long-term
relationships with our clients and
aligns to our strategic priorities.

Client retention —
Top 50 clients_%

100%

Measurement explained
The percentage of the top 50
clients in 2021 who we continued
to supply in 2022 and have not
left during the year.

Rationale

Client retention links to improved
profitability and efficiencies in
service delivery alongside
improved guality of service.

Average gross
profit per FTE
_£000

£115.8

2021 129

2020 a1y

Measurement explained
Total gross proht divided by
the average number of full-time
equivalents in the Group.

Rationale

Indicator of staff productivity
and efficiency, with growth
demonstrating improvec
efficiency ar a higher percentage
of fee earners at full capacity.

Gross profit per
£ staff cost

£1.47

2020 149

Measurement explained
Total gross profit divided by the
annual staff costs.

Rationale

Indicator of staff productivity
and reflecting the operational
efficiency of the business as
a whole.

Group adjusted
EBITDA%_E£m

£34.2m

Measurement explained
Qperating profit of the Group
before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortisation and excludes
IFRS 16 adjustments, separately
disclosed items and share-
based payments,

Rationale

The Group continues to measure
EBITDA® which is used for banking
covenants and internal performance
measures. It is alsc used externally
for valuation purposes.

For more information
Q, Glossary: page 131
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Performance reviews

North America

Following the sale of the Regional
Specialist Staffing brand (Corestaff)
early in 2022, our North America
business is now focused on our
Global Managed Services (GMS) and
STEM operating segments delivered
by our Guidant Global brand in GMS
and our SRG, Lorien and Bartech
brands for STEM.

Overview

The region delivered strong gross profit growth during 2022
and made good strategic progress. Following a strategic review,
Corastaff, our light industrial business, was sold to swipejobs
Inc, a US private digital staffing platform in early 2022, leaving
us with a streamlined portfolio focused on key growth markets.
This included moving into broader IT and energy verticals and
higher value life sciences work in cur STEM business, yielding
positive results. Our GMS segment continued its steady
progress, underpinned by seven notable new customer wins

as customers sought full workforce management solutions to
combat significant talent shortages across most sectors.

Financial performance (continuing operations)

Revenue for the year increased by 1.5% to £394.1m. Gross
profit rose by 14 6% to £81.7m (2021 £63.7m) underpinned
by a significant increase in gross profit to 20.7% from
17.8% as average pay rates rose, our pricing improved and
our investments in productivity delivered gains in the way
we operate.

Adjusted cperating profitt rose by 3.2% to £10.6m,
demonstrating the positive impact of the cansolidation of the
North America business following the sale of Corestaff.

N 2022 2021 % change
North America £m em LFL"
Revenue 394.1 358.3 (1.5)%
Gross profit 81.7 637 14.6%
Admin expenses () (55.1)
Ad;gs;ted qperating 10.6 8.6 39%
profit
Gross profit % 20.7% 17.8%
AdJusteq operlatlcr’wg profith 13.0% 13.5%
conversion ratia %

* Calculated by multiplying the prior year functional currency amount by the current year foreign currency exchange rate.
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The region delivered
strong gross profit
growth during 2022
and made good
strategic progress.”

£81.7m

Gross profit for North America
in 2022.

Market dynamics

The global workforce solutions market experienced significant growth,
with global spend under management increasing by circa 30% to circa
US$200bn during 2022. In North America, the workforce solutions
outsourcing market experienced double-digit growth year an year

due to the rejuvenation in the Contingent Workforce Management
(CWM)/Managed Service Program (MSP) market. The region remains
the largest segment of the global CWM market, accounting for 53%

of global spend under management or US$1040bn. Currently 12-156% of
deals have an element of Servicas Procurement with increasing traction
and further impetus for growth.

This growth was fuelled in part by the economic contraction of 2020,
which accelerated the search for more efficient business models. As
companies increasingly recognise the competitive advantage driven
by a diverse and engaged employee and non-employee workforce,
they are now seeking more sophisticated woerkforce sclutions to assist
crganisational innevation and business transformation.

Workforce solutions providers are expected to continue to evolve their
services to deliver more advanced strategic talent sourcing strategies
and selutions on a global scale. This will include direct sourcing,
advanced automation and digitisation, intelligence-driven talent
analytics, advisory services and expanding SoW capabilities. Thase
inncvations will enable workforce solutions providers to add vaiue and
support arganisations in the wake of the ongoing talent supply-demand
gap, which is expected to persist despite econemic volatility.

Talent scarcity continues to be a major challenge for our customers,
particularly in STEM sectors. Covid-1% accelerated investment in

IT, transforming digital channels and supporting remote working
and whilst many firms have retained hybrid working, custcmers are
increasingly recognising that employees can work frem anywhere,
making Impellam’s broad pool of talent a differentiator.

Despite some weli-publicised redundancy programmes from the major
glebal tech organisations, skilled candidates are still hard to find and
with many in-house recruitment teams laid-off, cutsourced recruitrment
solutions remain an important cption for organisations across al!
industry sectors. Unemployment rates remain fow and combined with
wage inflation, candidates are still changing jobs more freguently than
before the pandemic.
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Performance reviews continued

North America continued

Portfolio review
GMS

GMS continued te benefit from the post Covid-19 bounce back,
delivering a robust performance in 2022, with a 7.9% increase in
gross profit, This reflected six new business wins in a wide range
of industry sectors including Indorama and Builder’s

First Source.

Customer retention remained exceptionally high at 93%, with a
number of customers extending or expanding the scope of their
contracts. Secured at the end of 2022, the global Recruitment
Qutscurcing Programme {RPQO) for Travelport is now live in
multiple countries delivering revenue in all three of our regions.

Teamwaork between the STEM brands and our GMS business,
Guidant Global, also continued to gain pace with specialist [T,
Life Sciences and Engineering staffing provision integrated

into the delivery of many MSP contracts in our US client base

as we capitalised on the strength of combining our brands. [T
resourcing is now an important part of the extensive relaticnship
with a long-standing customer and a government technology
supplier, Maximus.

Whilst we minimised increases tc our headcount, we continue
to build on significant corporate investment in our [T and digital
infrastructure to ensure we improve productivity as we grow.
Key to this is the Program Grewth Intelligence (PGI) Dashboard,
which is driving continuous improvement and optimising
operational performance across our GMS portfolic.

STEM

Investment in cur STEM portfolio last year delivered results in
2022 driving gross profit up by 24.7%. A focus on higher-guality
business enabled us to optimise pricing and increase average
gross profit margins by 1.9pps to 16.2% across the portfolio.

To support this growth, we increased our headcount by 33%
and added to our geographic foctprint, opening a new Denver
location, alongside expanding our remote waorker hubs in
California and Texas.
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Our Life Sciences business met its strategic objective to
diversify into new market segments and reduce its focus on
clinical trials. The launch of the new Quality, Regulation and
Complignce (QRC) specialism at the end of 2021 has gained
traction fast with growth set to continue in 2023. |t now
represents over 50% of the brand’s gross profit and has driven
our average Life Sciences gross profit margins up by 2.8pps
to 24.3%.

Qur IT business strangthened its pasition, with our investment in
the Salesforce and mobile app deveicpment market segments
paying dividends, as we secured multiple new client cantracts
and created a strong platform in a sector where there is high
demand and short supply of candidates. We also expanded our
service lines and signed two new RPO customers whilst steadily
building our direct-hire recruitment business, increasing revenue
by cver 100% when compared with iast year.

Our Engineering business remains focused primarily on the
nascent Electric Vehicle market, whilst we develop a presence
in the renewable eneargy sector.

Looking forward

The key factors driving demand this year — talent shortages and
rising pay rates — are set to continue so our ability to develop
innovative sclutions to support customers remains critical. This
will create opportunities for Impellam’s ormni-channel sourcing
approach and integrated workfaorce soluticns combining
vertical STEM skills under our horizontal GMS sarvice. We

will continue to invest in expertise to advance our RPC and
Services Procurement capabilities, seeking to address emerging
opportunities for Direct Sourcing and upskilling our Virtuosos
to deliver a consultative approach, giving proactive advice to
valued customers.
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UK & Europe

o))

Following the sale of Regional
Staffing Specialist (RSS) and our
Healthcare business in the UK and
Ireland in early 2023, the UK and
Europe remains our largest operating
region. Our focus going forward

will be on our GMS segment which
includes Guidant Global, Comensura
and Flexy and our STEM business
which includes Lorien, SRG and
Carbon60.

Overview

The region delivered an impressive performance, with a boom in
the job market and skills shortages driving up revenue, margins
and adjusted operating profits®. We saw growth in all brands,
significant new business wins and increased customer retantion.
In recent years, [mpellam’s strategic focus has been on our

high value digitally-enabled GMS and STEM businesses and

the recent divestment of RSS and MGG will ailow us to further
develop our leading position in these attractive markets in the
UK & Europe.

£1,506.2m

Revenue for UK & Europe in 2022,

Financial performance (continuing
operations)

Revenue rose 25.1% to £1,506.2m reflecting higher volumes in
both temporary and permanent recruitment and contributing

to a substantial increase in gross profit of 257% to £112.8m.
Combined with productivity increases driving higher gross profit
per FTE, this delivered adjusted operating profits? of £20.5m
(2021 £17.4m), up 15.7% on 2021. )

2022 2021 % change

UK & Europe &m £ LFLr
Revenue 1,506.2 1,205.8 251%
Gross profit 112.8 89.4 257%
Admin expenses (92.3) (72.0)
Adjusted i

dlusted operating 20.5 174 157%
profit
Gross profit % 7.5% 7.4%
Adjusted cperating
profit® conversion 18.2% 19.4%
ration %

* Calculated by muitiplying the prior year functional currency amount by the current year foreign currency exchange rate.
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Performance reviews continued

UK & Europe continued

Market dynamics

Post-pandemic we saw a significant rebound in demand for
both permanent and temporary staff across all our brands and
markets. This reflected major pressures on employers in the
private sector facing ‘the great resignation’ and high attrition

as employees took advantage of a buoyant labour market.
Hospitality and logistics secters saw shortages of staff and
drivers continue. As a result, pay rates are rising and clients

are increasing incentives to attract candidates, focusing on
developing distinctive employer brands, ED&I strategies and
sustainability agendas. Rising energy costs and soaring inflation
resulted in a cost-of-living crisis and, with public sector pay
settlements under pressure, disrupticn across the public sector
brought widespread strikes and mounting vacancies.

This combination of market factors, along with a smaller
working population post Covid-19, has resulted in increasing
customer demand for specialist recruitment and workforce
sclutions in many of Impeliam’s key target markets, such as the
IT and Engineering sectors, which represent the UK’s second
and third largest markets generating revenuas of £10.8bn
annually, and where Impellarm has a strong market presence
through its STEM brands.

Portfolio review
GMS

Cur GMS business, built an our Guidant Giobal and
Comensura brands, delivered a robust 21% increase in gross
profit, benefiting from the service expansion opportunities
created by the breadth of customers across the Impellam
portfolio in the UK and winning new contracts with existing
clients of other brands.

Headcount increased by 43 as we extended our portfolic across
bath private and public sector organisations, with a number of
notable new business wins inrcluding University College London
{UCL)} and EV Metals.

QCur focus on building long-term client relationships is evidenced
by our exceptional customer retention and expansion record.
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Growth in all brands,
significant new business
wins and increased
customer retention.”
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Our ability to provide an integrated service across our

brands led to a significant expansion of the MSP programme in
SSE where we built on the success of the criginal contract and
introduced our technology sourcing capability into their

IT division.

Building on an exceptional yaar in 2021, revenue from SOW
projects increased in 2022 as new customers were added,
bringing the monthly average to over 220 projects. The services
provided under a Statement of Work are billed based on 2

fixed price deliverable or for hitting specific milestones, and we
centinue to invast in this high-growth proposition.

Sustained growth in Ireland continued, with strong margin
increases as this agile team were able to respond fast as
demand bounced back.

We continued to digitise our service delivery and investment
in technelogy such as Flexy yielded significant margin growth.
Flexy is now a consumer-grade application making it easy for
candidates looking for flexible work patterns to find hours that
suit them for retail or warehouse work.

Direct Sourcing is increasingly an integral part of an overall
talent acquisition strategy for UK crganisations. Our new
contracts with UCL and EV Metals are good examples of this
trend and we aexpect to see this accelerate in 2023. [t enabies
forward thinking enterprises to showcase their Employer
Brand to attract talent and drive their ED&I objactives as well
as delivering targeted results. Our work with a major aircraft
company on their diversity objective to hire female aircraft
fitters delivered high numbers of female applicants and one in
every five aircraft fitter hirer since February 2022 is female.

* Working Futures data.

STEM

Cur market-leading scientific, technology and engineering

brands — Lorien, SRG and Carbon60 — have all delivered strong
results with significant gross profit growth of 27.6% driven by all
three brands. 2022 has seen both new client wins and contract
extensions supported by increased colfaboration across brands.

Growth in STEM permanent contracts was particularly notable
with a 50% year-on-year increase, including several permanent
hiring projects for existing MSP customers, Sugported by our
ongeing investment in our RPC service proposition, this enabled
us to deliver high-volume contracts in technology and life
sciences with our digital and technology business securing 181
new customers during the year.

In support of our goals that there should never be a reason for a
customer to leave Impellam our STEM brands retained 100% of
all RPO and MSP clients.

In the year, 150 colleagues jeined our STEM brands to drive

our growth and we continued to invest in our Lorien Academy,
offering a six-week training programme to develop the skills
needed to become a successful technology recruiter. During
2022, 46 people successfully completed the Academy
programme and now enjoy careers with us. This will help ensure
we remain well positioned to help cur custemers meet the
continued competition for talent in STEM sectors.
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Performance reviews continued

UK & Europe continued

Looking forward

We expect our STEM and GMS businesses to go from strength
to strength as we respond tc taient scarcity and benefit from
cross-selling and collaboration opportunities. This cotlaboration
has yielded positive results this year and we see this as key to
deepening and expanding our customer relationships in the
future. Our more focused portfolic in the UK & Europe leaves
us a leaner, more agile organisation with greater capacity to
invest in customers, people and technology.

QOurinvestments in STEM coupled with market dynamics mean
cur industry-leading brands have significant cpportunities
ahead. Our STEM businesses have a wealth of specialist
experience and by bringing together the skill sets of IT and
digital specialists, scientists, data specialists, clinicians and
engineers, they can provide the innovative solutions customers
require in the fast-changing world of work.
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Discontinued operations
RSS

The RSS portfolio experienced 16.0% growth in gross profit

as a result of a buoyant post-pandemic market. As well as

new client wins across the portfolio, all RSS businesses
performed well with permanent hiring perferming particularly
well whan compared to pricr year. Blue Arrow saw a strong
overall perfformance with significant new customer wins and
the business was well-pasitioned far the return of the catering
market. The Tate Service Delivery Centre, that focuses on large
national accounts, continued to grow with Tate Professional
delivering higher margin business across HR, marketing

and firance. Career Teachers was reappeinted to the CS5
framewaork for schools, while Chadwick Nott bolstered its team
of recruiters and benefited from the salary wars in a competitive
talent market.

Healthcare

The Healthcare portfelio experienced a particuiarly high
demand for nursing and care staff, alongside a challenging
shortage of candidates.

Insourcing, which involves supplying an end-to-end service,
delivered on the hospital premises, to help the NHS reduce
its long waiting lists for elective procedures, proved to be

a successful investment for MGG. In its first full year the
insourcing business supported more than 3,500 operaticns
for people on NHS waiting lists for more than two years.
There were also extensions for the Covid-19 UK Test and
Trace programme and the vaccination programme that ran
for much of 2022,
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Asia Pacific

Foliowing the sale of our Healthcare
business, Medacs Global Group
(MGG) in March 2023, our continuing
APAC operation will be focused

on our Global Managed Services

and digital specialisms, building on
the strength of our Guidant Global,
Comensura and Flexy brands.

Overview

Through 2022, the APAC market experienced a significant
bounce back in demand and benefited from international
borders reopening with candidate mability pessible once again.
This resulted in significant revenue and gross profit growth with
all brands delivering strong financial and operational progress.
Qur focus in APAC is to maintain this momentum in our GMS
and digital businesses and to broaden our service capabilities
in Statement of Work, Services Procurement and RPO whilst
building a STEM proposition.

£4/1m

Revenue for APAC in 2022.

Financial performance

(continuing operations)

The region recorded revenue of £47.1m and gross profit

of £10.4m up 30.8%* on the pricr year. Flexy delivered an
unprecedented increase in gross profit, up 228% to £1.4m.
albeit from a small base. This advance in gross profit delivered
adjusted operating profitt of £2.0m, up a healthy 23.1% cn the
previous year.

Revenue 4741 16.2 168.8%
Gross profit 10.4 7.9 30.8%
Admin expenses {8.4) (6.3)

';\g;fje‘j operating 2.0 16 231%
Gross profit % 22.1% A6.7%

Adjusted operating

profit® conversion ration 19.2% 20.3%

Y%

* Calculated by multiplying the prior year functional currency amaunt by the current year foreign currency exchange rate.
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Performance reviews continued

Asia Pacific continued

Market dynamics

2022 reprasented a year of unprecedented employment growth
across Australia and New Zealand. The return-to-work post
Covid-18 lockdowns along with a significant drop in immigration
throughout the pandemic resulted in a 48-year recard high level
of employment in Australia.

Conseguently, there is an increasingly tight labour market
particularly pronounced in healthcare, construction, hespitality
and technology. Solid employment growth is projected

to continue through 2023 which, along with a return of
immigration, will continue to accelerate wage growth. Higher
inflation is expected to dampen demand going forward but this
will take time to filter through to the buoyant labour market.

Although spending is predicted to slow throughout 2023 as
interest rates continue to rise to tackle inflation, & positive
GDP growth rate of 4% is expected. Migration will continue to
recover with net overseas migration cushioning any slowdown
in the labour market.

This tight labour market presents a strong cpportunity for our

managed services and digital businesses as customers seek
alternative methods to reach untapped talant pools.
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<>Flexy delivered an
unprecedented
increase in gross
profit.”
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Portfolio review
GMS

New business wins and expansion of existing customer
contracts delivered a strong 2022 for our GMS businesses.
A strong finish in the final quarter across our major private
and public sector customers means we are well positioned
to maintain this momentum into 2023.

Our core public sector customer base provides stable returns
on leng-term contracts supplying Neutral Vender supply chain
management across centingent labour agency providers. During
2022, we securad a major new contract with City of Canterbury
Bankstown, one of the largest councils in Australia which is
already one of our top five revenue generators.

Infrastructura projects that were on hoid are now coming back
on stream, driving demand for contingent labour across cur
public sector contracts. As we maintained our headcount during
Covid-18, we were able to respond immediately and are now
benefitting from the return to business as usual.

Cur entry intc the private sector last year continued to generate
stiony returns, with revenue up 168% over the previous year

as the largest contract in the regicn, signed late 2021, became
operational. This contract with a global mining company has
now rolled cut across Australia, North America, Canada and
Singapore and is set to extend into another major division. It
covers engineering and technology resources and in line with
the Group focus on STEM, these skills are increasingly part of
our major MSP contracts.

Digital

Qur digital direct sourcing and payrcll business, Flexy, has
maintained its fast-paced trajectory, supporting our MSP
customers with payroll provision and enabling them to solve
their temporary labour challenges by offering candidates more
flexible working patterns. Cver 40 councils now use Flexy
and we won our first customer in the retail sector when a trial
to provide pre-Christmas temporary labour in Sydney was
extended for all temporary resources acress Australia. 2022 also
saw the provision of our EVO vendor management software
on a standalone basis. Normally sold as part of an MSP, this is
the first time we have provided SAAS to a new Government
customer in Australia.

Locking forward

We anticipate a softer economic siowdown regicnally than
the rest of the world with the pronounced candidate shortage
and high employment rates resisting scme of the impact from
inflationary pressures. As net migration returns to pre-pandemic
levels, we see demand continuing albeit at a slower rate than
2022, We are now a smaller, more focused organisation, with
our Managed Services businesses well placed for growth

in our core geography of Australia and New Zealand and
expansion potential across Asia as our private sector base
extends. We have a good foundation from which to build our
STEM revenues, both within MSP contracts and as standalone
services. Digital solutions remain an important asset to both
reduce costs and improve customer service alongside the
opportunity to sell these independently to both the public and
private sectars.

Discontinued cperations
Healthcare

The Healthcare business made good strides in 2022 and
delivered strong growth in the region as a result of simplification,
streamlining and a return to pre-pandemic activity ievels.

As internal borders opened up. doctors were abls to travel
again and we benefitted from the pent-up demand for surgery
in particular.
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Chief Financial Officer’s review

A strong financial
oerformance
across the Group

Introduction

Revenue from continuing operations for the year was up 23.2%

(20.5%*) and gross profit increased by 27.3% (19.8%™), reflecting
the buoyant labour market across cur regions and high demand
for temporary and permanent staff.

To support this growth, we invested in customer-facing

staff, adding 268 to our headcount during the year. Our staff
productivity (gross profit divided by FTE heads) was higher
than in previcus years and this, together with tightly controlled
costs. meant that adjusted operating profit® from continuing
operations increased by 38.3% to £27.8m (2021 £20.1m).
Operating profit after the amortisation of acquired intangibles
was £21.0m {2021: £13.7m).

The difference between adjusted cperating profit® and
operating profit is reconciled on page 129 and relates to the
armortisation of acguired intangibles.

Discontinued operations

We completed the sale of Corestaff in the US to swipejobs Inc.
in February 2022, and in January 2023 we announced the sale
of our UK Regional Specialist Staffing businesses (Blue Arrow.
Tate, Chadwick Nott and Career Teachers) and the UK, Ireland
and APAC Healthcare business (MGG) to Twenty20 Capital
for a cash consideration of £85.0m on a debt-free, cash-free
normalised working capital basis. This sale completed on 3
March 2023, All financials, unless otherwise stated, are based
on the continuing operations cf the Group.

Government support

Following support received in 2020 for Covid-19 the Group
repaid £3.3m of deferred VAT payments and US$8m (£5.8m)
of federal tax deferred under the CARES initiative. There are no
further payments due under these schemes.

Foreign exchange

Currency movements against Sterling positively impacted our
reported performance, largely due to the strengthening of US
Dollar against Sterling. Over the course of the year to December
2022, the total impact of exchange movements on gross profit
and adjusted operating profit® were £8.2m favourable and £1.1m
favourabls, respectively. Fluctuations in the rates of the Group’s
key operating currencies versus Sterling continue to represent a
sensitivity for the reported performance of our business. By way
of illustration, each 1 cent movement in annual exchange rates
of the US Dollar impacts gross profit by £0.6m per annum and
adjusted opgerating profit® by £0.1m per annum. The exchange
rate between the US Dollar and Sterling over the year ended

30 December 2022 averaged US$1.2372 (2021 US$1.3757) and
closed at US$1.2077 (2021 US$ 1.3536). As the Group expands
further in overseas territories the impact of changes in exchange
rates will increase.

Capital investment

Capital expenditure on tangible and intangible fixed assets

in the pericd was £11.3m (2021: £5.8m), as we continued

our investment in our-core systems to further digitalise the
business with roll outs of new front office systems, new bill and
pay systems and new finance systems. The deployment will
continue in 2023, though revisions will take into account the
disposed businesses and associated separation plans. As well
as some general IT equipment refreshes, we also continued
investment in our proprietary vendor management systems
(VMS) and the development of our digital platferm, Flexy.

The net repayment of finance leases amounted to £5.5m
(2021 £7.2m).

*  Calcalated by multiplying the prnior year “unctional currency amount by the current year foraign cdrrency exchange rate
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Interest and debt

Nst cash generated from operations (including discontinued
operations) during the period was £69.1m (2021: £10.2m).

During the year final deferred tax payments of £8.1m (2021:
£38.9m) were made. Excluding the impact of these tax deferrals,
cash generated from operations was £78.2m {2021; £49.1m).
Exciuding deferred taxes, the conversion of adjusted operating
profitt to net cash generated is 248.7% (2021 167 /%) Cash
generation from operations was enhanced by an improvement
in Days Sales Gutstanding (DSQO) which stood at 34.8 days
{2021: 35.4 days) at the end of 2022.

in addition to the strong operating cash flows £15.4m of
cash proceeds (net of disposal expenses) were received

following the disposal of Coretaff in February 2022. Net cash generated_£m

Finance expenses for the Group, including discantinued £69 1 m
operations, wera higher than the prior ysar at £6.2m (2021: *
£4.3m). Lease interest was lower at £0.4m (2021: £0.6m) (2021: £10.2m)

and interest cost on financing facilities increased to £4.5m
(2021: £3.5m) as a result of interest rates rises. At the balance
sheet date net cash?, excluding the adjustments for IFRS 16,
was £30.3m comparad to £(15.0)m net debt in 2021, an
increase of £45.2m.

The net cash flow from operations was primarily utilised as
follows:

s Special dividend £25m

e Investment in fixed assets and software development: £11.3m
e Net lease repayment: £5.5m

e Share buybacks: £1.2m

e Net interest paid on borrowings and leases: £4.9m

The Group's cperations are financed by retained earnings

and bank borrowings. The Group manages working capital

requirements through a £182.56m global revolving credit facility

(RCF) approved in December 2021. This £182.5m RCF has an

accordion element of an additional £40m which is available

for three years with options to extend for a further two years.

Rates of interest for the RCF are based on SOFRA/SONIA Net cash_£m?
plus a margin calculated on the net debt? to adjustad EBITDAZ

leverage. The RCF also includes a letter of credit facility which £3 O . 3 m

amounted to £2.7m (2021 £3.0m) at the end of 2022. (2021: £05.0)m)

@ For more information
Q Glossary: page_131
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Chief Financial Officer’s review continued

The Group takes advantage of a number of non-recourse
supplier finance arrangements organised by clients of the
Group to allow for the accelaration of payment of the Group’s
receivables. At the end of 2022, we did nat utilise these
arrangements (2021: £8.2m).

These agreements accrue interest at between 0.65% and 1.75%
over SONIA applied to the number of days the drawdown takes
place before the due date. During 2022, the Group paid less
than £01m in other interest (2021: less than £0.1m).

Following the completion of the sale of the RSS and Healthcare
businesses in March 2023 the RCF was reduced to £132.5m and
the accordion reduced ta E30m.

A significant priority for the Group remains the focus on the
conversion of operating profit into sustained positive cash
flow by controlling working capital. The Group measures
three covenants as required by the facility — interest cover,
adjusted leverage ratio (defined as net debt? less loan notes
and restricted cash to adjusted EBITDA®) and debtar cover.
All covenants were met during the year. Borrowing levels are
controlled by the Group Finance department, which manages
treasury risk in accordance with policies set by the Board.

The Group’s financial liabilities are denominated primarily in
Sterling. Exposure to currency risk at a transactional level is
generaily minimal, with most transactions being carried aut
in local currency.

Taxation

The tax charge {(including discontinued operations) in the period
of £4.1m (2021 £71m) represents an effective tax rate of 14.5%
(2021: 45.8%) and arises on the Group’s activities in the UK and
overseas. The higher effective tax rate is driven by adjustments
in respect of previous periods, primarily arising from transfer
pricing adjustments and a legacy US deferred tax disclosure
position. The lower effective tax rate is driven by prior year
adjustments to deferred tax on overseas intangibles tc calculate
the opening deferred tax position at the locai rate. Excluding
adjustments in respect of previous periods, the effective tax rate
is 23.8%.

The Group’s contribution to the UK Treasury in the period

amounted to £347.4m (2021: £331.9m) and consisted of VAT,
income tax, national insurance and corporation tax.

Page_26

Of this amount, employer’s naticnal insurance, apprenticeship
levy, irrecoverable VAT and corporation tax totalling £46.9m
(2021: £37.7m) was a cost to the business.

Earnings per share

Continuing basic earnings per share increased to 32.6p

(2021: 7.3p) as underlying profit after tax from continuing
operations increased by £11.4m. Total Group (including
discontinued operations) basic earnings per share increased

to 55.9p (2021 18.3p) with underlying profit after tax increasing
by £16.9m.

The weighted average number of shares in 2022 was 45.1m,
0.2m lower than 2021 due to the ongoing share buyback
programme. Continuing adjusted earnings per share increased
to 44.3p (2021: 18.2p) and refiects the underlying performance
of the business, exciuding impairment and amortisation of
acquired intangibles and their respective taxation impact.

Capital management

The Group's capital base (note 29) is primarily used to finance
its working capital requirement, the key component of which

is trade receivables. Trade receivables in the staffing and
support services sectors are managed according to a range of
DSO targets. Terms of trade are monitered, and the extended
payment terms require senior finance approval. In some of the
Group's Managed Services businesses, the amounts payable
to third party suppliers are not due until shortly after the
receipt of the client receivable. As noted above, the Group has
committed facilities that ensure there is sufficient liguidity to
meet ongoing business requirements. Tha primary objectives of
the Group’s capital management are to ensure that it maintains
a good credit rating in order to support 1ts business, maximise
shareholder value and to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going congcern.

Going concern

After making appropriate enquiries, the Directers have a
reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseesble future. In coming to their conclusion, the Directors
have considered the Group's profit and cash flow plans for the
coming period. The amount of borrowing required to fund the
Group's activities is determinad based on these projections,
together with expected returns to shareholders and planned
capital expenditure. This is then compared to the bank lending
facilities currently committed and expected to be available to
the Group.



Following the sale of the RSS and Healthcare business in 2023
the centinuing requirements of the Group has been assessed
in line with revised profit and cash flow plans and bank lending
facilities. )

Also considered is the projection of compliznce with the
financial covenants implied by these plans. In addition, these
figures are tested for sensitivity to possible changes to the
economic environments in which the Giuup uperdtas. The
Group has no oparations in Ukraine or surrounding regions

and therefore there is no direct impact on the Group’s trading.
However, any indirect impact, such as a worsening in sconomic
conditions, would represent such a sensitivity.

The impact on Group liquidity and covenants of each of these
sensitivities is then evalusted together with the likelihood of
each of these cccurning either individually or in combination.

Cn a regular basis, and at lsast quarterly, the Board reviews
updated projections of future borrowing requirements, facility
usage and resulting headroom, together with projected
covenant compliance; these are based upon the latest actual
results and borrowing pasition supplemented by regularly
updated profit forecasts. Based on the above, the Directors
consider it appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the financial statements.

Dividends and share buyback

Approval was gained at the 2021 AGM to cammence an
updated programme authorising the Board to purchase up to a
maximum of 4,560,363 shares, representing 10% of the issued
Crdinary share capital of the Company (as at 17 May 2021)

until the earliest of the 2022 AGM or 30 June 2022. Under this
programme a total of 188,255 shares were purchased at a value
of £0.8m in 2022.

An updated programme was approved at the 2022 AGM
authorising the purchase of a maximum of £0.5m ot Ordinary
shares (by market value) per calendar month until the 2023
AGM. Under this programme a total of 65,360 shares were
purchased at a value £0.4m in 2022. A further 106,597 shares
have been purchased in 2023 at a value of £ECG.7m.
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On the 8 November 2022 the Board announced a special
dividend of 55.4p per share, amounting to £25m, which was
paid on 9 December 2022, On 22 December 2022 the Board
announced a second special dividend of 55.4p per share,
amounting to £25m, which was paid on 27 January 2023.

On 3 March 2023 the Board anncunced a further special
dividend in connection with the sale of the RSS and Healthcare
businesses ot /7.8p per share, amounting to £356m to be paid on
& April 2023.

See note 33 Post Balance Sheet Events — Important Information.

Insurance

The Group maintains a comprehansive insurance programme
with several reputable third-party underwriters. Insurance is
brekered at a Group level The Group’s insurance policies are
reviewed and updated annually to ensure that there is adequate
cover for insurable risks and that the terms of those policies

are optimised.

OQutlook

We experienced positive trading conditions in 2022 supported
by the investrments made in revenue generating headcount in
2021 and through 2022 whilst maintaining our focus on cost
management. Operational cash flow was strong with further
improvements in DSO which enabled an underlying reduction
in borrowings and facility levels. This positive cash flow also
facilitated returns to shareholders with special dividends
totalling £50m paid or proposed during the year. The strategic
disposal of the RSS and Healthcare businesses in March

2022 and the cash received, net of a further distribution of
shareholders of £35m, will further baolster this position.

Tim Briant
Group Chief Financial Officer
27 April 2023
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Principal risks

We recognise that effective risk management is fundamental to delivery of the Group’s strategic
objectives. Each business segment considers strategic, operational and financial risks on a
regular basis, evaluates existing controls and identifies further acticns required to mitigate risks.
Risks that are considered significant at Group level are set out below.

Threat

Mitigation

Status }

Strategic risks

Economic environment

Global and regional econamic conditions can be affected by
numerous factors, including political change or unrest, pandemic
disease and weather svents.

Economic uncertainty continues in most naticns due to the Ukrainian
conflict and political instability in other countries which is clearty a
significant risk to our ability to maintain and grow gross profit, either
through reduced requirements for temporary staff, by discouraging
clients to hire permanent staff, or by encouraging clients to adopt
lower cost delivery options.

As a result of the pandermic and the conflict in Ukraine, we are

now seeing rising inflation and interest rates which will cause more
uncertainty for clients and candidates.

Geographical diversity and the Group’s mixed portfolio
of Managed Services and STEM businesses mitigate
the potential impacts of economic changes in specific
regions. Risk is further mitigated by the diversity of
sectars in which the Group’s clients operate and close
management of operating costs across all brands and
functions.

Wage inflation will be incorporated inte our billing rates,
pricing strategy and governance where it is not already
included in the contract.

We have completed our refinancing to December 2024.
This provides a level of fixed interest rate costs over
this period.

H@®

Political environment

During the pandemic regional governments applied varying financial
stimuli. Countries are now reducing these through fiscal easing and
tax rises,

There is alsc increased political uncertainty in Eastern Europe,
particularly with the current conflict in Ukraine which could have
wider conseguences for Western Europe.

In the public sector, angoing financial constraints may Imit growth
and/or create pressure on margins on existing business.

Management continues to monitor the situation and
client contracts allow all state-related pay increases to
be charged cn.

The Group continues to manitor political-related
exposures and developments, and communicate with
clients, employed staff and candidates where applicable.
The Group has no operations in Ukraine or surrcunding
regions so there is no direct impact on our trading at
this time.

Cur diverse pertfolio allows us to pivot our services to
support public sector demands.

Attractirig and retaining talent

Any constraints on the Group's ability to attract and retain key talent in
an increasingly competitive market could result in loss or weakening
of client reiationships, lack of appropriate leadership and/or erosion of
the Group's talent base. impacting achievement of financial and other
objectives.

Wage inflation 15 increasing for both colleagues and candidates
and we must ensure the business operates in line with market
expectations,

Planned business transformation initiatives will create a need for new
skill sets in the Group in the medium term. Factors such as Brexit and
changes to UK immigration rutes may impact on the availability of
taient more generally.

In 2021, to support investment N aur peaple, we
developed an ambitious three-year Pecple Strategy.

Significant leadership appointments were made in the
areas of culture, equity, diversity and inclusion (ED&I),
tatent acquisition and development and reward and
recognition.

The Group’s high-retention business model ensures

that brands and central functions are focused on talent
management and development, performance review and
succession planning.

Leadership developmeant pragrammes are in place and
the Group’s culture of Virtuosity encourages talent
development and progression.

The Group's ED&I policy is outlined on page 35.

M®
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Risk trend

H: High risk

M: Medium risk

L: Low risk

@ Increased compared to 2620
@ Stable compared to 2020

@ Decreased compared to 2020

Threat

Status

Mitigation

Customer concentration

General decline in a particular industry sector, loss of a key customer
ora significant reduction in business velume on a key account could
result in reduced revenue and/or increased pressure on gross profit

Management, enabled by the Group’s Customer Office,
reviews market conditions and sales and account
management pipelines on an ongoing basis. ‘Top
customer’ reporting includes analysis by sector and
geography, highlighting any emerging exposures.

H®

Management also hold regular meetings with key
customers to discuss sales pipelines, current service
performance and opportunities to add new service
lines or extend existing services. All clients are assessed
and credit checked prior to trading, and we hold credit
insurance across the Group.

Delivery of strategic projects

The Group is committed to investing in a range of strategic
transformation projects, such as Digital Core Systems that will drive
revenue growth and/or improve operational efficiency. Failure to
operate rigorous control and oversight of such projects may resultin
returns on such investment being lower than expected.

Strategic projects, each cwned by a senicr leader directly M 0
accountable to the Group CEQ, are managed using

a bespake |T platfarm that monitors progress against

commitments.

A Group Project Management Office (PMO) oversees and
governs our key strategic projects.

Disruptive technology

Use of digital technologies in the recruitment market is expanding
rapidly and disrupting “traditicnal” people-based processes. This trend
is expected to accelerate as new technologies are developed and
enable new ways of working.

The relevance of relationships between candidates, clients and
recruitment agencies are continually changing and any failure by
the Group to adapt its business mode! appropriately could lead to
competitive disadvantage.

The Group actively monitors and assesses emerging
technolcgies through both IT and Crigin, cur innovation
hub. The Crigin team works closely with the Virtuoso
Alliance, IT and across regions. Origin runs pitots and
experiments and partners with new service providers.
Now under single, global leadership, Digital & Innovaticn
brings together cur customer-facing technology solutions
under one compelling proposition. We continue to invest
in proprietary technology and third-party partnerships.

M®

The Group began implementing the strategic IT Readmap
during 2021, with key deliverables due in 2022 and
through 2023. The ‘Digital Core’is a substantive rolling
replacement for some of our sales, operational and
finance systemns.

We completed the first phase of this programme during
2021, with initial deplayment to business users in Q4,
followed by a roll-out programme during 2022 which

will continue into 2023. The implementation of new
systems in the UK STEM business was completed in
2022, We aiso moved many of our existing systems to the
cloud and exited a large on-prermises data centre saving
property and technology costs. The Roadmap will now
be refined to incorporate the disposal of the RSS and
Healthcare businesses.
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Principal risks continued

Threat

Mitigation

Status r

Operational risks

Technology systems

The Group is reliant on many different technotogy systems that may
have limited useful life in a fast-changing business environment.
The legacy nature of some systerms may also hinder optimisation of
end-to-end business progesses

Systems may also be vuinerable to factors beyond the Group's control,
e.g. power failures or internet connectivity cutages.

The Group has a stable systems infrastructure and an
ongoing [T investment programme. Core systems are
replicated across two geographically separate data
centres and regular monitoring of systems performance
is undortaken

In 2021 the Group introduced an |1 Governance process
which continues to operate. The business disposals during
2022 and 2023 will reduce the number of technalogy
systems and reduce the systermns landscape.

H®

Cyber and information security

The risk of external cyber-attacks continues to increase. A successful
attack could result in loss of sensitive data, business disruption
and/or damage 1o the Group's reputation.

The ongoing political situation in Fastern Eurcpe has increased this
risk to NATO member countries.

A programme to enhance security of the Group's
systems against cyber-attack has been implementad.
Ongoing manitoring is in place and regular exercises are
undertaken. The Group is 1ISO27001 and Cyber Essentials
Plus accredited.

GDPR was impiemented across the relevant parts of the
Group in 2018 and annual training courses have to be
completed by all staff to ensure compliance with GDPR
and cyber palicies.

H®

Business continuity

A major disruptive event, such as a fire, severe weather or the Covid-18
pandemic affecting one or more of the Group’s operating locations,
could lead 1o loss of business and/or adverse impacts on staff and
assets.

Comprehensive systems and operational business

continuity plans are in place and tested on a regular basis.

These are updated at least annually.

Fo\low}ﬂg the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has had
three years of working in & hybrid remote environment
which has demonstrated the resilience of the business
and ability to implement its business continuity plans.
The business disposals during 2022 and 2023 will reduce
the complexity of the business and potential for systems
and operational disruption.

Service and contractual complexity

In certain markets, the Group’s clients are becoming increasingly
sophisticated in their procurement and buying activity.

Competitive tendering activity and commercial contracts are
becoming increasingly complex, with longer lead times in decision-
making. This necessitates constant development of the Group’s
service offer, the sophistication of our selling activities and the
management of tendering processes.

Complexity and changing client requirements also present challenges

around measuring and monitoring service delivery and compliance
with contract SLAs.

The Group has a standardised contract review process
in place involving operational, commercial and legal
oversight.

The Group also continues to invest in specialist resource
to support business development, implementation and
service delivery activities.
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Threat Mitigation Status

Regulatory, compliance and financial risks

Regulatory environment Legal, Finance and Compliance functions at both Group M 0
and brand levels menitor risks and compliance, taking

Regulatory changes can lead to increased costs and workload, . ;
appropriate action where necegsary.

particularly where they relate to candidates’ rights, eligibility to work or

corporate reporting, e.g. payment practices, diversity. Appropriate policies and codes of canduct are in place
I'he extension of Off Payroll Working regulations to the private sector EZTEZSQT;SGrOUp and regular training is provided to

in the UK in April 2021 has caused scme short-term disruption as both ) )
clients and contractors adapted. Process and system changes required to ensure effective
management of Off Payroll Working changes have been

In the US, th licati d int £i f the Fair Lab . 5 .
5, the application ana interpretation of the Fair Labour identified and have been implemented.

Standards Act (FLSA} results in the potential risk of claims.
External professional advice is sought where insufficient

In the UK th isk: ciated with th lication of Natianal : .
K there are risks associ It the application I knowledge exists within the Group.

Minimum Wage (NMW) as well as regulations associated with
operating in the Healthcars sector. The business disposals in 2022 and 2023 will reduce
levels of complexity and risks of non-compliance,
particutarly associated with the National Minimum Wage
and Healthcare regulations.

Expansian into new geographies in support of clients’ needs brings
exposure to unfamiliar regulatory environments.

Cash and liquidity management The Group has a central Treasury function in place with M Q

N s lar f ti i i ed
Poar cash and liquidity management along with rising interest regular forecasting, reparting and review procedures.

rates may result in pressure on the Group’s credit facilities and/or The Group also maintains a revolving credit facility with
operaticnal cash flow issues. a syndicate of banks to provide additional fexibility in
its funding arrangements. This was renewed at the end
of 2021 for & further three years to December 2024 with
the option tc extend for a further two years.
A Group Credit Policy sets out the policies and
procedures that must be implemented across the Group
to mitigate credit rigk.

Financial control The Group operates several shared services arrangements M e
where transaction processing end management

A failure of financial control could lead to a material loss to . ) )
accounting are independent of operations.

the business.
A clearly defined schedule of delegated authority limits
for various types of decisions and transactions is in place
and appropriate segregation of duties is maintained in all
finance processes.
Key business processes are subject to pericdic internal
audit review with clearly defined action plans established
to address any control weaknesses.
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Stakeholder engagement and our $172 statement

Introduction

Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 requires Directors

to take into consideration the interests of stakeholders and
other matters in their decision-making. We believe we have a
history of collaborative, informative stakeholder engagement,
and make decisions based on long-term success, whilst
maintaining governance structures and processes that support
good decision-making

This section articulates how the Directors have actad to
promote the success of the Group for the benefit of its
stakeholders. In meating this responsibility, the Directors have
had regard, amongst other matters, to:

a. the likely consequences of any decisions in the leng term;
b. the interests of the Group’s colleagues;

c. the need to foster the Group’s business relationships with
suppliers, customers, candidates and others;

d. the impact of the Group's operations on the community
and environment;

a. the Group's reputation for high standards of business
conduct; and

f. the need to act fairly between members of the Group.

Stakeholder engagement

Impellam’s stakehclders are clients, candidates, colleagues,
suppliers, investors and lenders and the Beard recognises the
need to regularly engage with its stakeholders as it makes
decisions. We develop and encourage long-term relationships
with our stakeholcders based upon Impellam’s vision “to be

the world’s most trusted workforce and specialist recruitment
solutions group — trusted by our people, our clients and our
investors in equal measure’.

As part of this vision, our stakeholders’ interests are at the
lorefront when the Board of Directors set the strategic priorities
of the Group. The strategic pricrities: Enabling our Virtuosos,
Transforming cur Portfolic: and Improving Resilience ~ include
consideration of the key stakeholder groups and how we
engage with them. '

In addition to regular stakeholder engagement, as the Board of
Directers, our intention is to consider our operational impacts
on the community and envirocnment, and our wider societal
responsibilities, in particular, how we impact the regions we
serve. We support cur cornmunities by finding them good
work, supporting local corperate social responsibility initiatives,
and ensuring cur impact cn the envirenment is minimal, as
demonstrated by our 150 14001 accreditation.
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Principal decisions in 2022

The Board considered the interests of, and the impact on, all
stakeholders when making a number of key decisions during
the year.

Sale of Corestaff

On 24 January 2022 we announced the sale of Carestaff, our
US-based Light Industrial business to swipejobs Inc., a US
private digital staffing business.

Stakeholder considerations:
Colleagues

By combining market-leading technology with the deep heritage
and staffing know-how of the Corestaff teams, the transaction
allows Corestaff to expand its service offering and reach in

a highly competitive market. For remaining colleagues the
business is focused on the strategic growth areas of STEM

and GMS.

Clients, candidates and suppliers

The transaction will give enhanced geographic reach which wiil
penefit our clients, candidates and suppliers and continue to
deliver effective services and results.

Investers and lenders

The proceeds of the sale will be used to pay down net debt®
and return value to our sharehclders and manage our lender
reguirements.

Cur business in North America can focus on our digitally enabled,
high-value STEM and Global Managed Services markets.

Qutcome

Due to the scale and limited geographic footprint of Corestaff
in North America, we consider our coileagues and clients will
benefit from enhanced geographic reach for their light industrial
staffing requirements coupled with an accelerated digital
transformation enabled by the sale.



Sale of regional specialist staffing and
healthcare businesses

On 30 January 2023 we announced the agreement to sell our
Regional Specialist Staffing businesses in the UK (Blue Arrow,
Tate, Chadwick Nott, Career Teachers) and our Healthcare
Staffing business in the UK, Ireland and APAC (Medacs Global
Group) to Twenty2( Capital, one of Europe’s largest specialist
investrment funds focused in the human capital services sector.
The sale completed on 3 March 2023.

Stakeholder considerations:
Colleagues

Colleagues will benefit from being part of 2 more focused
global workforce ang specialist recruitment group business
with opportunities to invest in people and technology,
customer solutions and ways of working suited to the sectors
within which they operate.

Clients, candidates and suppliers

The ongoing, more focused portfolio will enhance interaction
with clients, candidates and suppliers and allow further
investments in technology and people which will enhance
our STEM and Global Managed Services offering.

Investors and lenders

The proceeds of the sale will be used to return value to our
shareholders as dividend payments and pay down net debt* to
manage our lender requirements and reinvest in the business.

Qutcome

The rermatning Group will benefit from being more focused on
key growth markets and verticals creating increased agility and
efficiency to deliver higher margims and return on capital. The
Group is naw a digitaily enabled and collaborative workforce
solutions and specialist recruitment group dedicated to
Managed Services and STEM.
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Special dividend

During the year two special dividends were declared which will
return £560m to shareholders. This follows a five-year period
where no dividends have been declared or paid.

Stakeholder considerations:
Colileagues

The financial performance of the Group is key to colleague
retention and ongoing investment and the special dividend
recqognises our commitment to deliver to our people,
customers and investors,

Clients, candidates and suppliers

Whilst not having a direct impact on this group the declaration
of a dividend should build market confidence for all cur
stakeholders as a strong reffection of the financial stability of
the Group.

Investors and landers

The declaration of a special dividend returns value directly to the
shareholders, providing them and the market with confidence in
the Group’s ability to return value on investments. The lenders
have reduced exposure due to the reduction in the revolving
credit facility which reflects the smaller size of the Group.

Qutcome

The first dividend (£25m) was paid in November 2022, with the
second (£25m} paid in January 2023. A further specis! dividend
of £35m was declared with the announcement of the sale of
RSS and MGG and will be due for payment in March 2023,
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Stakeholder engagement and our $172 statement continued

Stakeholder
group

Why they are
important

How we
engage

Clients

We wark with our clients to find people
for good work to help them build better
businesses We retain thom, continuwng tu
understand their evolving reguirements

We review client satisfaction and our
performance either guarterly, biannually, or
annually. This is supported by feedback via
face-to-face meetings, Net Promater Scores
and surveys.

Colleagues

Qur colleagues are fundamental to the delivery
of our vision, mission, strategic and financial
promises to aur stakeholders.

Qur mechanisms for engaging with colleagues
include: a shadow board, the Virtuoso Alliance,
colleague councils across the Group, surveys,
Net Promoter Scores and Best Companies’
surveys, our communication and ccllaboration
platform, Workplace, town hall meetings and our
global newsletter, Strategy in Action.

Candidates

Through the power of work our mission as a
business is to 'build better businaesses and help
people lead more fulfilling lives” which includes
the people we provide good work for, through
to our customers.

We engage with our candidates through
face-to-face and virtual meetings and by using
Net Promoter Scores, real-time feedback and
surveys, via our websites and apps that digitise
the job-seeking process.

Suppliers

We depend on a complex network of partners
to meet our needs — whether they are
supplying stationery or finding pecple for our
customer programmes. We place the highest
expectations on our supply chain and, in turn,
we treat them as real partners.

All suppliers are expected to abide by our
Supplier Code of Conduct. in 2020, we
introduced audits of key suppliers not only to
measure their progress against the Code of
Conduct but also to give them coaching and
guidance, where necessary, in achieving the
standards we expect.

Investors and
lenders

Access to capital through the capital markets
and our lenders is important to the long-term
success of our business.

The Board has reguiar meetings with our
institutional investors and lenders to explain the
Company’s strategy, progress and plans, and to
share how we are addressing market challenges.

The Annual General Meeting is open to all
investors.

Shareholders can view reievant information
about Impellam in the Investors section of
impellam.com.
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Responsible
Business

Our commitment to sustainability
underpins aur responsibility to
build long-term value for all our
stakeholders, supported by sound
policies, good governance and
positive actions.

People and culture
Colleague engagement and communications

Al 2,000 Impellam people across the world are connected

by Workplace, an internal social network. Waorkplace
combines the structure of a traditional intranet with the
capabilities of Enterprise-wide Social Networking software: a
place to organise and disseminate information securaly, and
where our pecple can connect, communicate and collabarate.
Our Group CEQ holds quarterly strategy briefings with all our
people and connects with them on a regular basis through
Workplace, using videc and written updates, wellbeing
check-ins, a monthly newsletter, live Q&A sessions, and other
multimedia to provide strategic information and financial
updates. Qur managers hold regular one-to-one meetings with
their people in addition to team meetings, wider business-area
conferences and town halls to facilitate sharing of information,
consultation, and two-way communication, supported by toals
like OpenBlend, a coaching platform.

The Virtuoso Alliance (cur shadow board) operates alongside
the Leadership Tearn to provide apinions, ideas, insight

and observations on the world in which we operate. Its 12
members make sure our Group CEO and the Leadership
Team remain connacted to our colleagues and, in turn, our
customers and candidates. The Impellam communications
model and associated technology means we can connect with
our colleagues quickly, wherever they are. The platform and
communication strategy facilitates faster knowledge sharing,
communication and collaboration. This dynamic approach

to communications is key to our strategy and culture of
enabling our Virtucgos to achieve our vision of becoming

the world’'s most trusted staffing company.
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Equality, diversity and inclusion (ED&I)

We zactively encourage diversity in the workplace and have a
wide and varied colleague base with a variety of social and
ethnic groups represented at all levels of the business. We
believe that breaking down the barriers that have traditionally
restricted access to the labour market will encourage job
opportunities for all. Our Business Resource Groups (BRG) and
Unity Council include representation from our key regions:
North America, APAC, and UK & Europe. Under the direction
and leadership of ocur Group CEO the BRGs bring together
£D&! leadership and governance balanced with Group-wide,
regional and brand-specific actions. Our strategy is based an
data, qualitative intelligence from a global survey, participation
from regional committees and aims to make Impellam a

more diverse and inclusive business wherever we operate.

We continue to be recognised for our ED&| efforts receiving
several accolades in the year. In 2022, Guidant Global was
ranked as the top EMEA talent solutions provider for diversity
and inclusion (D&I) in the TALINT Partners Talert Solutions
Power List as well as being named Disability Confident Leader.

Training

We provide our people with a multi-faceted and agile
development pathway to enable high performance and
increase retention of our people and customers alike.

Qur approach to sustainable development is through fostering
a culture of curiosity. We offer a blend of digital ‘on demand’
learning complemented by live digital coaching and in-person
resources. The ‘Initiste and ‘Enhance’ learning collections
encourage people to be freed from old habits, unlock their
potential, and thrive through change. in 2022, we refreshed our
leadership development pregramme and launched the ‘Inspire
Collection’. As a result, 65% of our managers have embarked
on this perscnalised iearning journey focusing on the key areas
of Virtuoso leadership - emotional intelligence, coaching and
leading change.

2,0

Impellam people across the world.
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Responsible business report continued

Our culture of Virtuosity

At the heart of our integrated, collaborative business model is

a virtuous circle of making and keeping promises, engendering
trust and loyalty. By keeping our promises, we retain clients,
candidates, colleagues and investors for longer, and reap the
benefits of that longevity. Qur culture of Virtuosity is created

by passionate people who are committed and driven to find
better ways to deiiver the right sclutions. We make sure that the
‘Beautiful Basics’ are in place and deeply embedded in all vl vur
businesses, all of the time, and we invest to sustain and enhance
our business, underpinned by innovation in our combined
portfolio of services.

Modern slavery

As part of the Group’s mission to find people fulfilling work,
we strongly oppose maodern slavary in all its forms and will try
to prevent it by any means that we can. We expect anyone
who has any suspicions of modern slavery in our business or
our supgply chain to raise their concerns without delay. In line
with the Modern Slavery Act 2015, we annually review internal
and external measures to ensure we are doing what we can to
prevent slavery and human trafficking in our businesses and

in our supply chains. Qur policy is available on our website at
www.impellam.com.

Health and safety

We are committed to meeting all the requirements of relevant
health and safety legislation. Formal policies are in place
throughout the Group and they are regularly reviewed and
updated to reflect changes in legislation and best practice.
The Group requires all colleagues to comply with these.

Anti-bribery

We have a commitment to carrying out business fairly, honestly
and openly. We alsc have zero tolerance towards bribery.

Qur Bribery Policy is in place to provide relevant guidance and
information to all our people in compliance with the law ralating
to bribery and carruption, in particular the Bribery Act 2010

{‘the Act’). We are determined to maintain our reputation as a
business that will not tolerate fraudulent or corrupt dealings —
whether they are attempted against us from outside, from within
our own workfarce, or towards our clients or suppliers.

Community

Impellam brands individually work with charities that support
local communities and come together as a group when a big
impact is needed.
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Following the invasion of Ukraine, Impellam people quickly
mobilised a cross-brand taskforce to help displaced Ukrainian
people find jobs in the UK. A digital campaign was quickly
launched, complete with a chatbot in Ukrainian, and a Ukrainian
national was brought into the team to provide additional support
to those arriving in the UK with CV writing and interviews, Many
people have been supported to navigate job seeking in & new
country. All profit from placing refugees, combined with an
employce doratiun match scheme, has generated £27k for the
International Red Cross.

Othar community support initiatives have included inspiring
the next generation of STEM talent with school visits, mock
interviews and learning to code, work with HMP Drake Hall on
inmate rehabllitation, taking part in Impellam-sponsored Pride
marches and cleaning beaches in the UK and Australia.

Impellam people have an additional day of paid leave that they
can use specifically for volunteering. They have used this time
to raise money for charities through running, swimming, cycling
and walking, as well as making donations to foodbanks arcund
the UK to help with the cost-of-living crisis.

A colleague from Guidant Giobal beat his own world-record
finishing time for completing the London Marathon in a non-
racing wheelchair, raising money for WhizzKids.

Environment

Although we are a service-based organisation with no
manufacturing facilities and limited transportation requirements,
wa are still committed to following environmental best practices
in the day-to-day conduct of our business. This inciudes the

use of sustainable and/cr recyclable materials when available.

A regular review of the potential impacts on the various
businesses is undertaken and parts of the Group have achieved
accreditation to 1ISO 14001in relation to their envircnment
management systems.

2022 energy and carbon reporting

This year we have calculated our environmental impact across
Scope 1, 2 and 3 (selected categories) emission sources for
the UK only. Cur emissions are presented on a location basis
{using the UK grid emissions intensity) and our emissions are
894,249 kgCOye (2021: 969,569 kgCOse), which is an average
impact of 442 kgCQ.e per Em revenue (2021: 582 kgCOqe per
£m). We have calculated the emission intensity metrics on both
a revenue and colleague basis, which we will monitor to track
performance in cur subsequent environmental disclosures.
The methodology used to calculate the Greenhouse Gas
{GHG) emissions is in accordance with the UK Government
GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting (2022).



Energy and carbon action

Qur fogus in the past year has been te extend and encourage
warking behaviours that are less impactful, which has resultad
in us being able to continue to rationalise our property foctprint
which continues to decrease as leases expire. Where the need
for a physical location remains, we have looked to share spaces
across multiple operating businesses and increasingly utilise
serviced offices and workspaces. Most businesses have also
reduced the amount of time they're physically in the offices,
which itself drives reductions in energy consumption.

Whilst not directly affecting the Scope 2 emissions reporting,
the Group completed its first full financial year of purchasing
100% renewable electricity generated only through wind, solar
and hydro for all of its UK operations.

The business has also had in place an electric vehicle salary
sacrifice scheme available to all UK employees and to support
this initiative have invested in and instalied nine EV Charging
Points at the UK Head Office.

Finally, the Group intends to fulfil its promise of achieving
Carbon Neutrality and we will be offsetting our carbon
emissians as stated above utilising the PAS2060 framework
which will be published on our website in due course.

The business remains committed to achieving Net Zero

by 2050 and work will continue on the development and
delivery of a Net Zero strategy this year. The Group will

also continue to implement and formalise new precessas in
preparation for our first TCFD reporting cycle in 2024, as well
as participating and reporting under the third phase of the
Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme (ESOS) throughout the
year. The businass will continue its process of removing all
company provided vehicles with the aim of having no owned
or leased vehicles by the end of 2023 and will continue to
offer the FV scheme te all employees.
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Emissions and energy usage

Emission source 2022 2021

Scope 1(kgCQOze) Company and

leased vehicles

198,801 99,6566

(Gas combustion 185,295 237,835
Total Scope 1 384,096 337,49
(kgCOze)
Scope 2 (kgCO.e) Electricity 283,044 576,976
Scope 3 (kgCOe} Colleague cars 227,109 55,102
Total kgCO.e 894,249 969,569
Total energy 4,299,344 4,631,709
usage (kWh)
Normaliser kgCOse per 442 582

£m revenue

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
(TCFD)

TCFD reporting is important to effective ESG and climate

risk management. It will also help us to meet the growing
stakeholder demand to understand how climate change could
affect impellam as well as the effects our operations have on
the climate.

In 2022 we continue the initial steps on the rcadmap to TCFD
reporting and will include the required TCFD disclosuras

when Impellam falls in scope for the financial year 2023, The
Group will continue to monitor the significance of climate-
related risks (including existing and emerging regulatory
reguirements), implemant mitigating activities, and disclose in
line with materiaiity to the Group. At present, these risks are not
considered to have a material impact for the Group.

This Strategic report from pages 1to 37 was approved by the
Board on 27 April 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

L

Tim Briant
Company Secretary

800 The Boulevard,
Capability Graeen,
Luton,

Bedfordshire

LUt 3BA
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The primary responsibility
of the Chair is to lead the
Board effectively and this
includes overseeing the
adoption, delivery and
communication of the
Company’s corporate
governance model.

Corporate governance
rt
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Governance report

Corporate governance

The Chair ensures that the Board as a whole plays a full and its own review and decision-making while other responsibilities
constructive part in the development and determination of the are delegated to sub-Committees of the Board, namely the
Company's strategy and overall commercial objcctives. Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committae. As a

company whose shares are traded on the AIM market of the
The Beard has overall responsibility for Corporate governance London Stock Exchange, the Company complias with the
within the Group and this is underpinned by a framework Quoted Companies Alliance (QCA’) Corporate Governance
aligned to the aligned to the Company’s objectives, strategy Cede ('the Code’) and its Staterment of Compliance with the
and business modet and to the principal risks and uncertainties Code can be found on the Company website

faced by the Company. The full Board retains certain matters for  www.investors.impellam.com/corporate-governance/

Audit Committee Board of Directors Remuneration Committee

& Oversees the Group's internal risk e Monitors and reviews the strategy s Sets, reviews and recommends
and controls strategy, including and its development, the financial to the Board remuneration
whistleblowing arrangements and operational performance of the for Directors and other senior

® Reviews the Annual Report and Company and risk management executives, and sets overall
interim financial statements prior to e Monitors and reviews internal and remuneration strategy and policy
submission to the full Board external factors that affect the @ for the Group

® Reviews reparts from the external Company
auditor » Sets standards, values and policies.

® Reviews the Group’s risk register e Ensures the Company is meeting

® Approves financial policies its objectives and has the correct

® Sets and reviews the activities of resources in place

Approves financial policies
Reports to shareholders
‘ . Oversees internal controls B 7 )
@ Audit Committee Responsible for corporata g Remuneration Committee
page_46 page_48

governance

Strategy and Development Team (VUCA)

* Devises the Group strategy and financial plan for approval by the Board

* Approves the strategic and financial plans of the sub-brands and Divisions and monitors the implementation and delivery of those plans

& VUCA (Volatile, Uncertain, Complexity, Ambiguity) focuses on Impellam’s overriding strategic and financial promises for the mid-long
term and the chaflenges and opportunities the team sees to achieve the promises

&

intgrnal audit

*« " o0

Senior Virtuoso Team Investment

Leadership Team {Virtuoso Alliance) Committee

» Responsible for the day-to-day » Provides advice, guidance and a fresh * Reviews and monitors strategic
management of the Group and its perspective to the Group CEQ, our investments and makes investment
cperations Executive Team and Board on our decisions

¢ Implementation of the strategy and strategic priorities and their impact
financial plan on the business, our customers, the

industry and the wider world of work
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Board of Directors

Lord Ashcroft KCMG PC
Non-Executive Chairman
Appointed: December 2014

Julia Robertson
Group Chief Executive Officer
Appeinted: April 2013

Lord Ashcroft is an international businessman, philanthropist,
author and pollster. His many, varied business interests include
significant investments and participatiun in bolh public and
private companies in the UK, US and the Caribbean. He was
appointed Non-Executive Chairman of the Company in December
2014, In 2012, he was appeinted a member of the Privy Council
and was made the Prime Minister’s Special Representative for
Veterans’ Transition, working with all departments to ensure
military personnel receive the support they need when making the
transition to civilian life. He stepped down from this role in 2018.
Lora Ashcroft supports a wide range of charities, inciuding those
dealing with crime prevention and education. He is the founder
and Chairman of Trustees of bath Crimestoppers and the Ashcroft
Technology Academy, a former Patron of the Forces in Mind Trust
Research Centre, Vice Patron of the Intelligence Corps Museum,
a Trustee of the Cleveland Clinic in the US and a Life Governor of
the Royal Humane Society. He resigned from the House of Lords
in 2015 to concentrate on other areas of his wark. He is a former
Trustee and President of the West India Committee, a former
Trustee of Imperial War Museumns and farmer Chancellor of Anglia
Ruskin University (which awarded him an Honorary Doctorate in
1399). In 2016, Lord Ashcroft was made Knight Grand Cross of the
Most Sacred Order of the Holy Trinity (Ethiopia) and a Fellow of
the Royal Canadian Geographical Society. in 2017, he was made a
Senior Fellow of the International Strategic Studies Association and
in the same year he became an Honerary Belize Rotarian. In 2021
he was promoted to Grand Collar of the Most Sacred Order of the
Haly Trinity (Ethiopia). He has written 26 books, mainly on politics
and bravery, and is widely respected for his political polling.

Julia Robertson was appointed as Group Chief Executive Officer in
April 2013 having previously been responsible for the Group's 11K
cperations between 2008 and 2013. Julia's career in recruitment’
spans some four decades, always driven by the burning belief that
there has to be a ‘better way’ This belief has guided her through
her entire career which has included founding her own recruitment
business in 1986 which was sold to the Group alongside Tate

in 2000, and also serving as Chief Executive of the Institute of
Employment Consultants (now known as the REC), the professional
body for the UK recruitment industry.

Tim Briant

Chief Financial Officer and
Group Company Secretary
Appointed: February 2020

Mike Ettling
Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed: Septembear 2013

O

Tim Briant joined the Groug on 1 October 2019 and was appointed
to the Board on 3 February 2020 as the Group Chief Financial
Officer. Tim is a Chartered Accountant and has over ten years’
experience working within the recruitment sector within listed and
private equity backed global recruitment companies. Tim spent
over ten years at Adecco in a number of finance roles, eventually
becoming CFQ of Adecco UK and lrefand. Prior to this Tim worked
for Spring Group pic, a listed recruitment company, where he was
Group Financial Controller and Company Secretary and played

a key role in its acquisition by Adecco. Prior to this Tim worked

at KPMG in audit and trangaction services. Tim has a strong
background in mergers ang acquisitions and business integration
having been invalved in the disposal and subsequent integration of
Spring Group plc to Adecco and the acquisition and integration of
Penna pic by Adecco.

lim Briant was appointed as Company Secretary on 3 March 2023,

Mike Ettling was appainted a Non-Executive Director of the
Company in September 2013, With strong sector and non-
executive experience, Mike was President of SAP-Success factors
globally. He has had an extensive executive career in globai
techneiogy businesses including at NGA HR, Unisys, Synstar and
EDS and was formerly a Non-Executive Director of Backoffice
Associates LLC, a US PE-backed data business, and alsa formerly
a Non-Executive Director of Telkom BCX Ltd, a South African IT
and telecommunications business. Mike is currently CEQ of Unit4,
a world leader in enterprise applications for services and people
organisations. He is alsc a Non-Executive Director of NCC Group
PLC, a London listed cyber security business.
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. Audit Commitiee O Chair of Audit Committee
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. Remuneration Committee O Chair of Remuneration Committee

Angela Entwistle
Non-Executive Director
-Appointed: September 2012

C

Michael Laurie
Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed: July 2014

Angela Entwistle was appointed a Non-Executive Director

of the Company in September 2012. Angela is A Corporate
Communications Specialist working with companies in the private
sector. She is Chair of Total Politics, a media, events and training
company focused on politics, government and public policy

which also owns Biteback Publishing Limited, Britain's leading
publisher of political and current affairs titles and Conservative
Home, Britain's leading independent conservative news, comment,
analysis and campaigns blog. She is a Non-Executive Director

of Carlisle Support Services, one of the leading suppliers of
value-added sclutions across the public and private sectors in

the UK and Ireland and a Non-Executive Director of Merit Group
plc, a data and intelligence business. Angela was Corporate
Communications Director of ADT Limited, an international business
services company and the world’s leader in electronic security
solutions, from 1986 tc 1997, Angela is significantly involved In a
number of charities including acting as Trustee and Deputy Chair
of Crimestoppers, the only UK charity dedicated to solving crimes,
and Trustee of Prospect Education (Technology} Trust Limited,

the umbrella charity of the Ashcroft Technology Academy. Angela
15 not considered to be independent due to her links with the
major shareholder.

Michael Laurie was appointed a Non-Executive Director of the
Caompany it duly 284, He is ziso Non-Executive Chairman of
SUSD Limited, a property development company that promotes
sustainable architecture. Michael was an army officer for 34 years.
He held the roie of Major General at the Ministry of Defence until
2003, when he became the CEQ of the Crimestoppers Trust,
retiring from that position in 2013.

Baroness Tina Stowell of Beeston MBE PC
Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed: October 2017

Rebecca Watson

Group Company Secretary and
General Counsel and Portfolio CEQ

Appointed: May 2008; Resigned: March 2023

Tina Stowell has held a number of senior positions in media and
government throughout her career. Since 2011, she has been a
mamber of the House of Lords and was Leader of the House from
2014 to 2076, Before entering the House of Lords, she worked

at the BBC between 2001 and 2010 and was Head of Corporate
Affairs. She is a Non-Executive Director of ABTA and was
Chairman of the Charity Commission for England and Wales until
February 2021

Rebecca Watsen was appointed as Group Company Secretary

and General Counsel of the Company in May 2008. She spent the
previous five years as Company Secretary and General Counsel for
The Carparate Services Group Ple, having joined the Group in 1998
as Company Soliciter. In addition, in July 2018 she was appointed
Portfolioc CEC responsible for the Regional Specialist Staffing
brands within the Group. Prior to this, she was in a private practice,
acting for a range of corporate clients. She has been a qualified
solicitor since 1993,

Rebecca resigned as Group Company Secretary on 3 March 2023
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Corporate governance statement continued

QCA principle

Explanation

CA Code Compliance

Further reading

Deliver growth

1

Establish a strategy and business
mode! which promote long-term
value for shareholders.

By providing staffing solutions and support
to both clients and candidates across a wide
spectrum of markets, we provide good work

for our candidates and people for our clients.

B

Bl

For more information
page_10

2

Seek to understand and meet

shareholder needs and expectations.

The CEO and CFO communicate regularly
with sharehotders, investors and analysts.
The full Board is available at the Annual
General Meeting (AGM’) to communicate
with shareholders.

&)

For more information
www.investors.
impellam.com/
corporate-
governance/

Take into account wider stakeholder
and social responsibilities and their
implicaticns for long-term success.

In addition to our shareholders, our
clients, candidates, contractors, suppliers
and colleagues are our most important
stakeholders. We engage with these
communities via regular communications
in our day-to-day activities, and via formal
feedback requests.

For more information
page_34

Embed effective risk management,
considering both opportunities and

threats, throughaout the organisation.

Ultimate respensibility for risk management
rests with the Board, but day-to-day
management of risk is delivered through the
way we do business and our culture,

For more information
pages_28to 31
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Explanation

Further reading

Maintain a dynamic management framework

S

Maintain the Board as a well-
functioning, balanced team led
by the Chair.

The Board has two established Committees for
Audit and Remunaration. The composition and
experience of the Board is reviewed reguiarly.

ﬁ For more information
E pages_46 to 49

o

Ensure that between them the
Directers have the necessary
up-to-date experience, skills
and capabilities.

The Board is satisfied that its current
composition includes an appropriate balance
of skills, experience and capabilities.

ﬂ_i For mare information
e pages_40 and 41

Evaluate Board performance based on
clear and relevant objectives, seeking
continuous improverment,

The Board regularly considers the effectiveness
and relevance of its contributions, any learning
and development needs and the level of
scrutiny of the Senior Management Team.

For more information
pages_44 and 45

Promote a corporate culture
that is based on ethical valuas
and behaviours,

Our internal social network (Workplace) sets
out our corporate values and behaviours,
which are reinforced via training and
performance management.

1i For more infarmation
E page_35

9

Maintain governance structures and
processes that are fit for purpose and
support good decision-making by
the Board.

The Beard is responsible for the Group's
overall strategic direction and management,
and for the establishment and maintenance
of a framework of delegated authorities and
controls to ensure the efficient and effective
management of the Group’s operations.

For mare information
page_39

Build trust

10

Communicate how the Company
is governed and is performing

by maintaining a dialoguse with
shareholders and other relevant
stakeholders.

The Investors section of cur website includes
our results, presentaticns and communications
to shareholders. We release the resuits of
general meetings through a regulatory news
service and also on the Regulatory News
section of our website.

'_li For more information
a WWw.investors.

impeilam.com/
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Corporate governance statement continued

Governance report

The Board of Directors currently comgrises the Non-Executive
Chairman, two Executive Directors and faur other Non-Executive
Directers. The Board is rasponsible for overseeing the management
of the Group’s strategy and its businesses, reviewing trading
performance, ensuring adequate funding, maintaining a

system of internal controls and risk assessment, ensuring good
Corporate governance and reporting to shareholders. The Board
meets when required and at least eight times per annum, either
in person or virtually. The annual minimum time commitment is
nine days for the Non-Executive Directors based on eight Board
meetings per annum and the AGM. They are alsc required to
spend appropriate preparation time ahead of each meeting. The
Executive Directors are full-time colleagues. During the period
ended 30 December 2022, the Board met on eight occasions.
Relevant high-quality information, consisting of detailed repcrts
and presentations, is circulated to the Directors in advance of
meetings by the Company Secretary. The number of scheduled
Board meetings and Committee meetings attended as a
member by each Director during the period are set out below:

Audit Remuneration

Board Committee Committee
Lord Asheroft 7(8) n/a n/a
Julia Robertson 8(8) n/a n/a
Tim Briant 8(8) 3(3) n/a
Angela Entwistle 8 (8) n/a 1()
Mike Ettling 8(8) 3(3) n/a
Michael Laurie 8 (8) 3(3) 101
Baroness Stowell 8(8) n/a n/a

Figures in brackets indicate the maximum number of meetings
the individual could attend in the period.

The Non-Executive Chairman and Angela Entwistle are not
considered to be independent due to their links with the
Company’s major shareholder. All the other Non-Exacutive
Directors are considered to be independent. Mike Ettling has
served as a Non-Executive Director for more than nine years
and the Board do not consider his long service as an impairment
to his independence.

The role of the Chairman is to lead the Board and ensure

its effective operation. In chairing the Board. the Chairman

is respansible for setting the agenda, style and tone of the
Board discussions and &nsuring that all Directors receive clear,
accurate and timely information. The Chairman is respensible
for ensuring effective communications with sharehoiders. On
appointment, the Directors raceive relevant information about
the Group: the role of the Board and the matters reserved

for its decision-making; membership of the principal Board

Page_44

Committees and the powers delegated to those Committees;
the Giuup’s Curporate governance policies and procedures and
the latest financial information. Throughout their period in office,
the Directors are regularly updated on the Group’s business and
the environment in which it operates.

All Directors receive regular and timely infermation on the
Group's operational and financial performance and any legal or
governance requirements of the Group and those which affect
them as Directors.

The Directors have direct access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer and are able
to take professional advice in the furtherance of their duties at
the Company's expense, where reguired. The Board is satisfied
that, between the Directors, it has an executive and apgropriate
balance of skills and experience, including in the areas of HR,
technology, finance, communications, media and government.

The Beard seeks advice from external sources on matters

as they arise in the business, including legal and acceounting
advice. During the year legal and regulatory advice was taken in
connection with the business disposals. There is an appropriate
gender balance with the Board consisting of four male and three
fermnale members.

The biographies of all Directors appear on the Company
investor website: www.investors.impellam.com. The Company
Secretary acts as the secretary to the Board and its Committees,
provides legal and governance support to the Board as a whole
and Directers individually, and ensures the Group complies

with all relevant legal, regulatory and governance requirements.
The Chairman assesses the individual contribution of each

of the members of the Board to ensure a well-balanced and
committed team.

The Board has carried out an annual assessment of its
perfarmance to ensure its members collectively functicn in an
efficient and productive manner.

Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 requires Directors to
take into consideration the interests of stakeholders and other
matters in their decision-making. Within our Section 172 report
we set out how the Directors have addressed key decisions that
are consistent with the Company’s objectives, strategy and the
overall culture. We believe we have a history of collaborative,
informative stakeholder engagement and decision-making
based on long-term success, and we maintain governance
structures and processes that support good decision-making.
This Section 172 report articulates how the Directors have acted
to promote the success of the Group for the benefit of

its stakeholders.



In meeting this responsibility, the Directors have had regard,
amongst other matters, to:

» the likely consequences of any decisions in the long term;
s the interests of the Group's colleagues;

e the need to foster the Group's business relationships with
suppliers, customers and cthers;

s the impact of the Group's operations on the community and
environment;

o the Group’s reputation for high standards of business
conduct; and

¢ the need to act fairly as between members of the Group.

Results of the AGM appear on the Company investor website:
www.investors.impellam.com with between 99.67% and 100%
of votes cast being for the resolutions.

Board tenure as at March 2023
(or date of resignation)

Lord Ashcroft KCMG FC 8 years, 3 months

Julia Robertson 9 years, 11 months
Tim Briant 3 years, 1month
Angela Entwistle 10 years, 6 months
Mike Ettling 9 years, 6 months
Michael Laurie 8 years, 8 months
Baroness Tina Stowell 5 years, 5 months
Rebecca Watson — Company Secretary

{resigned 3 March 2023) 14 years, 10 months
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Re-election of Directors at the 2023 AGM

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association and
the principles of the Code, all Directors of the Company will
offer themselves for re-election by shareholders at the 2023
AGM. The Board is satisfied that each Director is gualified

for re-election by the quality of their skills, experience and
commitrmaent to the Board.

The Board and its Committees
Board evaluation

The perforrmance of the Board, its Committees and individual
Directors were reviewed at the Board meetings in April 2022.
The Board recognises the impertance of the evaluation to
help the Beoard continuously improve its and the Company’s
performance and to address any areas where necessary. In its
evaluation the Board considers a number of areas including
the balance of the membership, its effectiveness as a team,
strategy and purpose and stakeholder engagement. Objectives
going forward are agreed and a review of succession planning
undertaken. No recommendations were made following the
review. The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive are

separate, with a clear division of responsibilities between them.

This separation of roles enhances the independent oversight of
executive management by the Board and more clogely aligns

the Board with shareholders. it also means that ne one individual
within the Company has unfettered powers of decision-making.

Internal control

The Board has responsibility for the Group’s overall system of
internal controls and for reviewing their effectiveness. They
recognise that the system is designed to manage and mitigate,
rather than climinate, the risk uf (ailure to achieve business
objactives. It can provide only reasenable and not absolute
assurance against material financial misstatement or loss. The
Board has established an organisaticnal structure with clear
Terms of Reference that must be adhered to by all subsidiaries.
There is a programme of regular review by the Board and
executive management, which provides assurance that the
control environment is operating as intended. A key element

of this review is strategic business planning and subsequent
performance monitoring. Each business has defined financial
performance plans that are agreed by the Beoard at the
beginning of each financial period to meet Company objectives.
These plans contain measurable performance targets, which
are continuausly manitared to identify shortfalls, so that
corrective actions can be taken. In addition, the Company and
its subsidiaries maintain risk registers that are updated regularly.

The Group risk register is reviewed by the Audit Committee
whilst reviewing generally the effectiveness of the Company's
internal control system. The Group Financial Controller is also
responsible for reperting to the Audit Committee on internal
audit, utilising internal and external expertise. The Group
operates in ‘The Virtuoso Way', which embeds a consistent
Company-wide culture, based on trusted behaviours, delivered
by entrepreneurial Virtuoso leaders, who can drive competitive
advantage and deliver on the Group's commitments. The
Board is committed to maintaining appropriate standards for
all the Company’s business activities and ansuring that these
standards are set out in written policies. Key exampies of such
standards and policies include the ‘Code of Business Cunduct’.
The Company ‘Code of Business Conduct’ demonstrates its
commitment to maintaining the high levels of ethical standards
and behaviours, wherever it operates in the world.

Dialogue with shareholders

The Company remains committed to listening to and
communicating openly with its shareholgers to ensure that

its vision, missian, strategy, business model and performance
are clearly understecod. The Company communicates with
shareholders through the Annual Report and Accounts,
full-year and half-year announcements, the Annual General
Meeting (AGM’) and one-to-one meetings with large

existing or potential new sharehclders. The Non-Executive
Directors will attend the AGM and are available to answer any
guestions relevant to the Committees they chair. The Board
receives regular updates on the views of shareholders through
briefings and reports from the Group Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary. Corporate
information, including all Company announcements, is available
to shareholders, investors and the public on the Company’s
website www.nvestors.impellam.comn.
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Corporate governance statement continued

Audit
Committee

The Board has an Audit Committes whose
responsibilities include oversight of the Group'’s
internal risk and controls strategy, including
establishing whistleblowing arrangements,
reviewing interim and Annual Reports and
financial statements prior to their submission to
the full Board and reviewing reports from the
external auditor and internal audit. The Audit
Committee makes whatever recommendations
to the Board it deems appropriate, on any

area within its remit, including where action or
improvement is needed.

Committee members

Mike Ettling (Chair}
Michael Laurie

Meetings attended

Mike Ettling 3/3
Michael Laurie  3/3
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Meetings

The Committee cperates under written Terms of Reference,
and during the period ended 30 December 2022 it met on three
occasions. The Audit Committee invites the Chief Financial
Officer to all of its meetings and senior representatives of the
external auditor are routinely invited to Committee meetings,
although it reserves the right to request any of thase individuals
to withdraw fronn e rmigeting. The Audit Committee comprises
two Non-Executive Directors: Mike Fttling (Chair) and

Michael Laurie.

Financial and business reporting

During the year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the 2021
and 2022 financial statements, the 2022 interim statement
{unaudited) and carried out a going concern review. Reviews
of the financial statements included the accounting policies,
significant financial reporting issues and key judgements and
estimates underpinning the financial statements. For the areas
discussed, the Committee was satisfied with the assumptions
made and the accounting treatments adopted.

Risk management and internal control

Risk management is the responsibility of the Board. Further
details about the process followed and principal risks and
uncertainties that could affect business operations can be found
in the Strategic report on pages 1to 37. The Audit Committee
keeps the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
internal controls and risk management systems under review.

A summary of the internal controls for Group companies is
presented to the Audit Committee, including updates on the
resolution of any control weaknesses identified. The internal
controls are reviewed by the Group Finance function.

Every year the Audit Committee reviews the Group's risk
framework reports, to be presented to and discussed by
the Board. The Group's whistleblowing policy contains
arrangements for the Company Secretary to receive, in
confidence, complaints on accounting, risk issues, internal
controls, auditing issues and related matters.

The Group has a mandatory Code of Conduct, which sets out
the minimum expected behavicurs for all colleagues.
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External audit

The Audit Committee is responsible for the development,
implementation and monitoring of the Group’s policy on
external audit. The Terms of Reference assign responsibility

to the Audit Committee for overseeing the relationship with

the external auditor. During 2022, the Audit Committes
managed the relationship with the external auditor, reviewed
and menitored their independence and objectivity and the
cffectiveness of the audit process. The Group's policy on non-
audit related services prascribes the types of engagements for
which the external auditor can be used and those engagements
which are prohibited. For engagement for services which are
non-recurring in nature, prior approval must be sought from

the Audit Committee. Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements includes disclosure of the auditor’s remuneration for
the year.

Assessment of the Audit Committee

The Board conducted an assessment of the Audit Committee’s
performance at the April 2022 meeting. The Chair of the

Audit Committee will be available at the 2023 Annual General
Meeting to answer any questions about the work of the Audit
Committee.
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Corporate governance statement continued

Remuneration
Committee

The Board has @ Remunaration Committee that

is responsible for making recommendations

to the Board on Directors’ remuneration.

It also reviews recommendations from the

Group Chief Executive Officer on other senior
executives’ remuneration, including performance-
related remuneration.

The Committee Operates under written

Terms of Reference, and during the period

ended 30 December 2022 it met once.

The Rermuneration Committee comprises two
Non-Executive Directors: Angela Entwistle (Chair}
and Michael Laurie.

Committee members

Angela Entwistle (Chair)
Michael Laurie

Meetings attended

Angela Entwistle 141
Michael Laurie  1/1
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Remuneration practices

The Remuneration Committee recommends and monitors the
level and structure of remuneration for senior management as
well as monitoring remuneration trends across the Group, and
pericdically reviews the ongeing appropriateness and relevance
of the remuneration pclicy. No review was conducted during
the year.

Assessment of the Remuneration Committee

The Board conducted an assessment of the performance of the
Remuneration Committee at the April 2022 meeting. The Chair
of the Remuneration Committee will be avaiiable at the 2023
Annual General Meeting to answer any gquestions about the
work of the Remuneration Committee.

Remuneration policy for the Executive Directors

Remuneration packages are designed to attract, retain, motivate
and reward Executive Directaors, whilst aligning rewards with
the business objectives and performance of the Group and the
interests of shareholders.

Link between business objectives and
remuneration policy

It is the Group’s policy for performance-related pay of
Executive Directors to be linked to key performance
indicatars of the Group. The Group's key objectives include
developing sustainable growth in earnings and profits through
a combination of arganic growth, investments and increase in
share price. The key performance measures chosen in 2022
to link executive remuneration to the achievement of these
objectives were profits and a cash-related target.

Directors’ contracts and letters of appointment

It is the Group’s policy that Executive Directors should have
contracts with indefinite terms providing for a maximum of

12 months’ notice by the employing Group, Company or the
individual. In the event of termination, the Executive Directors’
contracts provide for compensation up to a maximum of the
basic remuneration package for the notice period.

The details of the Executive Directors’ contracts are summarised
as follows:

The Effective date of contract and Notice period for Julia
Robertson were & April 2013 with 12 meonths’ notice from either
party. The Effective date of contract and Notice period for

Tim Briant were 1 October 2019 with six months’ notice from
either party. Non-Executive Directors serve under letters of
appointment, which either party can terminate on three months’
written notice. The Non-Executive Directars have no right to
combensat\'on on the termination of their appointments.
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Annual fees of Directors

The basic annual salary of each Executive Director and senior
management is reviewed annually by the Remuneration
Committes. The remuneration for the Non-Executive Directors
is determined by the Board within the limits set by the Articles
and is based on information an fees paid in similar companies
and the skills and expected time commitment of the individual
concerned. The fees are reviewed each year as part of the
anrual budgeting process. | he Non-Executive Directors receive
additional remuneration for chairing Committees. Aggregate
Directors’ remuneration is set out in note 5.

Annual bonus

The Remuneration Committee establishes the objectives that
must be met for each financial year if a cash bonus is to be

paid to the Executive Directors. Based on the Remuneration
Cormmittee’s assessment of the performance against those
targets, it was determined that there was £1.0m bonus payment
for delivery of the financial targets, of which £0.4m is deferred
and made in three equal payments over three years.

Shareholding guidelines

There are no requirements for Executive Directors ¢r senior
executives to hold shares in the Company. Details of the
shareholdings of Directors who served during the year are set
out on page 51.
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their Annual
Report on the affairs of the Group
and the Company, together with

the audited consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s reports, for
the period ended 30 December 2022,

Principal activities

The principal activitias of the Group comprise the provision of
staffing solutions, human capital management and outsourced
people-related services in the UK & Eurcpe, APAC and

North America. The principal activity of the Company is that
of a holding company that provides strategic planning and
managemeant services to its portfolio of subsidiaries.

Results and dividends

The audited consolidated financial statements for the pericd
ended 30 December 2022 are set out on pages 64 to 128.

The Group profit for the period was £25.2m (year ended

21 December 2021 £8.3m). At the 2021 AGM approval was
given to commence an updated programme whereby the Board
can purchase up to a maximum of 4,560,363 shares, being

10% of the issued Ordinary share capital of the Company (as at
17 May 2021) until the earliest of the 2622 AGM or 30 June
2022. Under this programme £0.8m shares were purchased

in 2022.

An updated programme was approved at the 2022 AGM
whereby a maximum of £0.5m of Ordinary shares (by market
value) can be purchased per calendar month until the 2023
AGM. Under this programme £0.4m shares were purchased
during 2022.

On 8 November 2022 the Beard announced a special dividend
of 55.4p per share, amounting to £25m, to be paid 9 December
2022. On 22 December 2022 the Board anncunced a second
special dividend of 55.4p per share, amounting to £25m, to be
paid on 27 January 2023.

Future developments

The Group's future developments are qutlined within the
Strategic report. Key areas are covered within the 'Strategic
report, ‘Strategic pricrities” and "Looking forward’ sections of
the Chief Executive Officer’s review and within the "‘Outlook’
section of the Chief Financial Officer’s review.
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Capital structure

The Company ‘Impellam Group plc’ has no limit to its authorised
share capital. At 30 December 2022, there were 45,057,654
(2021: 45,311,269) allotted, fully-paid shares of 1p in issue.

Post balance sheet events

Between the end of the year and 30 March 2023, a further
106,597 Ordinary shares of 1p each have been repurchased in the
market for total consideration of £0.7m.

The Board has become aware of an administrative oversight
concerning technical compliance with the Companies Act
2006 (‘CA 2006’) in respect of the special dividend paid con

27 January 2023 {the ‘Cividend’) and share buybacks effected
by the Company following this date {‘the Post January 2023
Share buybacks’). The amount of the Dividend was £25m and
the total amount of the Post January 2023 Share buybacks was
approximately £0.6m representing 94,822 shares. The Group's
historic reported trading results and financial condition, and
ability to pay future dividends are entirely unaffected by this
matter. The CA 2006 requires the amount of any dividend
distribution and share repurchases 1o be justified by reference to
relevant accounts which show the reguisite leve! of distributabie
reserves. If a company’s last annual accounts de not show the
necessary reserves, then the company must prepare interim
accounts and, in the case of a public company, file those interim
accounts with the Registrar of Companies prior to the payment
of the relevant dividend or share repurchase. The Company’s
last annual accounts did not show the necessary reserves,
interim accounts should have been prepared and filed with the
Registrar of Companies prior to the payment of the Dividend
and the Post January 2023 Share buybacks, but were not. This
therefore has the consequent effect on the Dividend and the
Post January 2023 Share buybacks.

Due to this administrative oversight the Company has been
advised that, as a consequence of the Dividend having been
paid otherwise than in accordance with the 2006 Act, the
Dividend is technically unlawful and that the Company may
have claims against past and present sharehclders who were
recipients of the Dividend and against perscns whe were
Directors of the Company at the time of the payment of the
Dividend. in addition, the Company has been advised that the
purported purchase and cancellation of the Post January 2023
Share buybacks is void. The Ordinary shares of the Company
purportedly subject to the Post January 2023 Share buybacks
remain technically in issue but the voting rights which attach
to themn are not capable of being exercised by any person.
The Company intends to take action to resclve this matter as
soon as practicable.
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The Board notes, however, that the Company has no intention of bringing any such claims or to seek the return of funds and that
the Group’s historic reported trading results and financial condition and ability to pay future dividends and to continue its previously
announced buyback programme are entirely unaffected by this matter.

The Company will post to shareholders an explanatory circular in due course and convane a general meeting, at which resolutions
autherising various rectifying actions will be proposed which will, if passed and once such actions are completed, put all potentially
affected parties, so far as possible, in the pesition in which they were aiways intended to be.

Cn 30 January 2023 the Group announced the sale of its Regional Specialist Staffing businesses in the UK (Tate, Blue Arrow
Group, Chadwick Nott, Career Teachers) and its Healthcare Staffing business in the UK, Ireland and APAC (Medacs Global Group)
to Twenty20 Capital, one of Eurcpe’s largest specialist investment funds focused in the hurman capital senvices sector, for cash
consideration of £85m on a debt-free, cash-free, normalised working capital basis. The disposal was completed on 3 March 2023,

Political donations
The Group has made no political donations during the current or prior years.

Major shareholdings

As at 23 January 2023, the Compény had been notified of the following disclosable interests representing 3% or more of the issued
Qrdinary share capital of the Company:

Lombard Trust 5714%

Hendrik M. Van Heijst 14.39%
Lord Ashcroft 5.05%
Ophorst van Marwijk Kooy 4.60%
Schroder Investment Management Limited 3.82%
Directors

The Directors who held office during the pericd and up to the date of signing these financial statements were:

Executive Directors
Julia Robertson Group Chief Executive Officer Appointed April 2013

Tim Briant B Chief Financial Officer o _ Appointed February 2020

Non-Executive Directors

Lord Ashcroft KCMG PC Non-Executive Chairman Appointed December 2014
Angela Entwistle Non-Executive Director Appointed September 2012
Mike Ettling Independent Non-Executive Director Appointed September 2013
Michael Laurie Independent Non-Executive Director Appointed July 2014
Baroness Tina Stowell Independent Non-Executive Director Appainted October 2017

To read all of our Directors’ biographies, see pages 40 and 41,

Directors shareholdings
As at 23 February 2023 the following Directors held shares in the Company:

2,273,755

Lord Ashcroft {Non-Exacutive Chairman)

Julia Rebertson (Group Chief Executive Officer) 153,910
Angela Entwistle (Non-Executive Director) 13,800
Mike Ettling (Non-Executive Director) 10,860
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Directors’ report continued

Control

The Group has identified Lord Ashcroft as the ultimate
controlling party as he has influence over more than 50%, but
less than 75%, of both the shares and voting rights of Impellam
Group pic and together with being Chairman of Impellam Group
plc has significant influence over the Group.

Financial risk management

The Group'’s abjectives and policies relating to financial risk
management are fully explained in note 2% on pages 114 to 117.

Principal risks
The Board’s assessment of the principal risks and uncertainties,

the Group’s policy and its mitigations are detailed on pages
28 to 31

Engagement with colleagues and other
stakeholders

The Directors have given much focus as to how they engage
and build relationships with colleagues, suppliers, customers
and other stakehclders; and how these stakeholders’ interests
are considered whean making significant decisions. The
Group's engagement with collsagues and other stakeholders
is explained in the Stakeholder engagement and Responsible
business sections of the Strategic report, on pages 32 to 37.

Woe actively encourage diversity in the warkplace and have a
wide and varied colleague base with a variety of social and
ethnic groups represented at all levels of the business. We
believe that breaking down the barriers that have traditionally
restricted access to the labour market will encourage job
oppertunities for all. We see it as cur responsibility both to
understand and to address the root causes of gender pay gaps.

We are pleased that Impellam is leading by example by
appointing and promoting women into senior roles. We are one
of only a small number of AIM-listed companies tc be led by a
woman, and, in addition, 43% of cur Board members and 44%
of our senior Leadership Team are women. With this in mind,
we work hard to help our clients and suppliers achieve their
diversity objectives.

The Group is committed to providing all our colleagues with a
work environment free of discrimination related to sex, race,
colour, orientation, religion, age, ethnicity, national origin,
disability or any other inappropriate basis. Applications for
employment by people with disabilities are considered, tike
all others, bearing in mind the aptitudes of the candidate
concerned.

In the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every
effort is made to ensure that their employment within the Group
continues and that appropriate adjustments are made. It is our
policy that the training, career development and promotion of
peocple with disabilities should, as far as possible, be the same as
for all other colleagues.
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Information in respect of the Group’s approach to Colleague
engagement & Cemmunications (including in respect of
modarn slavery), Health & safety, Anti-Bribery, Community and
Environment including energy and carbon reporting are not
shown within the Directors’ report because thay are presented
within the Responsible business saction of the Strategic report
on pages 25 and 36.

Annual General Meeting

The Notice of AGM, te be held at 3.00pm an Wednesday

28 June 2023 at 107-112 Leadenhal! Street, London, EC3A

4AF, is contained in a separate circular to shareholders. It is
peing mailed or otherwise provided to shareholders, after tha
publication of the Annua!l Report. The notice of meeting sets out
the resolutions 1o be proposed at the AGM and gives details of
the voting record date and proxy appointment deadline for that
meeting.

Directors’ indemnity provisions

During the year and to the date of these accounts, the
Company had in force an indemnity provision in favour of one
or more Directors of the Company against liability in respect of
proceedings brought by third parties, subject to the conditions
set out in the Companies Act 2C06.

Disclosure of information to auditor

In the case of each Director in office at the date the Directors’
report is approved and in accordance with Section 418 of the
Companies Act 2006:

a. so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and

b. he/she has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have
taken as a Director in order to make himself/herself aware
of any reievant audit information and to establish that the
Company's auditor is aware of that information.

Reappointment of auditor

In accordance with Section 489 of the Companies Act 2006,

s resolution for the reappointment of BDO LLP as auditor of the
Company is expected to be proposed at the Annual General
Meeting being held on 28 June 2023

Directors’ report

This report was approved by the Board on 27 April 2023 and
is signed on its behalf by:

LFE

Tim Briant
Company Secretary
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Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for
preparing the Annual Report and the
financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law reguires the Directers to prepare financial
statermnents for each financial year. Under that law, the Directors
have elected to prepare the Group financial statements

in accordance with UK-adopted International accounting
standards and the Company financial statements in accordance
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
(United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law).
Under company iaw, the Directers must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give

a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and
Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period.
The Directors are also required to prepare financial statements
in accordance with the rules of the London Stock Exchange

for companies trading securities on AIM. In preparing these
financial staterments, the Directors are required to:

a. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

b. make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

c. state whether they have been prepared in accordance with
UK-adopted international accounting standards subject
to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements; and

d. prepare the financial statements on the geing concern basis
unless 't is inappropriate te presume that the Company will
continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adeguate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Company and enable them

to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and
hence, for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irreguiarities.

Website publication

The Directors are responsible for ensuring the Annual Repart
and the financial staternents are made available on a website,
Financial statements are published on the Company’s website
in accordance with legislation in the United Kingdom governing
the praparation and dissemination of financial statements, which
may vary from legislation in other jurisdicticns. The maintenance
and integrity of the Company’s website is the responsibility of
the Directors. The Directors’ responsibility also extends to the
ongoing integrity of the financial statements contained therein,
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Impellam Group plc

Opinion on the financial statements

In cur cpinion:

s the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at
20 December 2022 and of the Group’s profit for the 52-week period then ended;

¢ the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards;

e the Parent Company financial statements have been properly preparad in accordance with United Kingdoi Generaily Accepted
Accounting Practice; and

e the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the reguirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements of Impellam Group Ple {‘the Parent Company’} and its subsidiaries ('the Group)) for the
52-week pericd ended 30 December 2023 which comprise:

Composition Financial reporting framework

Group e Consolidated Income Statement » Applicable law and UK adopted
international accounting standards and,
as regards the Parent Company financial
statements, as applied in accerdance

* Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity with the provisions of the Companies Act
e Consoclidated Cash Flow Statement ' 2006

# Notes to the consolidated financial statements

» Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
e Consolidated Balance Sheet

e Alternative performance measures

Parent Company * Company Balance Sheet ¢ Applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including
Financial Reporting Standard 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice)

« Company Statement of Changes in Equity
» Notes to the Company financial statements

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Internaticnal Standards on Auditing {(UK) (18As (UK)) and applicable law. Qur
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our repert. We believe that the audit svidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We remain independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirernents that are relevant to our
audit of the financial staterments in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest entities, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Conclusion e In auditing the financial statermnents, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.
® Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that, ingividually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group and
the Parent Company's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months
from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Impellam Group plc
continued

Approach Qur evaluation of the Directors’ assessment of the Group and the Parent Company’s ability to
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:

# Reviewing and challenging, through enquiry and consideration of historical performance, key
assumptions applied by the Directors in preparation of cash flow forecasts, including growth
assumptions and movements in headcount and base costs, and the Group’s ability to meet working
capital requirements over the going concern period.

# Reviewing the Directors’ stiess lested forecasts, including the impact of the ‘downside’ scenarics
on covanant and cash 'headroom’ and consideration of the likelihood of occurrence and feasible
actions to increase headroom.

# A check was performed on the mathematical accuracy of the forecasts produced.
e Review of the Group’s financing agreement effective 17 December 2021 and its key terms and
covenants.

¢ Evaluation of the Directors’ future plans for the Group and checking these are appropriately
madeiled within the forecasts.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating te
events or conditions that, individually or collectively. may cast significant doubtt on the Group and the
Parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from
when the financial statements are authorised for issue

Cur responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are
described in the relevant sections of this report.

Overview

Coverage' & 77% (2021: 88%) of Net fee income
e 69% (2021 73%) of Group absolute* adjusted operating profit
e 72% (2021 70%) of Group absolute™ profit before tax
* 82% (2021: 79%) of Group revenue

85% (2021: 82%) of Group gross assets

*  Absolute refers ta the curnulative value of figures regardless of whether it1s a cositive or negative value

Key audit matters Ky audit matter 2022 2021

Risk of fraud or cut-off error in revenue recognition on temporary contracter
revenue and complex accounting on managed service contracts v v

Compliance with employment laws and regulations v Vg

Materiality Group financial statements as a whole

£3.8m (2021: £1.45m) based on 1.2% of net fee income {Gross profit) (2021 5.0% of the average of
adjusted operating profit).

1 These are areas which have been subject to a full scope audit,

An overview of the scope of our audit

Cur Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including the Group’s system

of internal cantrol, and assessing the risks of material misstatement in the financial statemants. We alsc addressed the risk of
management override of internal contrals, including assessing whether there was evidence of bias by the Directors that may have
represented a risk of material misstatement.

We designed an audit strategy to obtain the required audit assurance for each component for the purpeoses of our Group audit
opinion (ISA 600 (UK)). Components were scoped in to address aggregation risk and to ensure sufficient coverage was obtained
of Group balances on which to base cur audit opinion. The percentage coverage of key financial statement areas by our audit
procedures is summarised graphically below and then detailed in the following table.
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Significant components

We identified eight significant components, which were subject to full scope audit
procedures.

Three of the full scope audits of significant components were performed by component
auditors, under the direction and supervision of the Senior Statutory Auditor; who issued
detailed instructions, reviewed compoenent audit files and attended local audit close
meetings. All significant components were audited by BDO LLP utilising the Group audit
team ang UK component auditors, other than cne compaonent, which was audited by 2 BDO
rmember o in the US.

Specified audit procedures

Specified audit procedures were performed to address the risk of material misstatement
arising from key balances in non-significant components, with testing performed on all
material balances within these components.

All testing was perfermed by BDC LLP, other than for the components in Australia, which
were performed by a BDO member firm in Australia. All testing was under the direction
and supervision of the Senior Statutory Auditor via detailed instructions and via review of
selacted working papers on significant risk areas.

This specific scope testing was performead on componeants that contribute 14% (2021 8%)

of Net fee income, 24% (2021; 21%) of the Group Absolute Adjusted Operating Profit, 21%

(2021: 25%) of the Group Absolute Profit before Tax, 10% (2021: 16%) of the Group revenue
and 11% (2021: 18%,) of Group Gross Assets.

Remaining companents

All ather components, not included in the above, were scoped in for analytical review
proceduras to confirm our conclusion that there were no significant risks of material
misstatement of the aggregated financial information.

Parent Company and
consoiidation

The Parent Company is located in the UK and was audited by the Group audit team.

The Parent Company is treated as a significant component for the Group,

The Group audit team have performed testing of the consolidation and related consolidation
adjustments posted in preparation of the Group financial statements.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Impellam Group plc

continued

Our involvement with

component auditors

For the work performed by component auditors, we determined the level of involvement needed in arder to be able to conclude
whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the Group financial staterments as a
whole. Our involvemant with component auditors included the following:

We assessed the competence and independence of the compeonent auditors. Direction and supervision cver their work
performed was also provided by the Group audit team through group audit instructions. We attended the compenant auditors’
nlanning and completion mectings. The Group audil leam reviewed the work of the compaonent auditers in order to gain comfort
over the audit of the significant compenents, specified audit procedures on specific scope entities, and reviews over the
remaining insignificant components.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
staterments of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to
fraud) that we identified, inciuding those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources
in the audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming cur opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

Description

How we addressed the key audit matter in the audit

Risk of fraud or .
cut-off errorin
revenue recognition
on temporary
contractor revenue
and complex
accounting on
managed service
contracts

The accounting

policy and related
disclosures are
showninnotes 2,3 4
and 16

The risk of fraudulent revenue
recognition arises from revenue in
relation to temporary contractors
and permanent placements.
Management applies judgements
and estimates concerning the
completeness, accuracy and cut-
off of revenue around the period
end, therefore a risk of material
misstatement exists either through
error ¢r in order to meet financial
targets or performance related
bonuses.

The risk of erroneous revenue
recognition arises from complex
accounting on rebates related
to managed service contracts.
Accounting and potential
understatement of these rebate
agreements could result in a
material error within the revenus
stated for the period.

This results in the cut-off of
temporary revenue and complex
accounting on Managed Service
Contracts being assessed as

a significant risk of material
misstatement and a key

audit matter,

Temporary contractor revenue
® To address the risk around cut-off of revenue, on a sample basis,

revenue around the period end was tested against underlying
supporting documentation, such as engagement letters, timecards,
payments to temporary workers and monigs received from the
clients to check revenue was recognised in the correct period.

We recalculated late timecard accrued revenue and cost based
on timecards submitted after period end that relate to services
provided in the period with historical trends.

The completeness of revenue was tested by sarnpling timecards
around period end and tracing them to the revenue and accrued
income and checking they have been recognised in the correct period.

A sample of credit notes raised after the pericd end that relate to
the FY22 period were reviewed in order to assess the validity of
the sales invoices raised in the financial peried.

Complex accounting on Managed Service Contracts
® Revenue recognition on a sample of Managed Services

Contracts was assessed for compliance with IFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers recognition requirements, with
a specific focus on the principal v agent treatment of the whole
arrangement or specific service elements thereain.

The period end rebate liability was further analysed against
the prior period’s rebate liability in order to understand key
movements in rebates and form an expectation on the hability
position at the period end.

A sample of rebates were recalculated using the terms of the
supplier contracts and/or correspondences and volume of
placements obtained from the infarmation held on the audited
entity’s system.

Key observations

From the work performed, we did not identify any evidence that
temporary or managed service revenue has not been recognised in
the correct period or at the correct value.

The judgements and estimates applied were consistent with our
expectations.
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How we addressed the key audit matter in tha audit

Compliance with
employment laws
and regulations

The accounting
policy and related
disclosures are
shown in notes 2
and 21

e The Group is subject to both

local and international legal and
regulatory requirements that vary
between the different industries

and jurisdictions that the Group
operates. The Group has an in-house
leyal team who assist management
in the determination of its financial
obligations.

The Group has recorded a number
of balances in relation to its ongoing
obligations to comply with the
regulatory and legal environment

- varying levels of judgement are
required to estimate the impact of
these on the financial statements.

The key areas of compliance relate
to workers’ rights, such as PAYE
underpaymaent, national minimum
wage, Fair L abour Standards Act
{USA) and holiday pay.

Provisions have besn made for
the sxpected cost of settling
these matters, these are inherently
judgemental.

Any non-compliance may result
in fines, unracorded liabilities and
reputational damage to the Greup.

The compliance with employment
laws and regulaticns has been
assessed as a significant risk of
material misstatements and related
disclosures and a key audit matter.

» We held meetings with the Group's legal counsel te understand
areas of nen-compliance with laws or regulation and the progress
of any significant ongoing legal areas.

e We obtained confirmation from external counsel concerning any
potential claims or areas of non-compliance.

® The outcome of priur petiud claims has been evaluated against
the current period provisions settlements to gain assurance gver
the historical reliability and completeness of the liability.

» We assessed by brand, the Group’s policies and practices
in relation to holiday pay, in the context of relevant legal
requirements. We reviewed the basis and appropristeness of
holiday pay accruals and level of payout by sampling contractors
and employees to underlying contracts and system generated
reports.

e We assessed the Group’s control environment around national
minimum wage compliance and made enguires to assess areas of
potential expasure, inspecting and assessing correspondence and
management's expert assessment of exposure.

» We assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures covering
provisions, estimates and judgements within the financial
staternents from our work performed,

Key observations

We did not identify, either from external or internal sources, any
material compliance issues not already included in the provisions.

Based on the work performed, we did not identify any inappropriate
judgements or estimates made by management, 2l provisions fell
within cur range of potential outcomes,

We did not identify any disclosure deficiencies in relation to notes

2 and 21that describes the degree of inherent uncertainty in the
assumptions and estimates used in assessing the value of associated
non-cempliance provisions.

Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect of misstatements. We
consider materiality to be the magnitude by which misstatements. including omissions, could influence the economic decisions of
reasonable users that are taken on the basis of the financial statements.

In order to reduce to an apprepriately low level the probability that any misstaterments exceed materiality, we use a lower materiality
level, performance materiality, to determine the extent of testing needed. Importantly, misstatements below these levels will

not necessarily be evaiuated as immaterial as we also take account of the nature of identified misstatements, and the particular
circumstances of their occurrence, when evaluating their effect on the financial statemants as a whole.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Impellam Group plc
continued

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole and performance
materiality as follows:

Group materiality

2022 2021
Materiality £3.8m £1.45m
Busis 1.2% of Net Fee Income (Gross profit) 5.0% of Adjusted Operating Profit?
Rationale During the period, we have reconsidered the most appropriate benchmark on which to set materiality

and this has resulted in a change to the benchmark. We consider Net Fee Income (Gross profit)

to be the most appropriate benchmark as it is less volatile than Adjusted Operating Profit, in a low
margin/high volume business such as the Group, and it is also a key measure of trading activities for
stakeholders. In setting our materiality percentage of Net Fee Income, we have benchmarked against
recruitmeant company peers, using a variety of income statemeant metrics, to derive an appropriate
materiality metric and value.

Performance £2,660k £1,015k

Materiality

Measure 70% of Materiality 70% of Materiality
Application Based on history of adjustments and an assessment of the aggregated risk.

2 [See page 129 for definition)

Parent Company materiality

2022 2021
Materiality £2.09m £1.38m
Basis 95% Group materiality
Rationale Caiculated as a percentage of the Group materiality given the assessment of the aggregation risk.
Performance £1,460k £964k
Materiality
Measure 70% of Materiality 70% of Materiality
Application Based on history of adjustments and an assessment of the aggregated risk.

Component materiality

We set materiality for each component of the Group based on a percentage of between 10% {2021: 12%) and 5% (2021: 95%) of
Group materiality dependent on the size and our assessment of the risk of material misstatement of that component. Significant
component materiality ranged from £377k (2021: £170k) to £1.19m (2021 £1.38m). In the audit of sach significant component, we
further applied performance materiality levels of 70% (2021 70%) of the component materiality to our testing to ensure that the risk
of errors exceeding component materiality was appropriately mitigated.

Reporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all individual audit differences in excess of £190k (2021:£58k).
We also agreed to report differences below this threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on gualitative grounds.
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Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the infermation included in the Annual
Report and Accounts other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Cur opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon. Cur responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing sc, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required
to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstaterment in the financial statements themselves. It, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstaternent of this other information, we are reguired to report that fact.

We have nothing to repart in this regard.

Other companies act 2006 reporting

Based cn the respansibilities described below and our work performed during the course of the audit, we are required by the
Companies Act 2006 and tSAs (UK) to report on certain opinions and matters as described below,

Strategic repcrt and In our opinicn, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
Diractors’ report
e the information given in the Strategic report and the Directors’ report for the financial period for
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
« the Strategic report and the Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable
legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Parent Company and its
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstataments in the
Strategic report or the Directors’ report.

Matters on which we We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act
are required to report by 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
exception

» adequate accounting records have not been Kept by the Parent Campany, or returns adequate for
cur audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

the Parent Company financial staternents are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns; or

e certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
e wea have not received all the information and expianations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained mare fully in the statement of Directors’ responsibilities, the Directors are respensible for the preparation of the
financial staternents and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial staterents, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the Parent Company's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the geing concern basis of
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liguidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no
raalistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are 10 obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whoie are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a

high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (U K) will always detect a material
misstaternent when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements,

Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instancas of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outiined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:

Non-compliance with laws and regulations
Based om:

s Our understanding of the Group and the industry in which it operates;
& Discussion with management and thase charged with governance and those respensible for legal and compliance procedures; and

e Obtaining and understanding of the Group's policies and procedures regarding compliance with faws and regulations

we considered the significant laws and regulaticns to be the reperting framework (UK adopted international accounting standards,
UK GAAP and the Companies Act 20086), labour regulations and tax laws in key territories which the Group cperates.

Our procedures in respect of the above included:

® Review of minutes of meeting of those charged with governance for any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations;
® Review of correspondence with regulatory and tax authorities for any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations;

e Review of financial staterent disclosures and agreeing te supporting documentation;

s |nvolvement of tax specialists in the audit; and

* Review of legal expenditure accounts to understand the nature of expenditure incurred.

For further details, please see the Key Audit Matter titled “Compliance with employment laws and regulations” earlier in this report.

Fraud

We assessed the susceptibility of the financial statements to material misstatement, including fraud. Our risk assessment
procedures included:

Enquiry with managament, those charged with governance and the Audit Committee regarding any known or suspected
instances of fraud;

* Obtaining an understanding of the Group's policies and procedures relating to:
— Detecting and responding to the risks of fraud; and

- Internal controls astablished to mitigate risks related to fraud.

* Review of minutes of meeting of those charged with gavernance for any knawn or suspected instances of fraud;
¢ Discussion amongst the engagement team as to how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements:

e Performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material
misstatement due to fraud; and

e Considering remuneration incentive schemes and performance targets and the related financial statement areas impacted by these.
Based on our risk assessment, we considered the areas most susceptible to fraud to be compliance with employment laws and

regulations and revenue recagnition on temporary contractor revenue and complex contract accounting on managed service
contracts as set out in the key audit matters section.
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QOur procedures in respect of the above included:

* Testing a sample of journal entries throughout the year, which met a defined risk critena, by agreeing to supporting
documentation;

» Testing compliance with employment laws and regulations:
s Assessing significant estimates madea by management for bias; and

* Key areas of estimation uncertainty or judgement, for example; recoverability of trade receivables, valuation of accrued income
at period-end, revenue recognition on tempaorary contractor revenue and complex contract accounting on managed service
contracts.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud nsks to all engagement team members
including component engagement teams who were all deemed to have appropriate competence and capabilities and remained
alert ta any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit. For compenent engagement
teams, we also reviewed the result of their work performed in this regard.

Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material misstatement in the financial statements, recognising that the
risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting fram error, as fraud
may invoive deliberate conceaiment by, for example, forgery, misrepresentations or through collusion. There are inherent limitations
in the audit procedures performed and the further removed non-compliance with laws and reguiations is from the events and
transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we are to become aware of \t

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council's website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Parent Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Parant Company’s members those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for ne other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume respansibility to anyone other than the Parent Company and the Parent Company’s members as a body, for our audit work,
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Mark Cardiff (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
London, UK

27 April 2023

BDO LLPis a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales {with registered number OC305127).

Page_63



Impellam Group ple Annual Report and Accounts 2022

Consolidated income statement
For the 52 weeks ended 30 December 2022

30 Dacember

Re presented (note 10}
31 December

2022 2021
Notes £m Em
Revenue 3 1,947.4 1,580.3
Cost of sales (1,742.5) {1,419.3)
Gross profit 204.9 16710
Administrative expenses (183.9) (147.3}
Operating profit 3&4 21.0 13.7
Operating profit before impairments, amertisation of brand value and customer
relationships 3 27.8 204
Amortisation of brand value and custormer relationships 14 (6.8) (6.4)
Cperating profit 384 21.0 13.7
Finance income 6 oA 0.2
Finance expense 7 (5.0) (4.1)
Profit before tax 16.1 5.8
Tax charge 8 (1.4) (6.5)
Profit from continuing operations 14.7 3.3
Profit from discontinued operations, net of tax 10 10.5 5.0
Profit for the period 25.2 8.3
Profit for the period attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company 25.0 8.2
Non-controlling interest 26 0.2 0.1
25.2 8.3
Earnings per share 9
Total profit attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company:
- basic 55.9p 18.3p
- diluted 55.9p 18.3p
Earnings per share 9
Continuing profit attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company:
— basic 32.6p 7.3p
— diluted 32.6p 7.3p
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the 52 weeks ended 30 December 2022

30 December 31 Decamber
2022 2021
MNotes £m £m
Profit for the period 25.2 8.3
Other comprehensive income:
ltems that may be subsequently reclassified into income:
Foreign currency translation differences — foreign operations 25 14.0 (1.4)
Reduction in non-controlling interasts 26 - 0.3
Total comprehensive income for the period, net of tax 39.2 6.6
Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company 39.0 6.6
Naon-controlling interest 26 0.2 -
39.2 6.6

Page_65



Impellam Group ple Annual Report and Accounts 2022

Consolidated balance sheet
As at 30 December 2022

30 Dacember 31December
2022 2021
Notes Em £m
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 1 3.4 4.2
Right-of-use assets 12 9.1 15.9
Goodwill 13 109.5 128.9
Other intangible assets 14 49.8 85.3
Financial assets 15 1.0 17
Deferred tax assets 22 3.2 8.3
Trade and other receivables 16 0.7 0.5
176.7 2452
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 16 636.8 605.5
Tax raceivable 4.0 0.9
Assets held for sale 10 171.2 -
Cash and cash equivalents 17 12.4 90.9
924.4 697.3
Total assets 1,101 Q425
Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings 19 - 01
Lease liabilities 12 3.0 5.1
Trade and other payables 18 677.7 568.7
Tax payable 0.4 0.7
Liabilities held for sale 10 871 —
Provisions 21 2.0 8.3
770.2 582.9
Net current assets 154.2 14.4
Non-current liabilities
Leng-term borrowings 20 77.8 101.9
Lease liabilities 12 6.9 1.4
Provisions 21 1.7 3.8
Deferred tax liabilities 22 7.7 18.7
94.1 135.8
Total liabilities 864.3 718.7
Net assets 236.8 223.8
Equity
lssued share capital 23 0.5 0.5
Share premium account 23 3041 301
30.6 30.6
Other reserves 25 130.9 116.9
Retained earnings 75.0 76.2
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company 236.5 2237
Non-controlling interest 26 0.3 0.1
Total equity 236.8 223.8

The consolidated financial statements of Impellam Group plc (registered number: 0851967) on pages 64 to 119 were approved by
the Board an 27 April 2023,

Tim Briant
Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the 52 weeks ended 30 December 2022

Total share Total equity
capital and attributable to Nen controiling
share premium  Other reserves Retained equity owners interest Total
[note 23) {note 25) eamnings of the Parent (note 26) esguity
£m £m £m £m £Em £rm
2 January 2021 30.6 18.3 70.2 219.1 ©0.3) 218.8
Profit for the period - - 8.2 8.2 0.1 8.3
Other camprehensive income from reducing the
NCI component {note 26) - ' - (0.3} 0.3 0.3 -
Other comprehensive income from foreign currency
translation (note 25) - (1.4) - (1.4) - (1.4)
Total comprehensive income in period - (1.4) 7.9 85 0.4 6.9
Transuctions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Purchase and cancellation of cwn shares (note 23) - - (19 (1.9 - {(1.9)
31 December 2021 30.6 16.9 76.2 223.7 [ORy 223.8
1January 2022 30.6 116.9 76.2 223.7 0.1 223.8
Profit for the period - - 25.0 25.0 0.2 25.2
Other comprehensive income from foreign currency '
translation {note 25) - 14.0 - 14.0 - 14.0
Total comprehensive income in period - 14.0 25.0 39.0 0.2 39.2
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Dividends (note 24} - - (25.0) (25.0) - {25.0)
Purchase and cancellation of own shares {nots 23) - - (1.2) (1.2) - (1.2)
30 December 2022 30.6 130.9 75.0 236.5 0.3 236.8
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Consolidated cash flow statement
For the 52 weeks ended 30 December 2022

Re-presented

30 December 3t December
2022 2021
Notes £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax — continuing operations 16.1 9.8
Profit before tax — discontinued operations 13.2 5.6
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and eguipment 1 2.6 2.4
Amortisation of right-of-use assets 12 5.5 7.0
Amortisation of other intangible assets 14 14.9 151
Impairment of asset held for sale 10 1.9 -
Loss/{profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4 0.2 {(0.2)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations 10 (4.6) -
Finance income 6 0.1 (0.2)
Finance expense 7 52 4.3
54.9 43.8
(Increase) in trade and other receivables (11.7) (46.0}
Increase in trade and other payables 136.3 121
{Decrease)/increase in provisions 21 (3.0) 2.0
Cash from operations 76.5 1.9
Tax paid (7.4) (1.7
Net cash from operating activities 69.1 10.2
Cash flows from investing activities
Cash flow from disposal of operations, net of cash ' 10 15.4 -
Purchase of property, plant and eguipment 1 (3.3) (1.5)
Purchase of intangible assets 14 (8.0) (4.3)
Receipt from lease debtors 28 - 17
Decrease in other financial assets 15 0.7 -
Interest received ) 0.1 0.2
Net cash inflow/{utilised) on investing activities 4.9 (3.9}
Cash flows from financing activities
Drawdown of short-term borrowings 28 151.2 292.0
Repayment of short-term beorrowings 28 {175.3) (308.7}
Increase in overdraft 28 0.4 - 1.0
Dividends paid 24 (25.0) : -
Purchase and cancellation of own shares 23 1.2) (1.9
Intarest paid on lease liabilities (0.4) (0.6}
Interest paid on borrowings {4.5) (3.5
Repayment of lease liabilities 28 (5.5) (8.9)
Net cash (outflow) from financing activities (60.3) (30.6)
Net incréase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 13.7 (24.3)
Opening cash and cash equivalents 90.9 17.9
Effect of foreign exchange rate movements 28 7.8 (2.7)
Closing cash and cash equivalents 17 112.4 80.9
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the 52 weeks ended 30 December 2022

1. Corporate information

The financial statements of Impellam Group plc and all of its subsidiaries {‘the Group’) for the 52 weeks ended 30 December
2022 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directars on 14 April 2022 and the balance sheet was signed on behalf of the
Board by Tim Briant.

The Group provides staffing solutions, human capital management and outsourced people-related services from offices located in
the UK, ireland, North America, mainland Eurcpe, Australia and New Zealand.

Impellam Group plc (‘the Company’) is a public limited company incorporated and registered in England and Wales and domiciled
in the UK under the Companies Act 2006 with a listing on the London Stock Exchange, trading on AIM.

Its registered office is located at:
800 The Boulevard

Capability Green

Luton

Bedfordshire LU1 3BA

United Kingdom

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation and going concern

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with UK adopted international
accounting standards, In coming to their conclusion the Directors have considered the Group's profit and cash flow plans for the
coming pericd, together with outline projections for 2024 and 2025. At the end of the period the Group had a net cash position
of £30.3m {excluding IFRS 16 lease habilities) and has a further £105.0m available to drawdown on the Group’s revolving credit
facility (see note 29). Following the sale of the Regional Specialist Staffing and Healthcare businesses in March 2023 the Group's
revolving credit facility was reduced by £50m to £132.5m in Hine with the revised prejections of the Group’s activities. The amount
of borrowing required to fund the Grougp’s activities is determined based on these projections, together with expected returns to
shareholders and planned capital expenditure. Also considered is the projection of compliance with the financial covenants implied
by these plans. In addition, these figures are tested for sensitivity to possible changes to the economic environments in which the
Group operates. The Groug has no operations in Ukraine or surrounding regions and therefore there is no direct impact on the
Group’s trading, however, any indirect impact such as a worsening in economic conditions, would represent such a sensitivity.
The impact on Group figuidity and covenants of each of these sensitivities is then considered tegether with the likelihcod of each
of these occurring either individually or in combination. Given this analysis, the Directors have determined that there are no likely
downside scenarios which would cause the Group a concern.

The financial statements have been preparad on the historical cost basis except where otherwise identified and as modified for the
revaluation of certain financial assets at fair value through the income statement. The principal accounting policies adopted are set
out below. The financial statements are presented in Pound Sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest £0.1 million except
where otherwise indicated. Foreign operations are included in accordance with note 2{C) below.

Any references to 2022 in these statements refer to the 52-week financial period ended 30 December 2022. Any references to
2021in these statements refer to the 52-week financial period ended 31 December 2021,

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as at 30 December 2022, The financial
statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting peried as the Parent Company. Each company, including the

Farent, uses locally applicable generally accepted accounting practice (GAAP) for the preparation of their individual financial
staternents. Adjustments are made to bring these into line with the IFRS pelicies adopted by the Group, as required. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains contral using the acquisition method and cease to be consolidated from
the date on which the Group ceases its control. Accounting policies have been applied consistently.

A component of the Group’s business is classified as a discontinued operation if the operations and cash flows of the component
can be clearly distinguished, operaticnally and for financial reporting purposes, from the rest of the Group and if the component
either has been or is classified as held for sale, and:

» represents a separate major line of business or gecgraphical arsa of operations;

e is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; or

» isasubsidiary acguired exclusively with a view to resale.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation the consolidated income statement is re-presented as if the operation
has been classified as such from the start of the comparative year.

A) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
New standards, amendments and interpretations effective in financial year 2022

« Property, Plant and Fquipment: Proceeds before intended use — Amendments to I1AS 16

e Reference to the Conceptual Framewark — Amendments to IFRS 3

« Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 — Amendment to IFRS 16 Leases
e Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract - Amendments to IAS 37

e Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020

The above amendment has not materially impacted the Group's results. The Group adopted Covid-13-related Rent Concessions —
Amendments to IFRS 16 in the period ended 1January 2021,

Standards and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group
The following new standards and interpretations to existing standards have been published that are mandatory for the Group’s
future accounting and effective for the Group as follows, which are all effective for periods starting on or after 30 December 2022
or later periods:

e Definition of Accounting Estimates — Amendments to {AS 8

+ Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction — Amendments to IAS 12
e Clasgification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current — Amendments to |AS 1

« IFRS 17 Insurance contracts

s Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendment to JAS1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2

e [ease Liabilities in a Sale and Leaseback — Amendment to IFRS 16

¢« Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to 1AS 1)

The above standards and interpretations are not expected to materially impact the Group’s results.

B) Significant accounting judgements and estimates
in applying the Group’s accounting policies, the following judgements and estimates have been made that may have a significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements in the current or future years:

i) Judgements

Agent versus principal

The Group assesses whether it is acting as agent or principal depending on whether the client has a direct relationship with the
Group, whether the Group has the primary respensibility for providing the services and whether the Group contracts diractly
with either the worker placed or any other recruitment agency. Account is alsa made of the degree of tatitude the Group has in
establishing the charging rates with all parties.

Where the Group provides a Managed Service, in which it acts as agent for the client (which is mainly Managed Services
contracts), the amount of revenue recognised is limited to the management fee receivable for that service after making provision
for any losses foreseen, volume rebates and amounts payable under gain-share arrangements rather than the full amount invaoiced.
Trade receivables and payables related to these sales are recorded at full invoice value.

tease end dates

IFRS 16 Leases requires a lessee to determing whether it is reasonably certain: to exercise an option to extend the term of the lease;
to exercise an option to purchase the underlying asset at the end of the lease; or not to exercise an option to terminate the lease
early. The Group makes this assessment to derive an expectad lease term, which may not be the same as the contractual term of
the lease. This has led to a level of judgement over the leases in our portfolio an the expected lease termination date. Depending on
the circumstancas of the individual lease, the Group has taken either the break date (for those circumstances where the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the break), the actual lease end date or an estimate of how long the Group will stay in a property for
those leases which have been held over at the end of the year.
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Ageing of borrowing

The Group has signed up to a revolving credit facility which is committed until at least December 2024 {ncte 29). Borrowings made
under this facility are over a set peried, which is usually less than a year, but are available to be renewed as and when they fall due.
The Group assesses if any element of this borrowing would be due in less than one year based upon optimal cash holding positicns
and planned repayments of the debt, in total, over the coming 12 months.

Deferred tax asset recoverability

The carrying amount of deferred incorme tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it1s no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Software

Capitalised software costs are amortised from when the relevant software is ready and available for use. This requires judgement
over when software has exitad tha testing phase and is normally determinad by how many of the planned users have been migrated
to the new platform. All costs relating to the ‘research’ phase of the software development cycle, together with costs not separately
identifiable and attributable to particular program development, are expensed directly to administrative expenses in the income
statement in the period in which they are incurred. Some software can be treated as ‘Software as a service’ and so expensed as the
service is provided rather than capitalised on spend and amortised over the useful economic fife. The Group assesses the treatment
of such software on a case-by-case basis with reference to facts including whether the right to transfer the software to another
platform or to control the method of operation is within the control of the Group.

Post year end disposal of Regfonal Staffing Services and Healthcare divisions

On 30 January 2023 the Group announced the disposal of the Regional Staffing Services and Healthcare divisions to Twenty20
Capital and consider this to be an asset held for sale and a discontinued operation at the end of the period (note 10). Under IFRS
5, there are certain criteria that are required to be met to allow a subsidiary to be considered to be Held for Sale. The Directors
have considered the criteria in IFRS 5 and have noted that these had been met at the period end and that the sale was determined
to be highly probakble at 16 December 2022 and exercised significant judgement over the determination of this date. As such, the
Directors have considered that the transaction did meet the criteria of Held for Sale at the end of the financial pericd. The timing
of the held for sale determination had not been made garlier in the period as discussions had been continuing to complete the
transaction and it was only on 16 December 2022 that sufficient progress had been made across the majority of points that the
Directors considered that the deal could be described as highly probable and was the date by which it was expected that the
sale would complete within one year and without any significantly changes or the plan being withdrawn. Had this determination
been made at the start of October 2022, which was the start of the purchaser’s due diligence process and so the earliest date
considered for this determination, then under IFRS 5 certain accounting entries would have not been made, including up to £1.5m
of depreciation and amortisation which would have not been recognised.

it} Estimates

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets

The Group determines whether goodwill and other intangible assets are permanently impaired on an annual basis or otherwise
when changes in events or situations indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. This requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets are allocated. Estimating the value-in-use requires the Group
to make an estimate of the future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in orderto
calculate the present value of those cash Aows. More details of the carrying value and impairment review, including sensitivities, are
given in notes 13 and 14

Aliocation of goodwill to disposed divisions

Some of the divisions that have been either disposed of during the period or after the pericd end are part of larger cash-generating
units, at which level goodwill is allocated. As such, the Group has had to estimate the amount of goodwill which has been disposed
of as part of this transaction. This estimation has been done by using profit ratios which the Directors believe give the best
approximation to the cash flows of the disposed divisions.

Legal provision

The Group measures and recognises provisions related to pending litigation or other outstanding claims subject to negotiated
settlement, mediation and arbitration. A significant level of estimation is required to quantify the possible ranges of financial
settlament. Due to the inherent uncertainty in this evaluation process, actual losses may be different from the onginally estimated
provision {see note 27).
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Lease interest rates

The Group has estimated the interest rates implicit in the lease when calculating the lease liability and related right-of-use

asset under IFRS 16 Leases. Unless stipulated clearly when taking on the liability, the Group uses an incremental borrowing rate
calculation to determine the relevant rate. Consideration is taken over the term of the lease, the credit risk of the acquirer and any
specific risks relating to the assets acguired by an individual leasa.

C) Currencies and foreign currency translation
The functional and presentational currency of the Company and its UK subsidiaries is Pound Sterling. Foreign operations are located
mainly in North America, Europe, Australia and New Zealand, which use their local currencies as their functional currencies.

On consalidation, at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operaticns are translated into the
prasantation currency of the Group at rates ruling on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at average
exchange rates monthly during the reporting period, as this is considered a reascnable approximation to actual translated rates.

The exchange differences arising from this retranslation are recognised in the Consoclidated Statement of Other Comprehensive
income and accumulated to a foreign currency translation resarve in equity.

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the
transaction. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as
at the date of the initial transaction. non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences on menetary items receivable from or payable 1o a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned
nor likely to occur, therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation, and the tax charges and credits attributable
to the exchange differences on these balances, are dealt with in the statement of comprehensive income and accumulated to a
foreign currency translation reserve in equity.

D} Praperty, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Freehold property: over 50 years

Short leasehaold property improvements: over the term of the lease

Furniture, fixtures and fittings: between three and ten years or to the end of the lease, whichever is shorter at
the start of the asset’s life

Computer eguipment: between two and five years

The residual value and estimated useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.
The carrying value of property, plant and equipment is raviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

An item of property. plant and eguipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future econcmic benefits are expected

to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying value of the item) is included in the income statement in the period the item
is derecognised.

E) Goodwili
Goodwill acquired in a business combination represents the excess of the consideration paid (at the date of exchange) over the fair

value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acguired on the date of acguisition.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed to the income statement as incurred.
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Gooawill is recognised as an assat in the consolidated balance sheet of the Group and is recorded at cost less any accumulated

impairment losses. The carrying value of goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Any impairment charge is recognised immediately in the income
statemment and is not subsequently reversed.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisiticn date, allocated to
sach of the Group's cash-generating units (business segments) that is expected to benefit from the combination. Each group of
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is so allocated represents the fowesl level within the Group at which the goodwill

is monitored for internal management purposes. Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the goodwili relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amocunt, an impairment loss is recognised.

F) Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets represent the carrying value of brands and client relationships, identified on business combinations, and of
computer software and licences. Carrying value is equal to cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment cr, in the case of
assets acquired through business combinations, fair value at date of acquisition less accumulated amortisaticn and impairment.

Brand values .

Brands are defined as having finite ussful lives and the costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of each of the assets (ranging between three and twenty years). The expense is taken to the income statement through the
‘depreciation and amortisation’ line within administrative expenses.

Client relationships

Client relationships are defined as having finite useful lives and the costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of each of the assets (ten years). The expense is taken to the income statement through the ‘depreciation and
amortisation’ ling within administrative axpenses.

Software

Externally acquired computer software and licences are capitalised at the costs incurred to acquire and bring into use the specific
software. Internally generated computer software programs are capitalised to the extent that costs can be separately identified
and attributed to particular software programs, measured reliably, and where the asset develeped can be shown to generate
future economic benefits and the Group intends to and has the technical ability and sufficient resources to complete development.
Computer software and licences are defined as having finite useful lives and the costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of each of the assets, considered to be between three and five years. The expense is taken to the income
staternent through the ‘depreciation and amortisation’ line within administrative expenses.

Some software can be treated as ‘Scftware as a service’ and so expensed as the service is provided rather than capitalised

on spend and amortised over the useful economic life. The Group assesses the treatment of such software on a case-by-case
basis with reference to facts including whether the right to transfer the software to another platform or to control the method of
operation is within the controt of the Group.

All costs relating to the research’ phase of the software development cycle. together with costs not separately identifiable and
attributable to particular program development, are expensed directly to administrative expenses in the income statement in the
peried in which they are incyrred.

Impairment

All intangible essets are also reviewed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the carrying amount may te impaired, or
where the asset is not yet available for use. Useful lives are also examined on an annual basis and adjustments, where applicable,
are made on a prospective basis.

Q) Implementation costs

Costs directly attributable to the implementation of a contract and which can be separately identified and measured reliably are
capitalised when income from that contract 1s virtually certain and where they relate directly to the specific contract and are directly
incremental to the implementation. These costs are inciuded within trade and other receivables on the balance sheet so long as the
estimated future cash flows from the contract are not less than the capitalised amount. These capitalised costs are amortised over the
life of the contract on a straight-ine basis. If the contract becomes loss-making, any unamortised costs are written off immediately.
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H) Financial assets

Financial assets are classified as ‘financial assets at fair value through the income statement, financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income) or as financial assets at amortised cost’, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of
its financial assets at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial period

end. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, being the transaction price plus, in the case of

financial assets not at fair value through the income statement, directly attributable transaction costs.

Investments
The Group's investments are classified as held at fair value through the income statement. They are further classified as non- current
unless management expects to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

These investments relate to the deferrad compensation plan detailed in note 2(P) below, where the employee’s entitlement is
limited to the market value of the fund. On this basis, the use of fair value through the income statement is permitted because it
eliminates a measurernent inconsistency {‘accounting mismatch’) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities

or recognising the gains or losses on them on a different basis. Subsequent to initial recognition these investments are held at farr
value; the fair values are based upon bid prices ruling at the balance sheet date. Fair value adjustments are recognised through the
income statement.

[) Other non-current financial assets

Other non-current financial assets represent security deposits with non-financial institutions that have no fixed date of repayment
and that are not expected to be repaid within the next 12 menths. On initial recognition these assets are held at cost and
subsaquently at amortised cost.

Impairment
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset is impaired by reference to any known evidence indicating
that the Group may not be able tc collect all amounts due in full.

J) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivablas, which have various terms, are non-interest-bearing and are recognised and carried at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost, being the original invoice amount less an allowance for uncoilectible amounts, credit notes and
expected credit losses.

Supplier Finance Arrangements (SFA) are utilised by the Group. These arrangements, organised by clients of the Group, are
nan-recourse and irrevocable as the trade receivable has been sold to the relevant bank providing the SFA. The designated trade
receivable is duly derecognised in accordance with IFRS 9, with the associated cash payment debited to the Group's cash position.
The utilisation charge for drawing down on the SFA is included in interest costs and is recognised from the drawdown date to

the contractual payment term of the relevant trade receivable subject to the arrangement. Any other trade receivables related to
those clients, which have not been utilised for the SFA, remain within trade receivables and will be paid when due under the client
payment terms. The cashfiows arising from the derecognition of trade receivables under the SFA arrangements are treated as
‘movements in trade and other receivables’ and therefore form part of ‘cash from operations’

The Group applies the IFRS 8 simplified approach to measuring expected cradit losses using a lifetime expected credit loss
provision for trade receivables and contract assets. To measure expected credit losses on a collective basis, trade receivables and
contract assets are grouped based on similar credit risk and ageing. The contract assets have similar risk characteristics to the trade
receivables for similar types of contracts. The expected loss provision is based on the Group's expectation of future credit losses
over the current receivables balance. These expectations are based upon known issues affecting specific debtors as well as general
forward-lecking information on factors affecting the Group's customers as a whole, as well as an awareness of the economic
conditions in the countries where the Group operates. Thase risk factors are considered both on inftial receognition of the receivable
and as part of the ongoing assessment. If there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since the initial recognition then an
increased loss provision is recognised.

Trade and other receivables also include contract assets which primarily arise aither as costs incurred when implementing a new
contract or where services have been provided but the amount incurred and margin earned has yet to be invoiced to the client due
to timing of the completion of the performance obligaticn and are considered contract assets for disclosures required under IFRS 15
revenue from contracts with customers,
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K) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term daposits in the consclidated balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an
original maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash eguivalents consist
of cash and short-term deposits as defined above. BACs and similar electronic cash transfers are recognised on a settlerment basis.
Bank overdrafts are used as a form of short term financing arrangement for the Group and are shown within trade and other payables
on the consolidated balance sheet and disclosed as a financing activity on the consolidated statements of cash flows.

L) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are classified as financial liabilities and measured at amortised cost which approxirmates to the fair value.
The balances are not interest-bearing.

M) Taxes

Current tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and pricr periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from
or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and the tax laws used tc compute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability methoed, on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the
tax bases of assets and lishilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred income tax liabilities are
recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

e wherea the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is
not a business combination and, at the tirme of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

« inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it s probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on an undiscounted basis for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extant that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:

e where the deferred income tax asset retating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

s inrespect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are recognised
only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differances will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liabitity is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date. Income tax refating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the income statement.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the sarme taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised on unremitted earnings from subsidiaries where the Group can control the timing of the
reversal and the temporary difference is not expected to reverse in the foresesable future.

Sales taxes
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

* whare the sales tax incurred on a purchase of goods or sarvices or assets is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which
case the sales tax is recagnised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense itemn as applicable; and

e receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation autharity is included as part of receivables or payables in
the balance sheet.
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N) Provisions

Provisions, such as those over property or ongoing legal cases, are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events; it is more fikely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money. When discounting is used, the ncrease in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an interaest expense in the income statement.

As part of the normal course of business the Group is exposed to various claims. Provisions are made for amounts that satisfy the
recognition criteria in IAS 37 and accordingly are not recognised when the likelihcod of any claim being settled and the associated
settlemant amount cannot be estimated.

Q) Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified on initial recognition as either ‘financial liabilities at fair value through the income statement’ or
‘at amortised cost’ All Group borrowings have initially been recognised as ‘at amortised cost’ and measured at fair value of the
consideration received less directly attributable issue costs.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. This cost is computed as the
amount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation, using the effective interest rate
method of any difference between the initially recognised amount and the maturity amount. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
intc account any issue costs, and any discount or premium on settlement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation
process.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

P} Employee benefits

Short-term benefits — bonus arrongements

The Group cperates a number of annual bonus arrangements for Directors and employees. The cost of these arrangements is
recognised in the income staterment when the entity has an obligation to make such payments as a result of the achievement of
Board-approved performance targets and when a reliabie estimate of this obligation can be made.

Defined contribution pension obfigations

The Group provides pension arrangements for its UK-based Directors and employees through defined contribution schemes
administered by third party providers. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been made.
Contribution costs are expensed to the income statement as they become due.

Other post-employment ebligations

In the US, the Group operates a deferred compensation plan for certain key employees. The plan allows the employee to defer
receipt of a portian of their amoluments together with, in some cases, a contribution from the Group. The deferred amounts plus
the Group contribution are paid into an external trust fund. Employees’ entitiement is limited to the market value of the fund;
therefore, both the investment and the liability to the employee are marked to market on an annual basis, with movements passing
through the administrative expenses line (salaries and wages} in the incorme statement.

Q) Leases
All leases are accounted for by recognising a right-cf-use asset and a lease liability except for leases of low-value assets and leases
with an expected full term of 12 months or less.

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the unpaid contractual payments over the recognised lease term, with

the discount rate determined by reference to the rate inherent in the lease unless (as is typically the case) this is not readily
determinable, in which case the Group's incremental borrowing rate on commeancement of the lease is used.
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Cn initial recognition, the carrying value of the lease liability also includes amounts expected to be payable under any residual value
guarantee; the exercise price of any purchase option granted in favour of the Group if it is reasonably certain to exercise that option;
and any penalties payable for terminating the lease, if the term of the lease has been estimated on the basis of the termination
opticn being exercised.

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at the amount of the lease liability, reduced for any lease incentives received, and
increased for lease payments made at or before commencement of the lease and initial direct costs incurred. Subsequent to initial
measurement, lease liabilities increase as a result of interest charged at a constant rate on the balance outstanding and are reduced
for lease payments made. Right-of-use assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of the lease or over the
remaining econamic life of the asset if this is judged to be shorter than the lease term.

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of any lease, it adjusts the carrying amount of the lease liability to reflect the
payments to make over the revised term, which are discounted at a revised discount rate that is implicit in the lease for the
remainder of the lease term. The carrying value of lease {iabilities is similarly revised if any variable element of future lsase payments
dependent on a rate or index is revised. In both cases, an equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying value of the right-of-use
asset, with the revised carrying amount being amortised over the remaining lease term.

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms of a lease with the lessor, the accounting depends on the nature of the
medification. If the renegotiation results in one or more additional assets being leased for an amount similar to the standalone price
for the additicnal rights-of-use obtained, the modification is accounted for as a separate lease in accordance with the above policy.
In all other cases where the renegotiation increases the scope of the lease (whether that is an extension to the lease term, or one or
more additional assets being leased), the lease liability is remeasured using the discount rate applicable on the modification date.
with the right-of-use asset being adjusted by the same amount. If the renegotiation results in a decrease in the scope of the laase,
both the carrying amount of the lease liability and right-of-use asset are reduced by the same proporticn to reflect the partial or

full termination of the lease with any difference recognised in profit or loss. The lease fiability is then further adjusted to ensure the
carrying amount reflects the amount of the renegotiated payments over the renegotiated term, with the modified lease payments
discounted at the rate applicable on the modification date. The rnight-of- use asset is adjusted by the same amount.

Right-of-use assets are reviewed regularly to ensure that the useful economic life of the asset is stifl appropriate based on the
usage of the asset. Where the asset has reduced in value the Group considers the situation on an asset-by-asset basis and either
treats the reduction as an acceleration of depreciation or as an impairment under IAS 36 Impairment of Assets. An acceleration
of depreciation ocecurs in those cases where there is no opportunity or intention to utilise the asset before the end of the lease.
An impairment is recognised in those few cases where the current value-in-use of the asset is significantly less than the carrying
amount and there is no intention or opportunity known of that mitigates this impairment.

For contracts that both convey a right to the Group to use an identified asset and require services to be provided to the Group by
the lessor, the Group has elected to account for the entire contract as a lease.

Where the Group acts as a lessor by sub-letting specific leases, each such lease is classed either as a finance lease, if the sub-
let transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of the underlying asset to the lessee, or an operating lease, if not. The Group
endeavours to ansure that any sub-lease covers the full remaining term of the lease.

Where the Group recognises an asset from a finance lease, such asset replaces the right-of-use asset arising frem the head lease
and is recorded as a receivable called net investment in tha lease. Subsequent to initial measurement, the net investment in the
lease increases ag a result of interest charged at a constant rate on the balance cutstanding and is reduced for lease payments
made. These assets are reviewed for recoverability using the simplified arrangements under the expected credit loss model creating
a fifetime expected credit (oss provision.

Where the Group recognises an operating lease, lease payments received are treated as income on a straight-line basis.

R) Revenue

Revenue derived from temporary staffing services is recognised and accrued by reference to hours worked (reprasenting the
service provided) in accordance with submitted authorised timesheets and pre-agreed charge rates (which include an elament
of salary and related costs) which are together used to determine the transaction price. This applies both when there is a direct
supply as well as when there is supply of a managed service to the client, as the timing of performance obligations and the raising
of invoices can vary. Timesheets are submitted mainly on a weekly basis, with a limited number being submitted either daily or
monthly, 80 any variable aspect of contract assets is imited due to the financial period finishing at the end of a week.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

The Group assesses whether it is acting as agent or principal depending on whether the client has a direct relationship with the
Group, whether the Group has the primary responsibility for providing the services and whether the Greup has control of er holds
the inventory risk over the worker placed.

Where the Group acts as a principal in the supply, revenue is recognised as the gross amount due, net of applicable sales taxes,
rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales made within the Group. Where the Group provides a service in which it acts as
agant for the client, the amount of revenue recognised Ts limited to the management fee receivable for that service after making
provision for any lossas foreseen, volume rebates and any other amounts payable rather than the fuil amount invoiced. Trade
receivables and payables related to these sales are recorded at full invoice value. The Group does conduct business on both a
principal and an agent basis and each new contract is reviewed to identify the most appropriate basis. Most segments within the
Group act as principals as they have the primary relationship with the worker placed and can control when and where they are
placed. The examples of the agent-basis relationship are all found in the Global Managed Services segment. These contracts have
sacondary relationships with the workers placed and act more as intermediaries for providing services regarding administering and
processing rather than sourcing the individual workers. The contractual obligations around the pricing of both the billing of clients
and payments to suppliers in these cases highlight the lack of control over the specific service provided and so reinforces the
recognition of revenue on an agent basis. All revenue recognised on an agent basis is recognised at a point in time.

Revenue derived from permanent placements is recognised and accrued when the employment of the individual commences with
provision made for potential refunds which can be payable if the placement is terminated within a set pericd ranging from 14 to 100
days. Revenue recognised from a permanent placement uses a transaction price typically based on a percentage of the candidate’s
remuneration package and is recognised when the candidate commences work with the client, which is the only performance
cbligation and point at which control was transferred involved in the supply.

For revenue derived from both temporary staffing and permanent placements, payment is due following the cempletion of the
performance obligations and an agreed period of credit dependent on the agreed contract with the client. Gther revenue, including
fees received for one-off services which are not dependent on hours worked or placed workers, is recognised when the relevant
performance obligations have been performed. Interest income receivabie on deposits with financial institutions is recognised on
an accrued bass at a point in time. Contract liabilities are recognised when an invoice has been raised in advance of the service
provision discussed above. The practical expedient in IFRS 15 has been taken, the amount of the transaction price allocated to
remaining performance obligations has not been disclosed, as these contracts expected duraticn is less than one year.

S) Interest
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred unless they are gqualifying assets under IAS 23 Borrowing cests when
they are capitalised. Interest income is recognised when incurred.

T) Equity instruments
The Ordinary shares issued by the Company are classified as equity. They are recorded as the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Where any Group company purchases the Company’s equity instrument (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any
directly attributable incremental costs (net of taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s equity shareholders,
until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Upcn cancellation, a reserve equal to the nominal value of the shares is transferred from
retained earnings into a capital redemption reserve.

U) Retained earnings
Retained earnings represents all other net gains and losses and transactions with owners which are nct recognised elsewhere.

V) Dividend distribution policy
Dividend distributions to the Company's shareholders are recognised as an expense in the Group financial staternents in the pericd
in which the dividends are appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the Company.

W) Government grants

Government grants are recognised against expenses in the period in which they are intended to compensate. Grants are only
recognised when there is reasonable assurance that any conditions attached to the grant will be complied with and that the grant
will be received.
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X) Assets and liabilities held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell. Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly
probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed
to the sale which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classificaticn.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary
are classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, regardiess of whether the Group will retain a non-
controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

When the Group s committed to a sale plan involving disposal of an investment in an associate or, a portion of an investment

in an associate, the investment, or the portion of the investment in the associate, that will be disposed of is classified as held for
sale when the c¢riteria described above are met. The Group then ceases to apply the equity method in relation to the portion that
is classified as held for sale. Any retained portion of an investment in an associate that has not been classified as heid for sale
continues to be accounted for using the equity method.

3. Segment information
The Group is reporting under IFRS 8 Operating Segments which reguires that the Group firstly:
& identifies its ‘Chief Operating Dacision Maker' {CODM’), which has currently been assessed as the Group Chief Executive

Cfficer who, along with the ‘Leadership Team’, reviews the Group's internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources; and secondly

® by reference to the information supplied to the CODM, identify its operating segments and, from these, identify its reportable
segments.

The CODM discusses performance with management of the following reportable segments on a revenue and gross profit basis enly:
e Giobal Managed Services

s STEM

* Regional Specialist Staffing

& Healthcare

The above segments reflect the reportable segments which the CODM made their decisions on during the year. The disposals
during the year and after the year-end comprised the entirety of the Regicnal Specialist Staffing and Healthcare segments but these
have been retained in this note to reflect what was reviewed by the CODM throughout the period.

The CODM does not review balance sheet reports in detail by segment, only in total for the Group. As such, no information relating
to assets and liabilities on a segmental basis has bean presented.

Pre discontinued operations Continuing basis

Revenue Gross profit Reavenue Gross profit
Em £m £m £m

30 December 2022
Global Managed Services 974.4 971 974.4 971
STEM 999.7 107.8 999.7 107.8
Regional Specialist Staffing 318.8 58.3 - -
Healthcare 329.6 51.6 - -
Inter-segment revenues (94.2) - {26.7) -
Operating segments 2,528.3 314.8 1,947.4 204.9
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3. Segment information continued

Pre discontinued operations Continuing basis

Revenue Gross profit Revenue Gross proft
Re-presented £m £m £m £m
31 December 2021
Global Managed Services A3RT 79.2 838.7 79.2
STEM . 758.6 81.8 759.6 g81.8
Regional Specialist Staffing 4307 62.3 - -
Healthcare 295.3 437 - -
Inter-segment revenues (61.9) - (18.0) -
Operating segments 2,262.4 267.0 1,580.3 161.0

The CODM aiso discusses performance with management of the following geographic segments plus an allocation of shared costs
and corporate costs: .

* UK &Europe
» North America

s Agsia Pacific
Pre discontinued operations Continuing basis
Adjusted Adjusted
operating operating
Ravanue Gross protit profit Ravenue Gross profit profit
£m £m £m £m £m £m
30 December 2022
UK & Europe 2,011.6 208.2 321 1,506.2 112.8 20.5
North America 403.9 82.7 10.6 394.1 81.7 10.6
Asia Pacific 112.8 23.9 4.0 YA 10.4 2.0
Operating segments 2,528.3 314.8 46.7 1,947.4 204.9 3341
Pre discontinued operations Continuing basis
Adjusted Adjusted
Revenue Gross profit  operating profit Revenue Gross profit  operating profit
Re-presented E£m £Em Em Em £m £m
31 December 2021
UK & Europe 1,741.4 172.5 24.5 1,205.8 89.4 17.4
North America 456.3 76.5 101 358.3 63.7 8.6
Agia Pacific 64.7 18.0 22 16.2 7.9 1.6
Operating segments 2,262.4 267.0 36.8 1,580.3 161.0 27.6
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Recencifiation of segment adjusted operating profit to profit from operations is as follows:

Pre discontinued operations Continuing basis

Re-presanted

30 December 31December 30 December 31 December

2022 2021 2022 202

£m Em £Em £m

Segment adjusted operating profit a46.7 36.8 33.1 27.6
Corporate cosls (5.3) (7.5) (5.3) (7.5)
Adjusted operating profit 41.4 29.3 27.8 201
Profit from dispesal of operation (note 10} . 4.6 - - -
Impairment of asset held for sale (note 10) (1.9) - - -
Amortisation of brand value and customer relationships (note 14) (9.7) (9.8) {6.8) (6.4)
Operating profit 34.4 19.5 21.0 13.7
Finance income (note 6) 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.2
Finance expense (note 7) (5.2) (4.3} {5.0) G}
Tax charge (note 8) (4.1) (71 (1.4) (6.5)
Profit for the period ' 25.2 8.3 14.7 3.3

Where the Group places workers between operational segments, the relevant segments each recerd the gross revenue for placing
the worker on an arm’s-length basis. An adjustment has been made to remove the impact of inter-segment revenues from the
Group results.

The Group has adopted adjusted operating profit as its Alternative Performance Measure. to include depreciation and amortisation
of assets but excluding amortisation of acquired intangibles.

Adjusted operating profit is not defined by IFRS and therefore may not be directly comparable with other companies’ alternative
profit measures, It is not intended to be a substitute, or superior to, IFRS measurements of profit.

IFRS 15 requires entities to disaggregate revenue recognised from contracts with customers into relevant categories that depict
how the nature, amount and cash flows are affected by economic factors. As a result, we consider the following information to
be relevant:

Giobal

Managed Inter-segment

Services STEM revanues Total
30 December 2022 £m £m £m Em
Primary geographic markets
UK 740.7 759.5 (26.7) 1,473.5
Eurcpe 22.7 10.0 - 32.7
North America 163.9 230.2 - 3941
Australasia 47.1 - - 471
Total 974.4 999.7 (26.7) 1,947.4
Major service lines
Temperary placements 963.7 951.9 (26.7) 1,888.9
Permanent placements 5.1 35.0 - 40.1
COther 5.6 12.8 - 18.4
Total 974.4 999.7 (26.7) 1,947.4
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3. Segment information continued

Global
Managed inter-segment

Re-presented Services STEM revenues Total
31 December 2021 £m £m £m Em
Primary geographic markets

UK 633.3 5Ho4.b (18.0) 1,174.8
Europe 17.6 13.4 - 3.0
North America 171.6 186.7 - 358.3
Australasia 16.2 - - 16.2
Total 838.7 759.6 (18.0) 1,680.3
Major service lines

Tempaorary placements 828.5 728.4 (18.0} 1,638.9
Permanent placements 3.4 20.3 - 23.7
Cther 6.8 10.8 - 17.7
Total 838.7 759.6 (18.0) 1,580.3

The revenue information above is based on location of the Group entity directly involved in the supply.

4. Operating profit
a) Operating profit has been arrived at after charging:

30 December

31 December

2022 2021

£m £m
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment — continuing operations (note 11) 1.6 1.4
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment — discontinued cperations (note 1) 1.0 1.0
Amortisation of right-of-use assets — continuing operations {note 12) 3.4 4.2
Amortisation of right-of-use assets — discontinued operations (note 12) 2.4 2.8
Amortisaticn of intangible assets — continuing operations (note 14) 1.6 .1
Amortisation of intangible assets — discontinued operations {note 14) 3.3 4.0
Impairment of asset held for sale (note 10) 1.9 -
Profit on disposal of fixed assets 0.2 (0.2}
Minimum lease payments recognised as an operating lease expense (note 12) 0.7 0.7
Gain/(loss) on foreign exchange 0.1 (C.4)
Total employee expenses (note 5) 822.9 846.9

0.8

3.3

Charge for bad and doubtful trade receivables (ncte 16)

Operating profit is stated net of £nil {2021 £0.5m) income received from governments globally in respect of various support

schemes following the Covid-13 pandemic.,
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b) Auditor’s remuneration

30 Dacember

31 December

2022 2021

£rm £m

Fees payable to the Auditer for the audit of the Group's annual financial statements 0.3 0.3
Feas payable to the Group's Auditor and their associates for other services:

The audit of the Campany’s subsidiarios pursuant 1o legislalion 1.0 0.9

Total 1.3 1.2

5. Employment costs
a) Employees (including Directors) whose costs are included in administrative expenses
Costs of employment

30 Decembar

31 December

2022 2021
£€m Em
Wages, salaries and bonuses 185.2 157.5
Social security costs 17.7 14.4
Expenses related to defined contribution plan 3.5 2.9
Total 206.4 174.8
Continuing operations 139.7 1.3
Discontinuing operations 66.7 63.5
Total 206.4 174.8
Monthly average number of employees
30 December 31 December
2022 2021
Number Number
UK & Europe 2,222 1,894
North America 631 623
Asia Pacific 187 179
Cerporate staff (including Directors) 9 11
Total 3,049 2,707
Centinuing operations 1,770 1,436
Discontinuing operations 1,279 1,271
Total 3,049 2707

The period end number of staff was 3,064 (2021 2,900) of whom 1,825 (2021 1,606) are part of the continuing operations.

b) Employees whose costs are included in cost of sales

In addition to the above, the Group employs some of the staff whe are supplied to clients and whose costs are part of the Group's

cost of sales.
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5. Employment costs continued
Costs of employment

30 December

31 December

2022 2021

£m £m
Wages, salaries and bonuses 571.7 620.3
Social secunily cousls 41.8 48.8
Expenses related to defined contribution plan 3.0 3.0
Total 616.5 6721
Continuing operations 377.2 354.6
Discontinuing gperations 239.3 317.5
Total 616.5 6721

The costs above are net of government grants in respect to job support schemes that have been administered for staff supplied

to clients.

Monthly average number of employees

30 December

31 December

2022 2021

Numbar Number

UK & Europe 13,427 15,070

Nerth America 3,851 6,694

Asia Pacific 1,503 559

Total 18,781 22,323

Continuing operations 9,261 9,179

Discontinuing operations 9,520 13,144

Total 18,781 22,323

¢} Information ¢n Directors’ remuneration

The total emoluments for all Directors during the period were:

30 December 31 December

2022 2021

£Em £m

Emoluments (including benefits) 1,996 2,053

Contribution to defined contribution pension plans 92 a2

Total 2,088 0,145
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Salary and Pension Total fixed Deferred Total Total

benefits  centributions costs Bonus bonus variable emoluments

30 Cecernber 2022 £000 E000 £000 €000 £000 £000 £000
Lord M Ashcroft 59 - 69 - - - 59
J Robertson 477 68 545 330 217 547 1,092
T Briant 313 24 337 255 180 435 772
AE Entwistle 40 - 40 - - - 40
ME Ettling 45 - 45 - - - 45
M Laurie 40 - 40 - - - 40
Baroness T Stowell 40 - 40 - - - 40
Total 1,014 92 1,106 585 397 982 2,088
Salary and Pension Total fixed Deferred Total Tatal

benefits contributions costs Bonus bonus variable emoluments

31 Decemnber 2021 £000 £000 £000 £000 E£QCO £000 £000
Lord M Ashcroft 50 - 50 - - - 50
J Robertson 477 68 545 345 233 578 1123
T Briant 314 24 338 270 195 465 803
AE Entwistle 40 - 40 - - - 40
ME Ettling 49 - 49 - - - 49
M Laurie 40 - 40 - - - 40
Barcness T Stowell 40 - 40 - - - 40
Total 1,010 g2 1,102 815 428 1,043 245

All pension payments relate to defined contribution schemes.

The total emoluments for J Robertson and T Briant include benefits, both non-cash and cash, to the value of £95,000 (2021

£95,000) and £38,000 (2021: £37,000) respectively. The £40,000 (2021 £40,000) paid for the services of AE Entwistle as a Non-
Executive Director is paid to Deacon Street Partners Limited. No Director has been in receipt of either a loan from the Group ora
long- term incentive plan in the current cr prior periods.

6. Total finance income

Bank interest receivable
Interest on lease debtors

Total finance income

Continuing operations
Discontinuing operations

Total

30 Decatmbar 31 December
2022 2021

£m £m

0.1 01

- 01

041 0.2

041 c.2

041 0.2
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7. Total finance expense

30 December

31 December

2022 2021

£€m £m

Revolving credit facilities 4.6 3.4.
Lease interest payable 0.4 06
LInwind discount on provisicris 01 0.2
Other interest expense 0.1 01
Total finance expense 5.2 4.3
Continuing operations 5.0 4.1
Discontinuing operations 0.2 0.2
Total 5.2 4.3

8. Taxation
a) Tax charge in the income statement

30 December

31 December

2022 2021
£m Em

Current income tax
UK corporation tax on results for the period 34 2.8
Adjustments in respect of previous periods (0.6) 0.8)
2.5 2.3
Foreign tax in the period 2.3 1.6
Total current income tax 4.8 3.9
Deferred tax (credit)/charge (0.7) 3.2
Total tax charge in the income statement 4.4 7
Continuing operaticns 1.4 6.5
Discontinuing operations 2.7 0.6
4.1 71

Total

The deferred tax charge comprises the following:

30 December

31 December

2022 2021

£Em £m

Utilisation of tax losses brought forward - 2.0
Recognition of assets not previcusly recognised - 0.9
Origination and reversal of other temporary differences 1.2 (1.5}
Change in tax rate used for deferred tax carried forward - 31
Adjustment in respect of previous periods (2.0) 0.5
Total deferred tax (credit)/charge (note 22) (0.8) 3.2
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b) Reconciliation of the total tax charge

The standard rate of Corporation Tax in the UK is 19%. Accordingly, the Group’s resuit from this period is taxed at an effective rate
of 14.6% (2021: 45 8%). The tax charge for the period is £4.1m (2021: £7.1m) for the Group. A tax reconciliation explaining differences
frem the expected statutory rate is summarised below:

30 December 31 December

2022 2021

% %

Tax charge at UK standard rate 19.0 19.0
Differences in tax rates in other countries . 1.7 0.9
(Income)/expenses not taxable/allowable in determining taxable profits 4.4 9.6
Losses in period carried forward but not recognised as assets 1.7 0.9
Utilisation of losses net previously recognised (note 22} {2.8) (4.8)
Change in tax rate used for deferred tax carried forward 0.2 20.2
Adjustments to deferred tax in respect of previous periods (7.1) 3.5
Adjustments in respect of previous periods (2.3) (3.5)
Effective total tax rate 14.5 458

Income not taxabie in determining taxable profits is comprised of various adjustments in respect of items not treated as taxable
under local tax rules (such as non-deductible interest and capital costs in administrative expenses), plus expenses previously added
back as non-deductible being treated as allowed for tax.

Adjustments in respect of previcus periods {current and deferred) arise as a result of a reduction in non-tax-deductible expenses
and estimated timing differences in the prior year filed tax returns. See note 22 for an explanation of deferred tax balances.

Factors affecting tax charges in future periods

The UK Government announced an increase in the corporation tax rate from 19% to 25%, with an effective date of 1 April 2023,
which was substantively enacted on 24 May 2021, Temporary differences were remeasured in the prior year using the enacted tax
rates that are expected to apply when the liability is settled or the asset realisec.

To address concerns about uneven profit distribution and tax contributions of large multinational corporations, various agreements
have been reached at the glooal level, including an agreement by over 135 jurisdictions to introduce a global minimum tax rate

of 15%. In December 2021, the Organisation for Economic Co-oparation and Development (OECD) released a draft legislative
framework, followed by detailed guidance released in March 2022, that is expected to be used by individual jurisdictions that
signed the agreement to amend their local tax laws. Once changes to the tax laws in any jurisdiction in which the Group operates
are enacted or substantively enacted, the Group may be subject tc the top-up tax.

At the date when the financial statements were authorised for issue, none of the jurisdictions in which the Group operates had
enacted or substantively enacted the tax legislation related to the top-up tax. Management does not consider that any subsidiary
resides in a territory which will give rise to a material top-up tax. However, are closely monitoring the progress of the legislative
process in each jurisdiction the Group operates in.
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9, Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the period attributable to the owners of the Company by

the weighted average number of Crdinary shares outstanding during the pericd.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated on the same basis but after adjusting the denominator for the effects of dilutive
options. The only dilutive effect relates to nil (2021: 19,841) shares owned by The Corporate Services Group Lid Employee Share
Trust which hold the shares remaining after various historic option plans lapsed. Excluding these shares, the weighted average
number of shares in 2022 is 45147,337 {2021: 45,538,963) and Lhe fully diluted average number of shares is 45,152,679 (2021:
45,558,804). The calculations of both basic and diluted earnings per share {'EPS’) are based upon the following consolidated

income statement data:

30 December

31 December

2022 200

Em Em

Continuing profit for the period 14.7 33
Discontinued profit for the period 10.5 50
Profit/(loss) for the period 25.2 8.3
Impairment of asset held for sale (net of tax) — discontinued {note 10) 1.9 -
Customer relationship and brand amortisation {(net of tax} — continuing (note 4} 5.3 50
Customer relationship and brand amortisation {net of tax) — discontinued (note 4) 2.3 2.7
Total adjusted profit for the period 34.7 16.0
Centinuing adjusted profit for the pericd 20.0 8.3
Discontinued adjusted profit for the period 14.7 7.7

EPS — basic calculation

30 December

31 December

2022 2021

Pence Pance

Continuing unadjusted basic earnings per share 32.6 7.3
Discontinued unadjusted basic earnings per share 23.3 1.0
Total unadjusted basic earnings per share 55.9 18.3
Impairment of asset held for sale {net of tax} — discontinued (note 10) 4.2 -
Customer relationship and brand amortisation (net of tax) — continuing (note 4) 17 109
Customer relationship and brand amortisation (net of tax) — discontinued (note 4) 5.1 6.1
Adjusted basic earnings per share’ 76.9 353
Continuing adjusted basic earnings per share 44.3 18.2
Discontinued adjusted basic earnings per share 32.6 171

1 Additional earmings per share calcdlations have been presentad in order 1o provide information on the underlying performance of the Group before imparrment of goodwill and intangible

assets and the amortisation o® customer relationships and brands.
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EPS — diluted calculation

30 December 31 December

2022 2021

Pance Pence

Continuing unadjusted diluted earnings per share 32.6 7.3
Discontinued unadjusted diluted earnings per share 23.3 1.0
Total unadjusted diluted earnings per share 55.9 18.3
Impairment of asset held tor sale (net of tax) — discontinued (note 10) 4.2 -
Customer relationship and brand amortisation {net of tax) — continuing (note 4) 1n.7 10.8
Customer relationship and brand amortisation {net of tax) — discontinued (note 4} 5.1 6.1
Adjusted diluted earnings per share' 76.9 35.2
Continuing adjusted diluted earnings per share 44.3 18.1
Discontinued adjusted diluted earnings per share 32.6 171

1 Additional earnings per share calculations have been presented in order to provide informatien on the underty ing per‘ormance of the Group before impairment of goodwill and intangible
assets and the amortisation of customer relationships and brands.

10. Discontinued operations

Total profit and loss relating to discontinued operations

52 weeks 52 weeks

30 December 31 December

2022 2021

£Em Em

Turnover 580.9 6821
Cost of Saie (a71.0) (576.1)
Gross Profit 109.9 106.0
Admin expenses (992.2) {100.2)
Impairment of goodwil| (1.9) -
Operating profit 8.8 5.8
Interast {0.2) {0.2)
Profit before tax 8.6 56
Taxation (1.3 (0.6}
Profit from discontinued operations 7.3 5.0
Post tax gain on disposal 3.2 -
Total profit from discontinued operations 10.5 5.0

Total cash flows refating to discentinued operaticns

52 weoks 52 weeks

30 Decembar 21 December

2022 2021

Em £m

Net cash generated by operating activities 4.7 2.9
Net cash generated on investing activities 121 (0.6)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (2.4) (2.9)
Net cash flows for discontinued operations 14.4 0.6)
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10. Discontinued operations continued
A. Disposal of Corestaff

On 24 January 2022 the Group announced the sale of the business and assets of Corestaff, the US-based Light Industrial

brand, to swipejobs Inc., a US private digital staffing company, for cash consideration of approximately $19 miflion (£14.7 millicn}
{‘the Disposal’). This consideration was based on an agreed net warking capital of $10 million on the date of dispesal with a $ for $
adjustrment to consideration if the net working capital was above or below this amount. The final working capital position was to be
determined between 90 and 120 days post completion date and, on 29 June 2022, a final poasitinn of $12.9 million was agreed. As a
result, an additional $2.9 million (£2.2 million} of consideraticn was received in July 2022 giving a total of $21.2 million (£16.3 million).

Corestaff is not a separate legal entity, but is included within the trade of two US registered legal entities (Corporate Employment
Resources Inc and Corestaff Support Services Inc). Assets, liabilities and trade relating to Corestaff are identified by way of specific
cost centre combinations that are identified as relating to Corestaff.

Profit from disposal of Corestaff:

Em

Cash consideration received 16.3
Cash disposed of _
Expenses relating to disposal (0.9;
Net cash inflow on disposal of discontinued operation ' 15.4

Net assets disposed (other than cashy:

Right-of-use asset (0.2)
Trade and other receivables {10.9)
Trade and other payables 0.8
Lease labilities 0.2
Provisions 0.3
(9.8)

Gain on disposal of discontinued operation before allocated goedwill and tax 56
Allocated goodwill (1.0)
Pre-tax gain on disposal of discontinued operation 4.6
Related tax expense {1.4)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operation 3.2
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Profit and loss relating to discontinued operations

62 weaks 52 weeks
30 Decembear 31December
2022 2021
£Em £m
Turnover 9.8 98.0
Cost of Sale (8.7) 85
Gross Profit . 1.1 12.9
Admin expenses {1.1) {11.4}
Operating profit ~ 1.5
Interest - -
Profit before tax - 15
Taxation - (C.4)
Profit from discontinued operations - 11
Post tax gain on disposal 3.2 -
Total profit from discontinued operations 3.2 11
Cash flows relating to discontinued operations
) 52 weeks 52 weeks
30 Decembar 31 December
2022 2021
£m £m
MNet cash generated by operating activities (0.5) 0.7
Net cash generated on investing activities 13.8 -
Net cash outflow from financing activities - 01
Net cash flows for discontinued operations 13.3 0.8
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10. Discontinued operations continued
Effect of disposal on the financial position of the Group

At disposal

£m

Allocated goodwill 1.0
Right-of-use 0.2
Trade and other receivables 1.9
Trade and other pavables (0.8)
Lease labiiities (0.2)
Provisions (0.3
Net assets and liabilities ' 10.8

B. Disposal of Regional Specialist Staffing and Healthcare Staffing divisions

On 30 January 2023 the Group announced the sale of the business and assets of its Regional Specialist Staffing businesses in the
UK (Tate, Blue Arrow Group, Chadwick Nott, Career Teachers) and its Healthcare Staffing business in the UK| (reland and APAC
(Medacs Global Group) to Twenty20 Capital for cash consideration of £85m on a debt-free, cash-free, normalised werking capital
basis {‘the Transaction’). This consideration was based on an agreed nil cash position and target net working capital of £30.8 million
on the date of disposal with a £ for £ adjustment to consideration if the net working capital was above or below this amount. The
final working capital pesition is to be determined 60 days after the completion date. The deal had been deemed to be highly
probable on 16 December 2022 and at that time was treated as a discontinued operation and as an asset and liability held for sale.
The transaction was completed on 3 March 2023.

Profit and loss relating to discontinued operations

52 weeks 52 weeks

30 Decembar 31 December

2022 2021

Turnover 5711 L4~
Cost of Sale (462.3) (491.0)
Gross Profit 108.8 931
Admin expenses (98.1) (88.8)
Impairment of goodwill (1.9) -
Operating profit 8.8 4.3
interest (0.2) ©0.2)
Profit before tax 8.6 41
Taxation (1.3) {0.2)
Profit from discontinued operations 7.3 3.9
Post tax gain on disposal - -~
Total profit from discontinued operations 7.3 39
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52 weeks 52 weeks

30 December 31 December

2022 2021

£m £m

Net cash generated by operating activities 5.2 2.2
Net cash generated on investing activities .7 {(0.6)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (2.4) (3.0)
Net cash Hows for discontinued operations 11 (1.4)

Effect of disposal on the financial position of the Group

30 December

2022
£m
Property, plant and eguipment 15
Right-of-use 3.4
Goodwill 25.2
Cther intangible assets 30.4
Financial assets 0.1
Deferred tax assets 17
Trade and other receivables 107.8
L ease receivables 1.1
Total assets held for sale 7.2
Lease liabilities (a.4)
Trade and other payables (68.8)
Tax payable (0.5)
Provisions {6.6)
Deferred tax payable (6.8)
Total liabilities held for sale (87.1)
Net assets and liabilities 84.1
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11. Property, plant and equipment

Short Furniture,
Freehold leasehaold Fxtures Computer

property property and fitungs equipment Total

£m £m £Em £m £m

Net carrying value — 1January 2021 0.2 1.1 27 11 5.1
Cost - 2.Jannary 2021 0.2 3.0 7.5 5.4 16.1
Additions - 0.2 0.1 12 15
Disposals - - (©9) (1.7) (2.6)
Foreign exchange - - - o1 0.1
Cost — 31 December 2021 0.2 3.2 67 5.0 15.1
Accumulated depreciation — 2 January 2021 - 1.9 4.8 4.3 1.0
Charge for the period - 0.5 11 0.8 2.4
Disposals - - (0.9) (1.7 (2.6)
Foreign exchange - - - 01 0
Accumulated depreciation - 31 December 2021 - 2.4 5.0 3.5 10.9
Net carrying value — 31 December 2021 0.2 0.8 17 1.5 4.2
Cost = 1January 2022 0.2 3.2 6.7 5.0 151
Re-analysis - 0.8 (0.8) - -
Additions - 0.1 0.6 2.6 3.3
Disposals - (0.7} (1.1) (0.6) (2.4)
Transferred to assets held for sales (note 10) (0.2) (1.0) (1.9) (1.6) {4.7)
Foreign exchange - 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.6
Cost - 30 December 2022 - 2.6 3.7 5.6 1.9
Accumulated depreciation — 1January 2022 - 2.4 5.0 3.5 10.9
Re-analysis - 0.4 (0.4) - -
Charge for the period - 0.4 0.9 1.3 2.6
Disposais - (0.7) (1.1) {0.6) (2.4)
Transferred to assets held for sales (note 10) - (0.7) (1.7} {0.8) (3.2)
Foreign exchange - 01 0.3 0.2 0.6
Accumulated depreciation - 30 December 2022 - 1.9 3.0 3.6 8.5
Net carrying value — 30 December 2022 - 0.7 0.7 2.0 3.4

Included in computer equipment are assets with net carrying value of £nil (2021: £0.1m) held under a finance lease. Depreciation of
£0.1m (2021 £0.1m) was charged on these assets.

12. Leases

During the period, the Group accounted for 94 leased properties {2021: 125) under IFRS 16 across the jurisdictions in which it
operates. In some jurisdictions it is customary for lease contracts to provide for payments to increase each year by inflation orat a
fixed rate and in others to be reset periodically to market rental rates, whilst in others the periodic rent is fixed over the lease term.
Some leases have provisions for early termination (see |lease end dates judgements 2(B)i). The Group also leased 27 vehicles (2021
99), all of which have a fixed lease fee over the term. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate used to calculate the lease
hiability was 3.26% (2021: 2.96%).

Of the 94 property leases accounted for under IFRS 16 during the periad, 13.8% recognised future uplifts in rent (2021: 12%). Should
the lease payments on thase increase by 5% there could be a resulting increase in the right-of-use asset of £0.1m.
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Land and
bulldings Vehicles Total
£m EmM £m

Net carrying value — 1 January 2021 20.9 0.4 21.3
Cost - 2 January 2021 35.3 1.2 36.5
Additions 0.5 - 0.5
Remeasurement 1.5 - 1.5
Dispesals (4.0) (0.5) (4.5)
Foreign exchange {0.2) (0.1 (0.3
Cost - 31 December 2021 331 0.6 337
Accumulated depreciation — 2 January 2021 14.4 0.8 15.2
Charge for the period 6.7 0.3 7.0
Disposals (3.8) (0.5) (4.3)
Foreign exchange 0.1 - [{oR))
Accumulated depreciation — 31 December 2021 17.2 0.6 17.8
Net carrying value — 31 December 2021 15.9 - 15.9
Cost - 1January 2022 3341 0.6 33.7
Additions 1.6 - 1.6
Remeasurement 0.4 - 0.4
Disposals (5.1} (0.2) (5.3)
Transferred to assets held for sales (note 10) (9.7} (0.2} (9.9)
Foreign exchange 1.4 - 1.1
Cost - 30 December 2022 21.4 0.2 21.6
Accumulated depreciation — 1January 2022 17.2 0.6 17.8
Charge for the pericd 5.4 0.1 5.5
Disposals (4.8} {0.2) {5.0)
Transferred to assets held for sales (note 10) (6.2) {0.3) {6.5)
Foreign exchange 0.7 - 0.7
Accumulated depreciation - 30 December 2022 12.3 0.2 12.5
Net carrying value - 30 December 2022 9.1 - 9.1
Lease receivables

—and and

bulldings Vehicles Total

£m £m £m

Net carrying value — 1 January 2021 4.3 - 4.3
Additions - _ _
Interest 0.1 - 0.1
Receipts (1.7) - (.7
Disposals (2.5) - (2.5)
Foreign exchange 0.2) - {0.2)

Net carrying value — 31 December 2021

Net carrying value — 30 December 2022
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12. Leases continued
Lease liabilities

Land and

buildings Vehicles Total

£m £m £m

Net carrying value — 1 January 2021 26.2 0.3 26.5
Additions 0.4 - 0.4
Remeasurement 1.3 - 1.3
Interest 0.6 - 0.6
Payments (9.0) (©.2) {9.2)
Disposals (2.7 - (2.7
Foreign exchange (0.4) - (0.4)
Net carrying value — 31 December 2021 16.4 (o8] 16.5
Additions 1.3 - 1.3
Remeasuremant 0.5 - 0.5
Interest 0.4 - 0.4
Payments (5.7) (0.1) (5.8)
Disposals {0.3) - (0.3)
Transfar to liabilities held for sale (note 10) (3.3) - (3.3)
Foreign exchange 0.6 - 0.6
Net carrying value - 30 December 2022 9.9 - 9.9
30 December 31 December

2022 2021

£m £m

Current 3.0 5.1
Non-current 6.9 1.4
Total lease liabilities {(notes 29 and 30) 9.9 16.5

30 December

31t December

2022 2021

£m £m

Due in year 1 3.3 5.5
Dueinysar2to 5 6.0 9.2
Due after year 5 1.5 3.0
Undiscounted lease payments 10.8 17.7
Unearned finance income (0.9) (1.2}
Total lease payables (notes 29 and 30) 9.9 16.5

Included in operating lease expenditure for 2022 are expenses relating to leases which have not been recognised under IFRS 16.
The value of expense recognised for low-value leases for the period is £0.4m {2021 £0.7m) and for short-term leases is £0.3m

(2021: £0.1m).
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13. Goodwill

Net carrying

Cost trmpairment value

£Em £m £m

Opening balance at 1January 2021 155.9 (26.8) 1291
Foreign exchange (0.2) - 0.2
Closing balance at 31 December 2021 155.7 (26.8) 128.9
Transfer toc assets held for sale {note 1G) (37.3) 10.2 (27.1)
Disposal (1.0) - (1.0)
Foreign exchange 8.7 - 8.7
Closing balance at 30 December 2022 126.1 (16.6) 109.5

Geodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to seven principal cash-
generating unit (CGU") groups as follows:

* Engineering

# Information technology

* Onling platform

e Science and clinical

e UK General staffing

» US Staffing

e Vendor procurement

Foreign exchange and other movements to goodwill arises from the retranslation of gocdwill balances held in foreign currencies
relating to the acquisition of Bartech Holdings Corparation, in the US Staffing CGU.

No impairments were recagnised in the current or prior periods aver goodwill or other intangible assets. During the period the
Group disposed of the trade of Corestaff which is held under the US Staffing CGU and accounted for £1.0m of the holding of the
goodwill. On 30 January 2023 the Group announced the sale of the Regional Specialist Staffing and Healthcare divisions. These

divisicns comprise the entirety of the Education and Healthcare CGUs and a portion of the UK General Staffing CGU. As a result,

£37.3m of goodwill cost and £10.2m of associated impairments were transferred to assets held for sale.

The carrying amount of goodwill and other indefinite assets allocated to cash-generating units at the pericd end is:

20 Decembar 31 December

2022 2021

£m £m

Healthcare - 7.9
Information technology 1.4 1.4
Science and clinical 8.5 8.5
UK General staffing 9.4 28.6
US Staffing 80.2 72.5
Total 109.5 128.9

Any CGU not shown above has no goodwill in the current or prior peried. The Group tests this and other assets {note 14) for
impairment on an annual basis, and ctherwise when changes in events or situations indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable. If such a test indicates that the carrying amount is too high, a recoverable amount is established for the asset, which is

the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and the value in use.
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13. Goodwill continued

The recoverable amount for each of the above CGUs has been determined based upon a value-in-use calculation. Value-in-use
is established by discounting anticipated future cash flows attributable to each CGU that goodwill has been aflocated to, Pre-
tax cash flow projections are based on financiai budgets approved by the Board covering the next financial period and high leve
management farecasts for the following four years with a parpetuity factor applied to the last forecast year.

Key assumptions

I he key assumptions are based upon a combination of market data tempered by our own historical experience. The calculation of
value-in-use is most sensitive to the following assumptions: ’

o Gross profit — this takes the average gress prefit achieved in the two years preceding the start of the five plan years and adjusts,
as appropriate, for anticipated changes to business mix and market conditions over the five plan years and range from 3.2% to
100.0% depending on the CGU;

e Discount rate — this reflects the Directors’ estimate of an appropriate market rate of return taking into account the relevant risk
factors; this has been adjusted to reflect current and expected future economic conditions as well as to account for geographic
influences (see table below for rates):

s Growth rate used to extrapolate beyond the plan year and terminal values are based upen the long-term average growth rate
of the UK and US economies and range from 1.0% to 9.0% depending on how long it is anticipated the CGU will take to recover
from the impacts of Covid-19, Management recognises that the staffing and support services market growth rates fluctuate both
above and below this rate; and

+ Termiral value growth rate — the cash How projections include growth rates that are nct expected to exceed the leng-term
growth rates of the UK and US econemies, currently 2.0% (2021 2.0%,.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

The impairment calculation is Sensitive to changes in the above assumptions. Sensitivity analyses were performed over each
subsidiary CGU to model the effects of advarse changes in the forecasts and growth assumptions. The table below shows how the
results of the impairment tests for each significant CGU {being those subject to impairment, having limited excess of recoverable
amount over carrying amount, or representing a substantial amount of the total goodwill) would be impactad {with all other
variables being equal) by an increase in discount rate of 0.5% or a decrease of 0.5% in the long-term growth rate. The impact of all
of the scenarios together has also been considered and is disclosed in the final column.

Increase in

Excess of Long-term impairment

recoverable growth rates using

amount over 0.5% increase decrease Combined combined

carrying value Pre-tax  in discount rate by 0.5% sensitivity sensitivity

Em discount rate £m £Em £Em £m

information technology 215 16.1 (3.6) 6.2) (9.3) -
Science and clinical 8.0 16.1 (0.8 (1.8) (2.5) -
UK General staffing 52 161 (1.9) (3.3) (5.0) -
US Staffing 31.8 18.8 (2.3) (12.5} {15.7) -

The post-tax discount rate used for management’s best estimates in 2022 was between 13.0% and 13.7%. Management continues
to monitor closely the performance of all CGUs and considers the impact of any changss to the key assumptions.

in conclusion, management believes that, other than shown above, there is no reasonable possible change in the underlying
assumptions that would result in a further significant impairment charge in the consolidated income statement.
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Client
Software Brand values relationships Total
£rn Em £m £m
Net carrying value — 1 January 2021 12.9 65.8 17.5 96.2
Cost - 2 January 2021 355 78.5 54.2 168.2
Additions 4.3 - - 4.3
Disposals (3.6) - - (3.6)
Impairment - - - -
Foreign exchange (oR}! - - (o5
Cost — 31 December 2021 36.1 78.5 54.2 168.8
Accumulated amortisation - 2 January 2021 22.6 27 367 72.0
Charge for the period 5.3 59 3.9 15.1
Disposals (3.6) - - (3.6}
Foreign exchange {sh)) 0.1 - -
Accumulated amortisation — 31 December 2021 24.2 18.7 40.6 83.5
Net carrying value — 31 December 2021 .9 59.8 13.6 85.3
Cost — 1January 2022 3641 78.5 54.2 168.8
Additions 8.0 - - 8.0
Disposals (2.7) - - {2.7)
Transfer to assets held for sale (note 10) (2.5) (37.9) (1s.1) (55.5)
Foreign exchange 0.6 1.8 1.8 4.2
Cost — 30 December 2022 39.5 42.4 40.9 122.8
Accumulated amortisation — 1January 2022 24.2 18.7 40.6 83.5
Charge for the pericd 5.2 5.6 44 14.9
Disposals 2.7 - - (2.7
Transfer to assets held for sale (note 10} (1.9) (10.3) (12.9) {25.1)
Foreign exchange 0.5 0.8 1.1 2.4
Accumulated amortisation — 30 December 2022 25.3 14.8 329 73.0
Net carrying value — 30 December 2022 14.2 27.6 8.0 49.8

Included in software additions for the 52 waeks ended 30 December 2022 are internally generated software development costs of
£nil (2021 £0.6m) which have been capitalised at cost. These costs have been assessed as having a finite life of between three and
five years (2021: three and five years) and are amortised, from the date the software is available for use, on a straight-line basis over

this period.

Client relationships have resulted from business combinations and have been assessed as having a finite life of ten years. They
are amortised, from the date of acquisition, on a straight-line basis over this period. Brand values have resulted from business
combinations and have been assessed as having a finite life of between three and 20 years depending on the prominence of the

brand. They are amortised on & straight-line basis aver this period.
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14. Other intangible assets continued
A summary of the amounts in brand values and client relationships, together with the remaining amortisation pericd is below:

Remaining Ramaining

amortisation Client amortisation

Brand values penod relationships period

£m years £m years

Infarmation technology 10.3 15.9 2.9 1.8
LIS Staffing 1.9 15.9 51 3.0
Vendor procurement 5.4 15.9 - -

These assets are all reviewed for impairment when there are changas in events or situations that indicate the carrying value may not
be recaverable. Details of the sensitivities over such impairment reviews are included in note 13. Na impairment was recognised in
the current period (2021 £nil).

15. Financial assets

30 Decembar 31 December
2022 2021
£m £m

Financial assets — non-current
Marketable investments designated at market value through the income statement 0.9 15
Other financial assets (loans and receivables) — non-current

Deposits with non-financial institutions 04 0.2

Total 1.0 1.7

Financial assets include:

s The marketable investments at market value through the income statement represent investments held in trust on behalf of
certain US employees (see note 2(P)). The plan allows certain key employees to defer receipt of a portion of their compensation.
These deferred compensation liabilities are funded by making contributions into a trust. The employees’ entitlements are
limited to the market value of the fund. Investments in the trust comprise shares in US mutual funds. At 30 December 2022,
these investments have been adjusted to the market value of £0.m (202t £1.5m). This movemant is matched by an equivalent
movemant in other payables as disclosed in note 18; and

s Deposits with non-financial institutions represent amounts held by suppliers, clients and landlords as security for provision of
facilities and services.

Informaticn on credit risks and fair values is given in notes 29 and 30.
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16. Trade and other receivables
Current assets

30 December 31 December

2022 2021

£m £m

Trade receivablaes (note 2(J)) 558.6 539.2
Other receivablaes 3.7 3.6
Prepayments 51 5.0
Contract assets 69.4 577
Total 636.8 6055

» Trade receivables also include gross receivables of £364.2m {2021: £268.5m) under master-vendor agency arrangaments in the
UK and US whera the Group only recognises the management fee element of the receivable as revenue — note 2(R);

s Contract assets comprise accruad income and costs incurred in the implementation of new contracts; and
s The above trade and other receivables fall inte the oans and receivables’ category of the Group's financial assets.

Non-current assets

30 Dacember 31 December

apa2 2021

£m Erm

Contract assets 0.7 0.9
l.ease debtor (note 12) - _
Total 0.7 0.9

Information on credit risks and fair values is given in notes 29 and 30.

Contract balances

Contract assets

30 December 3t December

2022 2021

£m Em

At the beginning of the period 57.7 55.8
Net amounts recognised as revenue in the period 23.8 1.9
Transfer to assets held for sale (12.1) -
At the end of the period 69.4 577

Contract assets are included within ‘trade and other receivables’ on the face of the statermant of financial position. Contract assets
comprise accrued income and costs incurred in the implementation of new contracts {note 2(J)).

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses using a lifetime expected credit loss
orovision far trade receivables and contract assets. To measure expected credit losses on a collective basis, trade receivables and
contract assets are grouped based on similar credit risk and ageing. The contract assets have similar risk characteristics to the trade

receivables for similar types of contracts.

The expected loss provision is based on the Group's expectation of future credit losses over the current receivables balance based
on an analysis of the aging and sector of the receivable. These expectations are based upon known issues effecting specific debtors
as well as a combination of historic and general forward-looking information on factors affecting the Group's customers as a whole
as well as an awareness of the economic conditions in the countries where the Group operates. These risk factors are considered
both on initial recognition of the receivable and as part of the ongoing assessment.
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16, Trade and other receivables continued

The lifetime expected loss provision for trade receivables is as follows:

<60 days past 60-120 days =120 days
Current due past due past due Total
31 December 2021 £m £m Em Em £m
Expected loss rate (%) 0.4% 1.9% 6.3% 54.2% 1.2%
Gross carrying amount 4419.6 04.1 6.4 5.9 546.0
Loss provision 1.6 1.6 0.4 3.2 6.8
<60 days 60-120 days >120 days
Current past due past due past due Total
30 December 2022 Em £m £m £rm £m
Expected loss rate (%) 0.1% 34% 7.4% 8.1% 0.6%
Gross carrying amount 4971 41.4 2.7 21.0 562.2
Loss provision 0.4 1.3 0.2 1.7 3.6

All non-current receivables are due within three years of the end of the period.

Mavements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables were as follows:

30 December

31 December

2022 2021

£m £m

Balance at beginning of period 6.8 5.2
Transfer to assets held for sale (2.6) ~
Charged for the pericd 0.8 3.3
Utilised for the period (1.6) (1.7
Fareign exchange 0.2 -
Balance at end of period 3.6 6.8

The creation and release of provisions for impaired trade receivables have been included in ‘administrative expenses’ in the income

statement. Amounts are generally written off to the provision account where there is no expectation of recovery.

Included in the Group’s receivables are the following balances denominated in foreign currency:

30 December 31 December

2022 2021

£m £Em

Trade receivables (note 2(J}) 382.9 313.7
Other receivabies 4.4 2.6
Prepayments 1.4 2.5
Accrued income 1.6 12.5
Total 390.3 331.3
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17. Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

30 December 31 December
2022 2021
£m £m
Cash . 12.4 aC.9
included within cash is £10.7m (2021 £8.5m) of cash which is restricted for use on specific clients.
Information on credit risks, fair values and interest rates is given in notes 29 and 30.
18. Trade and other payables
Current liabilities
30 December 31 December
2022 2021
£m £m
Bank overdraft 4.3 3.9
Trade payables 530.2 276.7
Other tax and social security costs 3.4 63.9
Accruals 70.8 77.3
Contract liabilities 0.1 0.5
Other pavables 40.9 46.4
Total 677.7 568.7

Trade payables include £448.5m [2021: £332.5m) of amounts payable under master-vendor arrangsments in the UK and US, which
are related to certain of the trade receivables — note 16. Arrangements are such that the payable amount is not due by the Group
until a few days after receipt of the receivable.

Other tax and social security costs include £nil (2021 £9.1m) of taxes deferred under government schemes across
various jurisdictions.

Included in other payables and accruals are:

a £0.9m (2021 £1.4m) in respect of liabilities accruing to certain US employees in respect of a deferred compensation plan. These
amounts are payable to members of the plan on retirement {note 15);

b. £4.5m (2021 £6.6m) for contributions due to be made to defined contribution pension schernes on behalf of certain employees
of the Group;

c. £2.2m (2021: £3.6m) for customer unclaimed payments; and
d. Remaining amcunts within othar payables are largely payroll-related creditors.

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities:

e. Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within one month from the end of the month of invoice;

f. Other tax and social security costs are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within cne to three manths; and
g. Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of three months.

Information on credit risks and fair values is given in notes 29 and 30.
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19. Short-term borrowings

30 December 31 December
2022 2021
£m £m

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:
Hire purchase - secured - 01
Total - 01

Information on terms, credit risks and fair values are given in notes 28, 29 and 30.

20. Long-term borrowings

30 December

31 December

2022 2021
£Em £m
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:
Revolving credit borrowings — secured 77.8 101.9
Total 77.8 101.9
Information on terms, credit risks and fair values are given in notes 28, 29 and 30.
21. Provisions
Workers' Legal &
Property  compensation contractual Total
£m £m £m £Em
Current — 31 December 2021 11 0.2 7.0 8.3
Non-current — 31 December 2021 3.2 - 0.6 3.8
At 31 December 2021 4.3 0.2 7.6 121
Additians in the period 0.2 - - a.2
Utilised during the period {0.9) - (2.1) (3.0)
Unwind of discount 0.1 - - 0.1
Transfer to liabilities held for sale {1.6) - (5.0 (6.6)
Foreign exchange 0.1 - 0.8 0.9
At 30 December 2022 2.2 0.2 1.3 3.7
Current - 30 December 2022 0.5 0.2 1.3 2.0
Non-current — 30 December 2022 1.7 - - 1.7
Totat 2.2 0.2 1.3 3.7
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Property

Property provisions relate to the full expected cost of dilapidations and have been discounted to a present value using the relevant
lease interest rate.

Woarkers’ compensation

The LS aperations maintain, or maintained, insurance pelicies with significant excesses, below which claims are borne by the
operations. Provision is made for estimated costs of claims or losses arising from past events.

The level of provision made is based upon independent actuarial estimates. These estimates take into account the ultimate cost,
lass amounts paid to date, in respect of accidents occurring between the inception of the palicy and the end of the current period,
the period covered by these self-insurance arrangements. An allowance is made for claims incurred but not reported in line with
standard actuarial practice.

Claims are expected to be settled within one year,

Legal & contractual

The Group holds a provision for expected lagal and contractual costs that are probable to cause an cutflow of rescurces over

an extended period. Management exercises judgements to determine the amount of this provision on a case-by-case basis.
Pravision is made for known issues based on past experience of similar items and other known factors. Each provision is censidered
separately, and the amount provided reflects the best estimate of the most likely amount, being the single most likely armount in a
range of possible cutcomes.

With reference to the prejudicial exemption in 1AS 37, the Group will not disclose any further information about the assurnptions for
the provisian, including any details about current and the expected number of lawsuits and settled claims. The disclosure of such
information is believed to be detrimental to the Group in connection with the ongoing confidential negotiations and could infiict
financial losses on the Group and its shareholdears.

Contingent liabilities

While the Group seeks to act with the highest levels of integrity and professionalism, it operates in an environment where the
application of employment faws and associated taxation legislation to temporary workers’ pay can be complicated to apply in
practice. This is particularly the case around the application of minimum pay rates, holiday pay compensation and the applicability
of taxes to certain temporary worker expenses. The Group makes specific provision for such liabilities where there is a present
obligaticn, payment is probable and the amount can be estimated reliability. As such provisicns include a degree of estimation
uncertainty, any amounts eventually settled may be greater or less than the original provision and therefore the Group may have
associated contingenrt hiabilities.

22, Deferred taxation

30 Decernbar 31 December
2022 2021
£m Em

Non-current deferred tax assets:
Tatai deferred tax asset — UK 0.9 1.9
Tatal deferred tax asset — overseas 2.3 6.4
Total deferred tax asset 3.2 8.3
30 December 31 Decernber
2022 2021
£m £m

Deferred tax liabilities:

Non-current defarred tax liabilities 7.7 8.7
Total deferred tax liabilities 7.7 18.7

Deferred tax liabilities primarily relate to fair value adjustments on acquisitions.
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22, Deferred taxation continued

Property, Tax value of Total
plant and Intangible ioss deferred
equipment assets Provisions  carry forwards taxation
£m £m £m £m £m
At 2 January 2021 1.5 (18.1) 6.3 2.5 (7.8)
Recognised in income (0.3) 0.7) (0.6} 1.8) (3.2)
Forcign cxchange - a1 - a.5 0.6
At 31 December 2021 1.2 (18.7) 5.7 1.4 {10.4)
Deferred tax assets - 3t December 2021 1.2 - 57 1.4 8.3
Deferred tax liabilities — 31 December 2021 - (18.7) - - {18.7)
1.2 (18.7) 57 1.4 (10.4)
At 1January 2022 1.2 (18.7) 5.7 1.4 (10.4)
Recognised in income — continuing (1.1) 5.5 (3.7 0.9 1.6
Recognised in income — discontinuad 0.3 (1.3) 0.3 (0.2) (0.9)
Transferred to liabilities held for sale (0.3) 6.8 {1.1) (0.2) 5.2
Foreign exchange - - - - -
At 30 December 2022 o1 (7.7} 1.2 1.9 (a.5)
Deferred tax assets — 30 December 2022 0.1 - 1.2 1.9 3.2
Deferred tax liabilities — 30 December 2022 - (7.7) - - (7.7)
0.1 (7.7} 1.2 1.9 (4.5)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets in relation to continuing operations have not been recegnised in respect of the following items (because it is not
probabie that future taxable profits will be available against which the Group can utilise the benefits):

30 Decermber

31 December

2022 2021
£m Em
Gross value of loss carry-forwards 27.7 32.6

As at the end of 2022, the Group has pre-entry capital losses of £27.7m (2021: £27.7m). No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of these losses due to their nature. There are no losses that will expire included in unrecognised tax losses. All losses are
subject to legislation restricting the right to offset them. None of the losses held by the Group have an expiry date.

23. Issued share capital

Number of Issued share  Share premium Total

18sued shares capital account share capital

m £m £m £m

2 January 2021 459 a5 301 306
Shares repurchased (0.6) - - -
31 December 2021 453 0.5 301 30.6
1January 2022 45.3 0.5 30 30.6
Shares repurchased (0.2) - - -
30 December 2022 451 0.5 3041 30.6
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Transactions with shareholders
In 2022, 253,615 Ordinary shares of p each (2021: 608,602), represanting C.6% (2021: 1.3%) of the opening number of issued shares,
were repurchased in the market for consideration of £1.2m (2021: £1.9m), and cancelled.

On 29 June 2022 the shareholders approved a new share purchase plan allowing the Company to purchase up to 4,513,446
Crdinary shares up to the earlier of the date of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting or 3C June 2023,

Impellam Group plc
The Cumpany has no limit to its authorised share capital. The above number represents the number of allotted, fully paid shares of

1o in issye.

24. Dividends

30 December 31 December

2022 2021

Em £Em

Special dividend paid 9 December 2022 at 55.4p per share 25.0 -
25.0 -

Paid in period

On 22 December 2022 the Company announced a furthar special dividend of 55.4p per share totaliing £25.0m to be paid on
27 January 2023 which has not be recognisea in these accounts.

On 6 March 2023 the Company announced a further special dividend of 77.8p per share totalling £35.0m to be paid on & Apri
2023 which has not be recognised in thess accounts.

25. Other reserves

Fareign

currency
Merger Other translation Total other
reserve reserve reserve reserves
£m £m £Em em
2 January 2021 19.0 92.2 7 118.3
Currency translation differences - - (1.4) (1.4)
31 December 2021 19.0 g92.2 57 16.9
1January 2022 19.0 92.2 5.7 116.9
Currency translation differences - - 14.0 14.0
19.0 92.2 19.7 130.9

30 December 2022

Merger reserve

The merger reserve arises under Section 612 of the Companies Act 2006 as a result of the acguisition of Bartech Holding
Corporation and Lorien Limited using the issue of shares as part consideration. The excess of fair valug over nominal value of shares
is transfarred tc a merger reserve rather than share premium. This reserve is not distributable.

Other reserve

The other reserve comprises £92.2m contributed surplus arising on a historical demerger transaction (2021: £92.2m). It also
containg £41,000 contributed surplus arising on a historical demerger transaction and a special reserve arising from the capital
reduction in December 2012 {2021 £41,000); and £55,000 capital redemption reserve arising from the purchase and cancellation of
treasury shares (2021 £47,000). This reserve is not distributable.

Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve is usad to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries.
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26. Non-controlling interest

The following table summarises the information relating to each of the Group's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interest
(‘NCI", before any intra-Group eliminations.

Individual
immaterial
subsidiaries Total
£m £Em
30 December 2022
Net assets attributable to NCI 0.3 0.3
Profit allocated to NCI 0.2 0.2
Other comprehensive income allocated to NCI - -
Other comprehansive income from reducing the NCI component - -
Individual
immaterial
subsidiaries Total
£m £m
31 December 2021
Net assets attributable to NCI [oR 02
Profit allocated to NCI . 01 (o}
Other comprehensive income from reducing the NCI component 0.3 0.3

The individually immaterial subsidiaries include the share of results for Barpellam Inc and Bartech Belgium NV (2021 Barpellam Inc
and Bartach Belgium NV) which are not wholly owned by the Group {(note 27).
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27. Related party disclosures

The consolidated financial statements include those of the holding company, Impellam Group ple, and all of its subsidiaries. All
subsidiaries have the same period end as the Group and are wholly owned at the period end unless otherwise specified.

800 The Boulevard - Blue Arrow Financial Services Limited™ 1
Capability Green - Blue Arrow Holdings Limited t

Luton —  Blue Arrow Limited t

LU 3BA - BMS Limited

United Kingdom - Carbens0 Limited

— Career Teachers 2006 Limited t

— Career Teachers Limited *

~ Carlisle Cleaning Services Holdings Limited*
- Carlisle Events Services Limited*

- Carlisie Group Limited

- Carlisle Nominees Limited*

- Carlisle Staffing plc

— Carlisle Staffing Services Holdings Limited
— Carlisle Staffing Services Limited

—~ Chadwick Nott (Holdings) Limited *

- Chrysalis Community Care Group Limited *
~ Comensura Limited®

- Doctors On Call Limited 1

—  Flexy Corporation Limited

- Global Group (UK) Limited t

- Global Medics Limited t

—  Guidant Global-Europe Limited

- Impellam Heldings Limited

- Impellam UK Limited

- lLaybridge Limited™

—  Litmus Workforce Sclutions Limited t

~ Lorien Limited

— Lorien Rescurcing Limited

- Medacs Global Group Limited t

— Medacs Healthcare Australasia Group Limited t
— Medacs Healthcare plc *

— Onelrue Limited

— PRN Recruitment Limited *

— Science Recruitment Group Limited

— Tate Recruitment Limited *

- Younifi Limited

Level 2 - Allied Employment Group Pty Limited® t
14 Martin Place — Comensura Pty Limited® :
Sydney - Flexy Services Pty Limited®

NSW 2000 —  Global Medics Pty Limited® *

Australia - Litmus Workforce Solutions Pty Ltd® t

- Medacs Healthcare (Pty) Limited™ t
— Medacs Healthcare Australia Pty Limited® t
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27. Related party disclosures continued

Straatsburgdok-Noordkaai 3 -
2030 Antwerp, Belgium

Bartech Belgium NV(h) {73% owned)

PG Box 71, Road Town -
Tortola VG110
British Virgin Islands

Sabertooth Services Limited

250 Howe Street _
20th Floor Vancouver _
BC v6C 2Rk8 _

Bartech Technical Services of Canada Limited®
Canada Corporate Employment Resources ULC®
Global & Medical Recruitment Cansultancy Inc.@ t

Canada

Guidant Group Canada ULCH

Anna-Schneider-Steig 22
50678 Cologne, Germany

Guidant Global Germany GmbH®

Beethovenplatz 2
80336 Munich, Germany

Impellam GmbH®

Block 9, Blackrock Business Fark
Blackrock

Co. Dublin, A94 E4X2

Ireland

Carlisle Security (Holdings) Limited®
Carlisle Security Limited®

Carlisle Staffing Services Ireland Limited®
Irish Recruitment Consultants Limited®
Litmus Workforce Solutions lreland Limited™ t
Medacs Global Group Limited® t

Via Filippo Turati 25
20121 Milan, Italy

Guidant Global [taly SRLY

Ric Tiber 40 102
Col Cuauhtemac 06500
Cuauhtemaoc, Distritc Federal, Mexico

Bartech Mexico S, de RL de CV®

98 Alicia Street
Colony Guadalupe Tepeyac.
Mexico City CPG7840, Mexice

Guidant Global Mexico, S.A. de CNV.9

Level 6, 3 Ferncroft Straet
Graft, Auckland 1010
New Zealand

Global Medics NZ Limited®t
Healthlink New Zealand Group Limited®
Medacs Healthcare Limited®t

Oriental Center, Suite p?
254 Mufioz Ufioz Rivera Avenue San Juan
PR 00918 Puerto Rico

Guidant Global Puerto Rice inc®

133 New Bridge Road

#10-05, Chinatown Point
Singapore 059413

Guidant Global G Pte Ltd®

Latitudes Group International Management Pte Limited®+

Martin-Distali-Stragse 9
4600 Olten, Switzerland

Carbon6C AGHY
Guidant Global Switzerland AGY
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2711 Centerville Road Suite 400
Wilmington

Delaware 19808

USA

Barpellam Inc {49% owned)®

CER Canada Holding Inc.®

Impellam NA Support Services Inc®
Corporate Employment Resources Inc.®
Corporate Services Group Holdings Inc.®
Guidant Global Canada Holding Inc.®
Guidant Glubal Holding Corporation®
Guidant Global Inc.®

Guidant Group Inc.®

17199 N Layral Park Drive
Suite 224 Livonia
Michigan 48152 USA

Bartech Mexico Holding LLC®
Bartech Techrical Services LLCH

Companias marked with a * above are exempt from tha Companies Act 2006 requiremnents relating to the audit of their individual
accounts by virtue of Secticn 480 of the Act relating to dormant companies.

Companies marked with a * above have been scld after the year end (see note 10).

All subsidiaries are indirect holdings of the Company other than Impellam Holdings Ltd, Impellam UK Ltd and the Medacs Glotal

Group Ltd which has its registerad office in the UK.

Shares for ali companies are classed as Ordinary and a nominal value of £1 per share except as disciosed balow:

(a) ‘A’ Ordinary shares of £1

(b) Ordinary shares of A$1

{c) Common stock with no par velue
(d) Crdinary shares of 1000 CHF

(e) Ordinary shares of €1.27

(f) Ordinary shares of NZ$1

(@) Ordinary sharas of SG$1

{h) Ordinary shares of €1

The Group owns 49% of the issued stock of Barpellam Inc but exercises control of the Company in accordance with the definitions
of power and exposure to variability in returns required under IFRS 1C Cansclidated Financial Statements.
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27. Related party disclosures continued

The subsidiary undertakings listed below are exempt from the Companies Act 2006 requirements relating to the audit of
their individual accounts by virtue of Section 479A of the Act as this Company has guaranteed the subsidiary company under
Section 479C of the Act:

Qwnership

Registered Class of 20 December 31 December

number shares held 2022 2021

Flexy Corporation Limited 09524785 Ordinary 100% 100%
Guidant Global-Europe Limited 07130856 Ordinary 100% 100%
Onefrue Limited onB9s88es Ordinary 100% 100%
Younifi Limited 09898687 Ordinary 100% 100%

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

The Directors have considered the levels of respansibility delegated to senior management of the Group and have concluded that,
in addition to the Directors themselves, disclosure should include the Senior Leadership Team which comprises the Perifolio CEQ
and Group General Counsel and Company Secretary, the Chief Executives of STEM, Global Managed Services, Impellam Nerth
America and Impellam APAC as well as the Chief Technology Officer, the Group Director of Corporate Development and the Group
Diractor of Investment & Innovatien. The total number of positions included in the disclosure is 15 (2021: 15). The Birectors receive
dividends in preportion to their shareholdings held during the current and prior periods.

30 Decamber 2022 31 December 2021

£Em £m

Short-term employment benefits 6.8 6.8
Post-employment benefits 0.2 0.2
Totai 7.0 7.0

Lord Ashcroft has an interest in Puma International Holdings Limited. The Group paid Puma International Holdings Limited
£100,000 (2021: £425,000) for the provision of consultancy services. Nothing was owed to or by Puma International Holdings
Limited at the start or end of the period. Angela Entwistle is also a Director of a company called Deacon Street Partners Limited.
The Group pays Deacon Street Partners Limitad for its provision of Angela Entwistle’s services as a Non-Executive Director —
£40,000 (2021: £40,000). The Group owed £8,000 to Deacon Street Partners Limited at the end of the period (2021: £4,000). Also,
a company within the Impeliam Group provides a payrall bureau service to Deacon Street Partners Limited for which no charge is
made as the arm’s-length cost of such service is negligible.

David Barfield, a Director of various Group companies is a significant sharsholder in Bartech Acquisition Corporation LLC. Bartech
Acquisition Corporation LLC is a shareholder in Techcentral LLC and the Group provides accounting and programme management
services at an arm’s length rate to TechCantral LLC. During the period, the Group charged TechCentral $14,000 (2021: $116,000) for
these services. At the end of the period, TechCentral |LC owed the Group $12,000 (2021: $116,000}.

During the period the Group entered into the following transactions with related partias who are not 100% owned by the Group.

Sale of Purchase of Amounts owed Amounts owed
servicesto  services from to related by related
rolated parties related parties parties parties
£m “Em £m Em

30 December 2022
Barpellam Inc - 31.0 61.6 1.3
Bartech Belgium NV - Q.1 1.1 -
Total - 34 62.7 1.3
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Sale of Purchase of Amounts owed Amounts owed
services to services from to related by related
related parties  related parties parties parties
£€m £m £m £Em

31 December 2021
Barpeliam Inc - 37.5 30.0 2.5
Bartech Belgium NV - (o} 0.9 -
Total - 37.6 309 2.5

Sales to related parties relate to expenditure transferred at cost to encourage the expansion of the related party. As these
companies are controlled by the Group, no allowance has been made for bad and doubtful debts.

28. Net debt

31 December Transfar to Cash  Interest  Interast Foreign 30 December

2021 liabilitias held flow charged paid Naw Leasas exchange 2022

£m forsale Em £m Em £m £m £Em

Cash and short-term deposits (note 17) 90.9 - 13.7 (2.4) 2.4 - 7.8 12.4
Bank overdraft (note 18) (3.9) - (0.4) - - - - (4.3)
Revolving credit (notes 19 and 20) (101.9) - 241 (2.0) 2.0 - - (77.8)
Hire purchase (notes 13 and 20) ' (0.1) - 041 - - - - -
Lease liabilities [note 12) (16.5) 3.3 5.4 (0.4) 0.4 (1.8) (0.3) (9.9)
Lease debtors {note 12) - - - - - - - -
Net cash/{net debt) (31.5) 3.3 429 (4.8) 4.8 (1.8) 7.5 20.4
1 January Cash Interest Interest Foreign 31 December

2021 fow charged pad New Leases exchange 2021

£m £m £m Em £Em Em £m

Cash and shert-term deposits (note 17) 17.9 (24.3) (0.2) 0.2 - 2.7 909
Bank averdraft (note 18) (2.9} (1.0} - - - - (3.9)
Revolving credit (notes 19 and 20) (118.9) 6.7 (3.4) 3.4 - 0.3 (101.9)
Hire purchase {notes 19 and 20) (0.2} 0.1 - - - - ©n
Lease liabilities (note 12) (26.5) 8.8 (0.6) 0.4 1.0 04 (16.5)
Lease debtors (note 12) 4.3 (1.7) (o} (0.1) (2.5) (0.1 -
Net debt (26.3) (1.4) 4.1) 39 (1.5) (2.1} (31.5)

The Group takes advantage of a number of nen-recourse financing agreements organised by clients of the Group to allow for the
acceleration of payment of the Group's receivables (see note 2(J)}. At the end of 2022, these amounted to £nil (2021: £8.2m). Thase
agreements accrue interast at between 0.65% and 1.75% over SONIA and intarest of £0.17m was charged during the peried (2021
£0.1m) and is inciuded in other interest in note 7.

Page_113



Impellam Group ple Annual Report and Accounts 2022

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the 52 weeks ended 30 December 2022

29. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise bank overdrafts, revolving credit facilities, leases and trade payables, Overdrafts
and revolving credit facilities are used to satisfy short-term cash flow requirements. The main purpose of these financial liabilities
is 10 raise finance for the Group's trading operations. The Group also has various financial assets such as investments, trade
receivabies, cash and short-term deposits which arise directly from trading operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are set out below. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and thaso are summarised below.

Itis, and has been throughout the period under review, the Group's policy that no trading in financial instruments such as derivatives
shall be undertaken. The Group's policy with regard to interest rate and foreign exchange contracts is to only hedge specific risks
with a determinable date that arise from operations or financing.

Interest rate risk

None of the Group's borrowings are at a fixed rate of interest. All borrowings are subject to changes in market interest rates,
primarily the revelving credit facility, which is subject to floating rates. The floating rate borrowings are not exposed to changes in
fair value: however, the Group is exposed to interest rate risk as costs increase if market rates rise or cash flow opportunity as costs
decrease if market rates fall.

The Group also earns interest on credit bank balances at a floating rate of interest. The Group's policy is to manage its interest rate
caost by the use of variakle rate debts while rates are low.

Interest rate risk table

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity ta a reasonably (based upon market expectations for the next 12 months)
possible change to interest rates, with all othar variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax (through the impact of
floating rate borrowings). .

Increase/  Effect on profit

decrease in before tax  Effect on equity
basis ponts £m £m
30 December 2022
Pound Sterling +50 (0.6) (0.5)
=25 0.3 0.2
US Dollar +50 - -
’ =25 - -
31 December 2021
Pound Sterling +75 (0.9} 0.7
-25 0.3 0.2
US Dollar +75 (OR) (0.1
.25 — _

Liguidity risk

The Group's funding strategy is to maintain funding flexibility through the use of cash, deposits. revolving credit facilities, overdrafts,
supplier financing arrangements and leasing contracts. The Group aims to ensure that it has committed borrowing facilities in place
in excess of its peak forecast borrowings for at least the next 12 months. Short-term flexibility is achieved by the use of deposits and
revolving credit facilities and supplier financing arrangements.

The Group renewed its revolving credit facilities on 17 December 2021 for a further three years with an option to extend for a further
two years; £182.5m was available for drawdown (2021: £182.5m) which includes an overdraft facility of £56m. The amount utilised

at 30 December 2022 was £77.8m (2021: £103.8m). This facility includes an accordion element of an additional £40m which could
be added to the facility. There are no restrictions to the free transfer of funds between fully owned subsidiarias. The facilities cover
all territories the Group operates in. The revolving credit facility includes financial covenants linked to the Group's debtor cover.
leverage cover and interest cover using adjusted EBITDA (before separately disclosed items and share-based payment) — note 3. At
30 December 2022, and throughout the pericd, the Group was in compliance with its financial covenants and expects to continue
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to be so. With effect from 3 March 2023 and following the disposal of the Regional Specialist and Healthcare divisions, the Group
has stepped down its facility to £132.5m with an agreed accordion of £30m, all cther elements remain the same.

The Group takes advantage of a number of non-recourse financing agreements organised by clients of the Group to allow for the
acceleration of payment of the Group's receivables {(see note 2(J)). At the end of 2022, these amounted to £nil (2021: £8.2m). These
agreements accrue intarest at between 0.65% and 1.75% over SONIA and interest of E0.1m was charged during the period (2021
£01m) and 5 included in other interest in note 7.

The table beluw summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 30 December 2022 and 31 December 2021
based on contractual undiscounted payments.

Less than 3 3-12 1-§ 5 years
On demand months months years or mora Total
£m Em £m Em £m £Em
30 December 2022
Revolving credit facilities (notas 19 and 20) - - - 77.8 - 77.8
Trade and ather payables (note 18) 4.3 633.7 8.0 0.3 - 646.3
Finance leage ligbilities (notes 12 and 20) - - - - - -
Undiscounted lease liabilities (note 12} - 0.8 2.5 6.0 1.5 10.8
Total ‘ 4.3 634.5 10.5 84.1 1.5 734.9
On Less than 3-12 1-5 5 years
demand 2 months months years or more Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
31 December 2021
Revolving credit facilities (notes 19 and 20) - - 101.9 - 101.9
Trade and cther payables (note 18) 39 490.6 10.3 - - 504.8
Finance lease liabilities {(notes 19 and 20} - 0.1 - - - G
Undiscounted lease liabilities (note 1) - 1.4 4.1 9.2 30 17.7
Total 3.9 4921 14.4 1111 3.0 624.5
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29. Financial risk management objectives and policies continued
Credit risk

The risk of financial loss due to a counterparty’s failure to honour its obligations arises principally in relation to transactions where
the Group provides services on deferred terms (note 16).

Group policies are aimed at minimising such losses. It is the Group's policy that all clients who wish to trade on cradit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the
Group's pxpnsnire to bad debts is kept to a minnoum. The maximum exposure is the carrying amount as disclosed in note 16. The
Group has a credit risk policy that covers all clients except public secter, local government and pay when paid contracts. There is a
£500,000 aggregate first loss and maximum policy liability of £44.5m. This policy was renewed in February 2022 for three years.

With respect to credit risk from other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents and investments, the
Group's exposure to credit risk arises from the default of the counterparty, with 8 maximum expeosure equal to the carrying amount
of these assets. These risks are primarily minimised by restricting deposits and investmants to those available from well-established
reputable, financial institutions.

At 30 December 2022, the maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables by geographic region was as follows.

30 December 31 December

2022 2021

Em £m

UK 242.6 275.0
North America 365.9 290.5
Europe 1.2 20.5
Australasia 17.8 20.4
Total 637.5 606.4

Foreign currency risk

The Group has a significant investment in its operations in North America with some smaller interests in Europe and Australasia.
The Group's consolidated balance sheet can be affected significantly by the movements in the US Dollar exchange rate; however,
movements in the exchange rates for Euro, Australian Doliar, Canadian Dollar, Swiss Franc, New Zealand Dollar or other currencies
have only a marginal impact on the Group’s results and balance sheet.

The Group does not hedge against the impact of exchange rate movements on the translation of foreign currency denominated
profits. Transactional currency exposures across the Group are minimal.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity te a reasonably possitle change in the exchange rates:

Percentage  Sffect on profit

change before tax Effect an equity
In rate Em £m
30 December 2022
US Dollars +10 0.9 1.0
-10 ) (1.2)
Euros +10 0.3 0.1
-10 (0.4) (0.1)
31 December 2021
US Dollars +10 07 -
-10 (0.9) -
Euros +10 01 0.2
-10 (0.1 (0.2)
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Price risk

The Group has investments in marketable securities and as such is exposed to price risk. These securities are held in trust on behalf
of certain US employees and the underlying risk is borne by those employees. The Group’s liability is imited to the market value of
the securities {note 15).

Capital management
Capital consists of the total equity attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company.

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, to
ensure that it maintains a good credit rating in order to suppart its business and maximise sharehoclder value. No changes were
made to the objectives, policies or processes during either period.

The Group considers capital less any net cash as components of funding. It manitors funding by reference to its ability to berrow
and to satisfy debt covenants. The principal measure is the EBIT DA ratic, which is calculated by dividing the funding of the Group
by the Group's adjusted earnings before interest, tax, adjusted depreciation and amortisation.

The revolving credit facility included a financial covenant linked to the Group's leverage, interest cover and debtor cover.
At 30 December 2022, and throughout the period, the Group was in compliance with these financial covenants whilst this facility
was in place.

30. Financial instruments

Set out below is a comparison by categery of the carrying amounts and fair values of ali the Group’s financial instruments that are
carried in the consolidated balance sheet.

30 Decembar 2022 31 December 2021
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
£m £m £m Em
Financial assets
Investments (note 15) 0.9 0.9 15 1.5
Other financial assets (non-current) [note 15) 0.1 o1 0.2 02
Cash and cash equivalents (note 17) 12.4 12.4 90.9 309
Financial liabilities
Bank overdraft (note 18) 4.3 4.3 3.9 39
Short-term borrowings (note 19) - - 01 041
Long-term borrowings (note 20) 77.8 77.8 101.9 101.9

The carrying value of trade receivables less impairment and trade payables are assumed to approximate fair value and are excluded
from the above table.

Fair value estimation hiararchy:

e Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

e level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included within fevel 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly {that
is, as prices) or indirectly (that is derived from prices); and

e Level 3 — Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data {that is, unobservable inputs).
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30. Financial instruments continued
The following table presents the fair value hierarchy of assets measured at fair value:

Leval 1 Leval 2 Level 3 Total
£m £m £m Em

30 December 2022
fnvestments (note 15) 0.9 - - 0.9
Level1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£m £m £m Em
31 December 2021 1.5 - - 1.5
Investments (note 15) 1.5 - - 1.5

Level 1

Market values, based on published prices, have been used to determine the fair value of the marketable investments included in
other financial agsets.

Fair value for short-term borrowings are equal to book value as they are repayable on demand and are subject to churn over a
perind of less than three months.

Intergst rate risk

At 30 December 2022 and 31 Dacember 2021, none of the Group’s borrowings are at fixed rates of interest. The following table sets
out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Group’s financial instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk.

Within 1-3
1year years Total
Em £m £m
30 December 2022
Floating rate
Cash and short-term deposits (note 17) 12.4 - 1M12.49
Bank overdrafts (note 18) (4.3) - (4.3)
Revalving credit facilities (notes 19 and 20) - (77.8) (77.8)
Hire purchase (notes 19 and 20) - - -
Within 1-2
1year years Total
Em Eom £m
31 December 2021
Floating rate
Cash and short-term deposits {(note 17) 90.9 - 80.9
Bank overdrafts (note 18) (3.9) - (3.9)
Revolving credit facilities (notes 19 and 20} - (101.9) (101.9)
Hire purchase (notes 19 and 20) 0.1 - [(eR)!

The effective interest rate on bank balances and other short-term deposits was less than 0.5% (2021: lass than 0.5%). US deposit
interast rates were 1.9% [2021: less than 0.5%).

Bank overdrafts and revolving credit borrowings are secured by a guarantee and debenture with a fixed charge over certain assets
of the Company and the subsidiary undertakings concerned plus a floating charge over all other assets of the Company and

those subsidiary undertakings, supported by a cross-guarantee given by the Company and the various subsidiary undertakings.
Borrowings under these faciiities incurred interest {including margin) between 1.90% and 2.70% over SONJA rate {2021: between
1.9G% and 2.70% over LIBCR rate). All interest is charged manthly in arrears (ncte 29).
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Collateral pledged
The self-insured workers’ compensation liability described in note 21is covered by insurers on the basis that collateral is provided
sufficient to cover all potential claims. This collateral takes two forms:

o £2.7m-$3.3m (2021 £3.0m-$4.0m) in the form of letters of credit drawn upon the revolving credit facility in the US; and

e £0.1mM-$0.2m (2021: £0.2m—%$0.2m) in the form of cash deposits, shown on the balance sheet as non-current other financial
assets (note 14).

The Group has also issued various indemnities totalling .0 2m {2021: £2.1m) rclating to rent yuarantees, mainly in Australia. These
expire In 2023.

31. Control

The Group has identified Lord Ashcroft as the ultimate controlling party as he has influence over more than 50%, but less than 7%,
of both the shares and voting rights of Impellam Group plc.

32. Post balance sheet events — share purchase and cancellation

Between the end of the year and 30 March 2023, a further 106,597 Crdinary shares of 1p each have been repurchased in the market
for total consideration of £0.7m (see note 34 for related important information).

33. Post balance sheet events — disposal of Healthcare and Regional Specialist Staffing
divisions

On 30 January 2023 the Group announced the saie of the business and assets of its Regional Specizlist Staffing businesses in the
UK (Tate, Blue Arrow Group, Chadwick Nott, Career Teachers) and its Healthcare Staffing business in the UK, Ireland and APAC
(Medacs Global Group) to Twenty20 Capital for cash consideration of £85m on a debt-free, cash-free, normalised warking capital
basis. This censideration was based on an agreed nil cash position and target net working capital of £30.8 million on the date of
disposal with a £ for £ adjustment to consideration if the final positions were above or below this amount. The final working capital
position is to be determined 60 days post completion date. The deal had been deemed to be highly probable on 16 December
2022 and at that time was treated as a discontinued operation and treated as an asset and liability held for sale. The transaction was
completed on 3 March 2023. (see note 10).

34. Post balance sheet events — important information

The Board has beceme aware of an administrative oversight concerning technical compliance with the Companies Act 2006 (CA
20067 in respect of the special dividend paid on 27 January 2023 (‘the Dividend’) and share buybacks effected by the Company
following this date (‘the Post January 2023 Share buybacks’). The amount of the Dividend was £25m and the total amount of the Post
January 2023 Share buybacks was approximately £0.6m representing 84,822 shares. The Group’s histeric reported trading results
and financial condition, and ability to pay future dividends are entirely unaffected by this matter. The CA 2006 requires the amount

of any dividend distribution and share repurchases to be justified by reference to relevant accounts which show the requisite level of
distributable reserves. If a company’s last annual accounts do not show the necessary reserves, then the Company must prepare interim
accounts and, in the case of a public company, file those interim accounts with the Registrar of Companies prior to the payment of
the relevant dividend ar share repurchase. The Campany’s last annual accounts did not show the necessary reserves, interim accounts
should have been prepared and filed with the Registrar of Companies prior to the payment of the Dividend and the Post January 2023
Share buybacks, but were not. This therefore has the consequent effect on the Dividend and the Post January 2023 Share buybacks.

Due to this administrative oversight the Company has been advised that, as a consequence of the Dividend having been paid
otherwise than in accordance with the 2006 Act, the Dividend is technically unlawful and that the Company may have claims
against past and present shareholders who were recipients of the Dividend and against persons who were Directors of the
Company at the time of the payment of the Dividend. In addition, the Company has been advised that the purported purchase and
cancellation of the Post January 2023 Share buybacks is void. The QOrdinary Shares of the Company purportedly subject to the
Post January 2023 Share buybacks remain technically in issue but the voting rights which attach to them are not capable of being
exercised by any person. The Company intends to take action to resolve this matter as soon as practicable.

The Board notes, however, that the Company has no intention of bringing any such claims or to seek the return of funds and that
the Group’s historic reported trading results and financial condition and ability to pay future dividends and continue its previously
announced buyback programme are entirely unaffected by this matter.

The Company will shortly post to shareholders an explanatory circular in due course and convene a genearal maeting, at which
resolutions authorising varicus rectifying actions will be proposed which will, if passed and once such acticns are completed, put all
potentially affected parties, so far as possible, in the position in which they were always intended to be.
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As at 30 December 2022

30 December 31 December

2022 2021
Notes £m £m

Non-current assets
Investments 3 145.5 15041
Cther receivables 4 27241 242.2

417.6 392.3
Current assets
Asset held for sale 14 4.6 -
Cther receivables 4 44.5 13.8
Cash at bank and in hand 0.5 06

49.6 14.4
Other payables: amounts falling due within one year 5 (292.3) 2119
Net current liabilities {242.7} {196.7)
Total assets less current liabilities 174.9 195.6
Other payables: amounts falling due in more than cne yaar & {77.8) (101.9)
Net assets 971 937
Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital 8 0.5 0.5
Share premium account 8 30.1 30.1
Merger reserve 9 19.0 19.0
Other reserves g - -
Retained profit g 47.5 447
Total shareholders’ funds 7 97.1 937

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this balance sheet,

The profit deait with in the financial statements of the Company for the 52 weeks ended 30 December 2022 was £29.6m (2021 loss
of £8.7m). Dividends totalling £25.0m (2021: £nil) were declared during the period. As allowed by Section 408 of the Companies
Act 2006, no separate profit and loss account is presented for the Parent Company.

The financial statements on pages 120 to 128 were approved by the Board on 27 April 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Tim Briant
Chief Financial Officer

Registered number: 06511961
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Statement of changes in equity
For the 52 weeks ended 30 December 2022

Share capital

and premium  Other reserves Retained Total
{note 8} (note 9 profit reserves
£m £m £m £m
2 January 2021 30.6 19.0 54.7 104.3
Loss for the pericd - - 8.7) 8.7)
Purchase and cancellation of cwn shares {note 8) - - (1.9) (1.9
31December 2021 30.6 19.0 441 . 93.7
1January 2022 30.6 19.0 44 .1 93.7
Profit for the period - - 29.6 29.6
Dividends {note 10) - - (25.0) (25.0)
Purchase and cancellation of own shares (note 8) - - (1.2) (1.2)
30 December 2022 30.6 19.0 47.5 971

The Company has considered the profits available for distribution to shareholders. At 30 December 2022, the Company had
retained earnings of £47.5m which were all available for distribution.

The Group also has retained crofits in its subsidiary companies which are expected to flow up to the Company in due course to
further supplement its distributable reserves paosition.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies
A) Basis of accounting
Impellam Group ple ('the Company’) is a company incorporated and registered in England and Wales and domiciled in the UK.

In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of UK
adopted international accounting standards and has set out below where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has
been taken. ‘

Summary of disclosure exemptions

in these financial statements, the Company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respect of the following
disclosures:

e A cash flow statement and related notes.

= Disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries.

e Disclosures in respect of capital management.

e The effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs.

¢ Disclosures in respect of the compensation of key management personnel.

As the consolidated financial statements of Impellam Group plc include the eguivalent disclosures, the Company has also taken the
exemptions under FRS 101 available in respect of the following disclosures:
s Certain disclosures required by 1AS 26 Impairment of Assets in respect of the impairment of investments.

e Certain disclosures required by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement and the disclosures required by IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments Disclosures.

The Company proposes to continue to adopt the reduced disclosure framework of FRS 101in its next financial statements.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all years presented in these
financial staterments.

A separate profit and loss account deealing with the results of the Cormpany only has not been presented as permitted under Section
408 of the Companies Act.

Changes in accounting policy
None of the standards, interpretations and amendments effective for the first time from 1 January 2022 have had a material effect
on the financial statements.

Accounting policies have been applied consistently.

B) Investments

Shares in subsidiary companies are held as fixed assets and are stated at cost less provision for impairment. Impairment reviews
are conducted when changes in events or situations indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. More details of the
impairment methcdologies are given in note 13 of the consclidated accounts.

C) Other receivables

Cther receivables include amounts owed by Group companies which are assessed for impairment basad upon the current financial
position and expected future performance of the subsidiary to which they refate. The transactions with Group companies are
interest-free demand loans. The Company assesses the expected recoverability period of receivables and, if they are not expected
to be realised within the following twelve months, are assessed as non-current.
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The Company applies the IFRS 9 general approach to measuring expected credit losses. This approach requires an assessment at
the initiation of the loan as to the risk of defauit, and a further assessment when the credit risk profile of the leans change. IFRS 9
apelies a three-stage model that is applied when calculating the expected credit losses:

» Stage 1is defined as having no Significant Increase in Credit Risk ('SICR’} — a 12-month expected credit loss is recognised at
this point.

e Stage 2 s defined as having & SICR - a lifetime expected credit loss is recognised at this point.
e Stage 3 is defined as being credit impaired — 2 lifetime expected credit loss is rerngnised at thic point.

There is no impact in relation to interest as the amounts owed by Group companies are interest free and repayable on demand.

The Company defines the following:

o Definition of a default — A loan is considered to be in default when there is evidence that the borrower is in significant financial
difficulty such that it will have insufficient assets to repay the lean on demand.

* SICR assessment — the risk that the borrower will default on a demand loan depends on whether the subsidiary has sufficient
cash or other assets to rapay the loan immediately (meaning that the risk of default is very low and the toan is in Stage 1); or does
not have sufficient cash or other assets to repay the loan immediately (meaning that the risk of default is higher, and the loan
could be in stage 2 or stage 3).

e The Company performs this assessment gualitatively by reference to the borrower’s immediate cash flow and asset position.

e Credit-impaired indicators — A lcan is considered to be credit impaired if it meets the definition of a defaulted loan.

D) Deferred taxation

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on an undiscounted basis for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:

e where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and. at the time of the transaction. affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

® in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are recognised
only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reducad to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax {aws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date. Income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in eguity and not in the income statement.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

E) Employee benefits

Short-term benefits — bonus arrangements

The Company operates a number of annual bonus arrangements for Directors and employees. The cost of these arrangaments is
recognised in the income statement when the entity has an obligation to make such payments as a result of the achievement of
performance targets and when a reliabie estimate of this obligation can be made.

Pension obligations

The Company provides pension arrangements for its UK-based Directors and employees through defined centribution schemes.
Contribution costs are expensed to the income statement as they become dus.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

F) Assets and liabilities held for sale

Nen-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value
less costs 10 sell. Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This conditicn is regarded as met only when the sale is highly
probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed
to the sale which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Company is committed to a sale plan involving loss of contral of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that
subsidiary are ¢lassified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, regardless of whether the Company will retain a
non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

When the Company is committed to a sale plan involving disposal of an investment in an associate or, a portion of an investment
in an associate, the investment, or the portion of the investment in the associate, that will be disposed of is classified as held for
sale when the criteria describad above are met. The Company then ceases to apply the equity method in relation to the portion
that is classified as held for sale. Any retained portion of an investment in an associate that has not been classified as held for sale
continues to be accounted for using the equity method.

2. Operating costs

« The amount payable to the auditor in raspect of the audit of the Company is £20,00C (2021: £20,000}, all of which is payable to
80O LLP.

e Details of emoluments for Directors can be found in note 5 of the consolidated financial statements.

e Monthly average staff numbers (including Directors) for the Company during 2022 was 29, eight Directers/Company Secretary,
nine managers and 12 administrators {2021: 31, sight Directors/Company Secretary, nine managers and 13 administrators).

« The total amount of employee costs charged to the Company’s income statement in the period is £6.5m (2021 £7.9m).

3. Investments

Subsidiary

undertakings

£m

Cost —1January 2022 150.1
Transfer to assets held for sale (4.6)
Cost — 30 December 2022 145.5
Impairment provision — 1 January 2022 -
Charge for the period -
Dispecsals -
Accumulated amortisation — 30 December 2022 -
Net carrying value — 30 December 2022 145.5
Net carrying value - 31 December 2021 150.1

Details of the principal subsidiary undertakings are given in note 27 of the consolidated financial statements. All of these companies
are unlisted. The transfer to assets held for sales represents tha carrying value of the subsidiaries sold by the Company as part of the
disposal of the Regional Specialist Staffing and Healthcare divisions (note 14).

Subsidiary undertakings

The carrying valuss of investments were tested against discounted future cash flows during the period using a discount rate of
between 16.1% to 18.8% (2021: between 13.9% to 16.5%), which include a country risk premium. The forecasts were based on pre-tax
cash flows derived from approved budgets for the 2023 financial period (2021 2022 financial period).
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30 December

31 December

2022 2021
Current recevables £m £m
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 32.3 4.7
Other receivables 10.2 9.0
Prepayments 2.0 0
Total 44.5 13.8

30 December

31 December

2022 2021
Non-current receivables £m £m
Amaounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 2721 242.2
Total 2721 2422

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings are unsecured, repayable on demand and are not interest-bearing. These have been
reviewed for any expected credit loss and a charge of £0.7m (2021: £0.1m) has been recorded in the period, bringing the cumulative

charge to £2.5m (2021 £1.8m),

5. Other payables: amounts falling due within one period

30 December

31December

2022 2021
Em £rm
Bank overdraft 4.3 3.9
Amaunts owed to subsidiary undertakings 280.6 198.4
Cantract liabilities - 1.5
Accruals and other payabies 7.4 7.3
Total 292.3 ona

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings are unsecured, repayable on demand and are not interest-bearing. Contract liabilities
relate: to amounts rechargad to subsidiary undertakings for which the service has not been completed.

6. Other payables: amounts falling due in more than one peried

30 December

31 December

2022 2021

£Em Em

Revolving credit facilities 77.8 101.9
Detalls of security given over these liabilities are described in notes 29 and 30 to the consolidated accounts.

7. Deferred taxation

30 Dacember 31 December

2022 2021

Em £m

Opening balance

Charged to profit end loss account in the period

Defarred tax asset
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7. Deferred taxation continued

The total recagnised and unrecognised deferred tax is as follows:

Recognised Unracognisaed Recognised  Unrecognised

30 December 30 December 31 December 31 December

2022 2022 2021 2021

Assets £m £m £m £m

Losses - 0.2 - 0.1

Orther short-term timing differenues - - - -

Total - 0.2 - 0.1
8. Issued share capital

Number of

1ssuec Issued share  Share premium Total

shares capitai account share capital

millions £m £m £m

1January 202 459 0.5 30.1 30.6

Purchase and cancellation of own shares (0.8 - - -

31December 2021 45.3 0.5 3041 30.6

1January 2022 45.3 0.5 304 30.6

Shares repurchased (0.2) - - -

30 December 2022 451 0.5 301 30.6

Impellam Group pic

The Company has no limit to its authorised share capital. The above number represents the number of allotted, fully paid shares of

1o inissue.

Transactions with shareholders

In 2022, 253,615 Ordinary shares of 1p each (2021: 608,602), representing 0.6% (2021: 1.3%} of the opening number of issued shares,
were repurchased in the market for consideration of £1.2m {2021: £1.8m), and cancelled.

On 29 June 2022 the shareholders approved a new share purchase plan allowing the Company to purchase up tc 4,513,446
Orginary shares up to the earlier of the date nf the Company’s next Annual General Mesting or 30 June 2023.

9. Reserves

Merger Retained Total
reserve profit reserves
£m £m Em
31 December 2021 18.0 441 631
Profit for the pericd - 29.6 29.6
Dividends - (25.0) (25.0)
Purchase and cancellation of own shares - (1.2) (1.2)
30 December 2022 19.0 47.5 66.5

Merger reserve

The merger reserve arises under Section 612 of the Companies Act 2006 as a result of the acquisition of Bartech Holding
Corporation and Lorien Limited using the issue of shares as part consideration. The excess of fair value over the nominal value of
shares is transferred to a merger reserve rather than a share premium. This reserve is not distributable.
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Other reserves
Other reserves comprise the following:

* £41,000 contributed surplus arising on a historical demerger transaction and a special reserve arising from the capital reduction
in December 2012 (2021 £41,000); and

e £55000 capital redemption reserve arising fram the purchase and cancellation of treasury shares (2021: £53,000).

These reserves are non-distributable. All other reserves are distributable.

10. Dividends

30 December 31 December

2022 2021

£Em £m

Special dividend paid 9 December 2022 at 55.4p per share 25.0 -
Paid in period 25.0 -

On 22 December 2022 the company announced a further special dividend of 55.4p per share totalling £25.0m to be paid on 27
January 2023 which has not be recognised in these accounts.

Cn 6 March 2023 the company announced a further special dividend of 77.8p per share totalling £35.0m to be paid on 6 April 2023
which has not be recognised in these accounts.

11. Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds

30 December 31 December

2022 2021

£m £m

Prefit/(loss) for the financial period 29.6 (8.7)
Dividends {25.0) -
Purchase and cancellation of own shares (1.2) (19)
Opening shareholders’ funds 93%.7 104.3
Closing shareholders’ funds 971 93.7

12. Related party transactions
The Board is not aware of any related party transactions other than those disclosed in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.

13. Post balance sheet events — share purchase and cancellation

Between the end of the year and 30 March 2023, a further 106,597 Ordinary shares of 1p each have been repurchased in the market
for total consideration of £0.7m (see note 15 for related important Enfotmation)

14. Post balance sheet events — disposal of subsidiaries

On 30 January 2023 the Group announced the sale of the business and assets of its Regional Specialist Staffing businesses in the UK
(Tate, Blue Arrow Group, Chadwick Nott, Career Teachers) and its Healthcare Staffing business in the UK, Irefand and APAC (Medacs
Global Group) to Twenty20 Capital for cash consideration of £85m on a debt-free, cash-free, normalised working capital basis. This
consideration was based on an agreed nil cash position and target net working capital of £30.8 million on the date of disposal with a
£ for £ adjustment to consideration if the finzl positions were above or below this amount. The final working capital position was to be
determined 60 days post completion date. The deal had been deemed to be highly probable on 16 December 2022 and at that time
was treated as a discontinued cperation and as an asset and liability held for sale. The transaction was completed on 3 March 2023.
(see note 10 of the consolidated accounts). The impact on the financial statements of the Company is just the realisation of the asset
hald for sale which is just made up of the investment of £4.6m in the subsidiaries sold by the Company.
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15. Post balance sheet events — important information

The Board has become aware of an administrative oversight concerning technical compliance with the Companies Act 2006 (‘CA
20067 in respect of the special dividend paid on 27 January 2023 {‘the Dividend’} and share buybacks effected by the Company
following this date (‘the Post January 2023 Share buybacks’). The amount of the Dividend was £25m and the total amount of the
Post January 2023 Share buybacks was approximately £0.6m representing 94,822 shares. The Company’s historic reported trading
results and financial condition, and ability to pay future dividends are entirely unaffected by this matter. The CA 2006 requires

the amount of any dividend distribution and share repurchases to be justified by reference to relevant accounts which show the
requisite level of distributable reserves. If a company's last annual accnunts do not show the necessary reserves, then the Company
rmust prepdre interim accounts and, in the case of a public company, file those interim accounts with the Registrar of Companies
prior to the payment of the relevant dividend or share repurchase. The Company’s last annual accounts did not show the necessary
reserves, interim accounts should have been prepared and filed with the Registrar of Companies prior to the payment of the
Dividend and the Post January 2023 Share buybacks, but were not. This therefore has the consequent effect on the Dividend and
the Post January 2023 Share buybacks.

Due to this administrative oversight the Company has been advised that, as a consequence of the Dividend having been paid
otherwise than in accordance with the 2006 Act, the Dividend is technically unlawful and that the Company may have claims
against past and present shareholders who were recipients of the Dividend and against persons who were Directors of the
Company at the time of the payment of the Dividend. In addition, the Company has been advised that the purperted purchase
and cancellation of the Post January 2023 Share buybacks is vaid. The ordinary shares of the Company purportadly subject to the
Post January 2023 Share buybacks remain technically in issue but the voting rights which attach to them are not capable of being
exercised by any person. The Company intends to take action to resolve this matter as soon as practicable.

The Board notes, however, that the Company has no intentien of bringing any such claims or to seek the return of funds and that the
Company’s historic reported trading results and financial condition and ability to pay future dividends and continue its previously
announced buyback programme are entirely unaffected by this matter,

The Company will shortly post to shareholders an explanatory circular in due course and convene a general meeting, at which

resolutions authorising various rectifying actions will be proposed which will, if passed and ence such actions are completed, put all
potentially affected parties, so far as possible, in the position in which they were always intended to be.
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Alternative performance measures

Alternative performance measures

Certain discussions and analyses set out in this Annual Report
and Accounts include measures which are not defined by
generally accepted accounting principles such as IFRS.

We believe this information, aleng with comparable IFRS
measurermeants, is useful to investors because it provides a basis
for measuring our operating performance on a comparable
basis. Our managemaent uscs these financial measures, along
with the most directly comparable IFRS financial measures, in
evaluating our operating perfarmance and value creation. Non-
{FRS financial measures should not be considered in isolation
from, or as a substitute for, financial informaticn presented in
compliance with IFRS. Non-IFRS financial measures as reported
by us may not be comparable with similarly titled amounts
reparted by other companies.

Adjusted operating profit

Definition: The Group calculates adjusted operating profit as
operating profit before amortisation of acquired intangibles and
impairment.

Closest equivalent IFRS measure: Operating profit.

Rationale for adjustment: The Directors believe that

adiusted operating profit is the most appropriate approach for
ascertaining the underlying trading performance and trends as
it reflects the measures used internally by senior management
for all discussions of performance, including Directars’
remuneration. and also reflects the starting profit measure

used when calculating the Group's banking covenants. All
discussions within the Group on segmental and individual brand
performance refer to adjusted operating profit.

Following the adoption of IFRS 16 in 2019 the Group has

moved from adjusted EBITDA to adjusted operating profit as its
alternative performance measure, to include depreciation and
amortisation of assets but excluding amortisation of acquired
intangibles.

Reconciliation of continuing adjusted operating profit to
operating profit/(loss):

Strategic Report  Corporate Governance  Financial Statements

Restated

2022 2021

£m £m

Segmental adjusted operating profit 3341 276

Corparate costs (5.3) (7.5)

Adjusted operating profit 27.8 201
Amortisation of brand value and

customer relationships (6.8) (6.4)

Operating profit 21.0 13.7

The amortisation of acquired intangibles (brand value and
customer relationghips) charge due to its size and nature is
disclosed separately to give a comparable view of the
year-on-year trading financial performance.

The impairment charge due to its size is disclosed separataly
to give a more comparable view of the year-on-year underlying
financial performance.

Adjusted EBITDA

Definition: The Group calculates adjusted EBITDA as cperating
profit before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.

Closest equivalent IFRS measure: Operating profit.
Rationale for adjustment: The Group continues tc measure

EBITDA which ts used for banking covenants and internal
performance measures. It is also used externally for vaiuation

purposes.

Reconciliation of continuing adjusted operating profit to
operating profit/(loss):

2022 2021
£m £Em
Adjusted EBITDA 34.2 26.2
Amortisation of software {4.8) @.7)
Depreciation (1.6) 1.4}
Adjusted operating profit 27.8 204
Amortisation of brand value and
customer relationships (6.8) (6.4)
Operating profit 21.0 13.7

Spend under management (‘SUM”)

Definition: Total amount of client expenditure which our
managed sarvices brands managed on behalf of their clients.
This equates to revenue earned where Impellam acts as principal
plus gross billings to customers where Impeltam acts as agent.

Closest equivalent IFRS measure: Group revenue.
Rationale for adjustment: The Group uses this measure

as it reflects the total value of tha client spend to the Group, not
just the revenue generated.
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Alternative performance measures continued

Continuing adjusted earnings per share
(‘EPS)

Definition: Continuing adjusted profit divided by the weighted
average number of Ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Closest equivalent IFRS measure: Continuing basic earnings
per share.

Rationale fur adjustment: | he Group uses this measure
alongside the basic EPS calaulation as it reflects the underlying

trading performance of the business.

Reconciliation of adjusted EPS to basic EPS:

Net debt excluding IFRS 16 ‘leases’

Definition: The Group calculates net debt as the total of cash
and short-term deposits, revolving credit and hire purchase.

Fellowing the adoption of IFRS 16 the calculation also includes
lease liabilities and debtors.

Rationale for adjustment: The Group has used this measuie Lo
maintain alignment to the covenant reparting since 2020.

Reconciliation of net debt excluding IFRS 16 to net debt:

2022 2021

£Em £Em
Cash and short-term deposits 112.4 90.9
Bank overdraft (a.3) (3.9)
Revolving credit (77.8) (101.9)
Hire purchase - (eR)
Net cash/{debt) excluding IFRS 16 30.3 {(15.0)
Lease liabilities (9.9) (16.5)
Net cash/{debt) 20.4 (31.5)

2022 2021
£m £m
Continuing profit/(loss} for the
period 14.7 3.3
Customer relationship and brand
value amortisation (net of tax) - 5.3 5.0
Continuing adjusted profit 20.0 8.3
Weighted average number
of shares 45,147,337 45,538,963
Unadjusted continuing EPS 32.6 7.3
Adjusted continuing EPS 44.3 18.2
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Glossary

Adjusted EBITDA
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EBITDA before separately disclosed items and impairment of goodwill

Adjusted EBITDA Conversion Ratio

Adjusted EBITDA divided by NFI/gross profit

Adjusted Operating Profit

Operating profit before amortisation of, and impairment in, acquired intangibles

Beautiful Basics

Every brand in Impellam makes a simple promise to its customers and candidates
and then backs that promise up with whatever activities are needed to fulfil,
sustain and deliver the brand promise. We rall these promises the Beautiful Basics

Business Process Outsouréing {‘BPO?)

Solutions which help businesses address back office needs strategically and
increase operational efficiency

Cash Conversion

Net cash from operating activities divided by operating profit

Constant Exchange Rates

Calculated by multiplying the prior year functional currency amount by the current
year foreign currency exchange rate

Contingent Labour

Temporary and contract workers

Cross-sell All impellam geople are enceuraged to refer new business leads to one another.
This happens when a consultant identifies an opportunity that 1s outside the scope
of the brand specialism and it will be referred to a brand within the Group which is
aligned to the requirement

CRM Customer relationship management

Days Sales Qutstanding (‘DSO’)

Total trade receivables divided by average daily invoiced sales

EBITDA

Farnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation

Facilities Management

Providing cleaning, security, events and retail facilities support services

GDPR General data protection regulation which came into force on 5 May 2018

Group Fill The percentage of Spend Under Management supplied from our Group brands
into our managed services programmes

High Road Impellam provides good work for people and people for good work. We focus on

partnering with crganisations that value engaged, fulfilled people which serves to
drive clear market segmentation and a compelling price point *

Hybrid Vendor

Assignments are filled by a combination of suppliers that we manage for the client
and are filled directly by the Managed Services provider {(including Group supply)

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards

Ignite

CRM (customer relationship management), our recruiter cperating system

Independent Contractor Solutions

Helping to reduce the risk and cost of worker misclassification

Managed Services

These businesses optimise the productivity of people by designing, implementing,
coordinating and reporting on the whole staffing process. They provide multi-
disciplinary workforce solutions, including all forms of partial and compiets
outsourcing

Managed Services Programme (‘MSP’)

The outsourcing of contingent labour

Master Vendor The majority of assignments are filled by the Managed Services provider {including
Group supply) and second-tier agencies are used when the Managed Services
provider is unable to supply

Net Debt Total debt of the Group less cash in hand

Net Fee Income {"NFI'}

Equivalent to gross profit

Neutral Vendor

Assignments are filled by suppliers that we manage for the client, where the
Managed Services provider does not form part of the supply chain
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Glossary continued

Non-UK

All countries Impellam cperates in outside of the UK This is the US, Australasia and
Eurepe {excluding the UK)

Origin

Qur innovation hub that acquires, invests in and partners with disruptive start-ups
in our markets as well as backing our Virtucsos' ideas

Payroll Services

Provide access to a fully compliant framework for managing and paying contingent
staff

Productivity

Gross proht divided by Full Time Eduivalent (FTE") heads

Recruitment Process Qutsourcing (‘RPO’)

Where a client outsources the management of the recruitment function (in whole
of part) to a third party expert

ShiftWise

Technolegy solution for the NHS to build our Managed Services capability

Specialist Staffing

Dedicated brands which provide expert recruitment services and skilled workers
for permanent, temporary, contact and fixed-price work

Spend Under Management (*SUM’)

Total amount of client expenditure which cur Managed Services brands managed
on behaif of their clients. This equates to revenue earned where Impellam acts as
principal plus gross btillings to customers where impellam acts as agent

Statement of Work (*SOW")

Soluticns for spend in complex categories of service which include supplier
management, requisition facilitation, contract writing, negotiations and invaicing
and settlement support services

Value Chain

Diffarent parts of our business share the behef that meaningful work really matters
to individuals, communities, societies and economies so they can work together to
create value that is greater than the sum of the parts

Vendor Management System (‘VMS’)

VMS technolegy enables the full procure-to-pay process, while providing robust
reporting and analytics

Vertical Specialist Managed Services

Qur brands which have specialist focus and expertise delivering sector or function
staffing solutions

Virtuosity Virtuesity is the art of seeing possibilities where cthers see none. Itis a mindset
that enables our people to adapt with agility to changing market conditicns
Virtuoso People who see possibilities and can tune in to tha needs of our customers

and candidates

Virtuous Circle

A virtuous circle is at the core of our high-retention model. [t provides the
continuous ioop of making and keeping promises, which engenders trust and
ultimately builds loyalty

Virtuoso Way

Our consistent, collaborative Group-wide culture, based on trusted behaviours,
delivered by entrepreneurial leaders. At the heart of building trust is the everyday
practice in which people make promises to each other to bring about a future that
benefits all
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Impellam is a connected group providing global workforce and specialist recruitrment solutions. Qur 2000 people and market
leading brands work across a broad spectrum of industries and job categories throughout North America, the UK and Europe

and APAC.

Our award-winning Global Managed Services provide a diverse range of digitally enabled, multi-disciplinary workforce schutions to
organisations around the world. We are upper quadrant industry leaders in Managed Service Provision and Services Pracurement,
and the seventh' largest Managed Service Pravider in the werld with over £4bn SUM (Spend under Management). Cur STEM
businesses are specialists in recruiting and engaging talent in the key growth markets of technology, digital, data, science,

clinical and engineering and wark with clients across all sectors and sizes delivering services that span Managed Services (MSP),
Recruitment Procass Qutsourcing (RPQ), Statement of Work (SOW) and specialist recruitment.

Led by our Virtuosos, our capabilities are underpinned by our proprietary digital technology and unique partnerships with
market-lzading software providers, enabling us to transform and future-proof our services.

We believe in the power of work Through the power of work, we build better businesses and help people lead more fulfilling fives.

For more information about Impellam Group please visit: www.impellam.com
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